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Bringing Forth
A Stronger, New Aetna

TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS:

2003 was another great year for the company, bringing
Aetna a major step closer to our goal of industry leadership.

In January 2003, we set out some ambitious objectives.
Entering the second half of the company’s turnaround, our
priorities were to further expand margins by continuing to 12 months, we produced
lower our medical cost trend and reduce administrative expenses, outstanding results.
while forging ahead with the implementation of our new
strategic plan. At the same time, we committed to enhancing
our health care quality initiatives and strengthening our
working relationships with doctors and hospitals.

Over the course of

It was a lot of ground to cover, but over the course of 12 months,
we produced outstanding results. Aetna employees proved once
again that they know how to deliver on our promises.

ACCOMPLISHING OUR FINANCIAL GOALS

In 2003, we made further significant progress on Aetna’s key
financial, operational and strategic goals. Last year, we reported
full-year operating earnings of $5.18 per share, more than
double the $2.50 per share reported in 2002, excluding favorable
reserve development, realized capital gains and losses and other
items. At year-end, Aetna’s pretax operating margin was

7.9 percent. At press time, our stock was trading ar its highest
levels since becoming an independent health care company

in December 2000.

We achieved these results by managing medical costs

effectively — Aetna’s commercial risk medical cost increases
slowed to 8 percent in 2003, one of the lowest rates in the
managed care industry. In addition, we became more cost-
effective as an organization, reducing expenses by $194 million,
while continuing to improve customer satisfaction levels.

We also ended our long decline in membership that began in
2001 and steadied our membership at approximately 13 million.
While we experienced some membership reductions in existing
accounts due to the economy — as did other insurers — which




Clearly, Aetna is back.
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affected our ability to grow in 2003, those reductions were offset
by solid new sales, and we now are on track to achieve profitable
growth this year. For 2004, we are projecting net membership
growth in the range of 500,000 to 700,000.

These excellent results are not a one-time event. Clearly,
Aetna is back.

INNOVATION, INTEGRATION AND INFORMATION

In 2003, we also set our sights firmly on enhancing Aetna’s value
in the marketplace. A steady stream of new products and services
came out of our pipeline to support out strategy to innovate in
every aspect of our business, as well as integrate products and
information in order to facilitate customer decision making,

help improve health care quality and lower costs.

Last year, we became the first full-service national competitor to
integrate a consumer-directed health plan with pharmacy, dental
and long-term care benefits. We continue to be pleased by the
favorable response to-our industry-leading Aetna HealthFund®
consumer-directed product, which early experience indicates is
effectively controlling costs, while increasing utilization of
preventive care. We also introduced a new dental discount
program called Vital Savings by Aetna™ for employees and
retirees without access to dental insurance through their
employers; and rolled out a new integrated medical, disability
and behavioral health management model. With Aetna
Integrated Health and Disability, we can consider member
needs from both a health- and work-related perspective.

This holistic approach can lead to more coordinated care

and reduced absenteeism.

In 2003, we also enhanced our online plan sponsor
administration tools and employee self-service Web sites.
Employers and consumers need innovative tools and information
to help them spend their health care dollars more wisely,

and Aetna is one of the few companies with the scale and
infrastructure to help them. For example, with our award-
winning Aetna Navigator™, now with more than 3 million users,
members can price prescription drugs, determine their portion
of the cost, order refills from Aetna Rx Home Delivery® and
check order status — all through the same online portal.
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We ushered in a “new era of cooperation” with the medical community.
Improved satisfaction among these constituents gives us a competitive
advantage in the marketplace, as well as a better opportunity to work

with them to improve health care costs, access and quality.

ENHANCING OUR QUALITY-OF-CARE INITIATIVES

Using information to improve access to high-quality and safe
medical care for members was also foremost in our minds. In
2003, we began piloting an innovative network of specialist
physicians, called Aexcel™, based on evidence of quality health
care outcomes and cost-effectiveness of care delivery in general
surgery, obstetrics-gynecology, orthopedics, cardiology,
cardiothoracic surgery and gastroenterology.

Another effort was our innovative MedQuery™ program. This
program helps doctors identify opportunities to avert potential
medical errors, gaps and omissions in members’ health care by
providing physicians additional information they may not be
aware of and may want to consider in a patient’s treatment. To
date, we have identified more than 100,000 opportunities. We
also launched Aetna Rx Check™, a suite of six drug utilization
review programs designed to improve member safety by flagging
for physicians potentially harmful interactions, as well as identify
opportunities to reduce pharmacy costs for members.

Our disease management programs and new medical case
management initiatives are helping Aetna reduce claim costs
while facilitating members’ access to quality care. We were
very pleased when last October Aetna won the “Best Disease
Management Program in Managed Care” award from the
Disease Management Association of America for our chronic
heart failure program.

USHERING IN A ‘NEW ERA OF COOPERATION’

Finally, last year we ushered in a “new era of cooperation” with
the medical community. When we first embarked on our effort
to rebuild Aetna, one goal we laid out was to strengthen our
relationships with doctors. On May 22, 2003, we announced
an agreement with nearly 1 million physicians to settle a
national class-action lawsuit. In August, we reached a similar
agreement with the American Dental Association on behalf

of approximately 150,000 dentists.

RESULTS

» Aetna’s commercial risk
medical cost increases
slowed to 8 percent

in 2003.

= We reduced expenses
by $194 million,
while continuing to
improve customer
satisfaction levels.

» A steady stream of new
products and services

came out of our pipeline

to SUPPOI.'t our strategy.
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People work better
when they
work together.

So do benefits.

if you go to different companies 1o find
the best benefits, then you may be miss-
ing the boat, Because when Aetna’s full
range of benefits, Medical, Dental,
pharmacy, Disability, Long-Term Care,
and Group Life are taken together, they
can work in ways a mixed bag of bene-
fits can‘t. Aetna gathers aggregated
data and integrates it aCross our areas of
service to get a more complete picture
of your company’s overall needs.
Jogether, we can use this knowledge
to select and develop plans and options
that are best suited to your workforce.
And since you'll be making more
informed chaices, you'll be better able
to control costs. Let us show you how
well we can work together. Calt your
broker, Aetna representative, of visit us
today at aetna.com.

We want you to know”

Y Aetna

Health

Dantal
Pharmacy
Disabrlity
Lang-Term Care
Life



We will continue to take advantage of our strengths —
information, innovation and integration — to provide
end-to-end service excellence in every interaction and

deliver a unique value proposition to our targeted customers.

These landmark agreements — and related business practice
changes designed to make it easier to do business with Aetna —
have set a precedent in the industry. We already are seeing
improvement in satisfaction among these constituents, which is
giving us a competitive advantage in the marketplace, as well as
a better opportunity to work with them to improve health care
costs, access and quality. We will continue to build on Aetnad’s
leadership position in this area.

COMPLETING AETNA'S TRANSFORMATION

In 2004, we will build on our success and wotk toward
completing Aetna’s transformation. Our most important task
will be to demonstrate profitable growth. This will be fueled by
continuing our industry leadership in medical cost control and
providing value-added innovations that serve customers™ needs.

This growth will be aided by strengthening the Aetna brand so
that it clearly differentiates us in the marketplace.

Qur new “We Want You To Know™” advertising and tagline
signals that a new leader is emerging in the industry, one

that goes beyond simply paying claims for customers. Going
forward, we will focus all of our energies on putting our
knowledge to work for customers to help them make better-
informed decisions about their health and financial well-being,
We will continue to take advantage of our strengths —
information, innovation and integration — to provide
end-to-end service excellence in every interaction and deliver
a unique value proposition to our targeted customers.

Our goal will be to generate profitable business from new
customers, as well as expand existing accounts with additional
products from our comprehensive portfolio, including benefits
such as dental, pharmacy, behavioral health, long-term care,
disability and life insurance. In 2004, Aetna also is building
on existing relationships with doctors and hospitals to launch
a workers’ compensation network access product.

In addition to growth in our existing product lines and markets,
our capital deployment strategy calls for targeted acquisitions
that are relevant to our strategy, consistent with our brand and
grounded in the needs of customers. These acquisitions will be



We will focus all of our energies on putting our knowledge to work

for customers to help them make better-informed decisions about

their health and financial well-being.
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manageable in size and must enhance our existing capabilities or
growth opportunities in the future. An excellent example is our
recent acquisition of The Chickering Group, a recognized leader
in the highly specialized student health insurance market.

We also will continue to look for ways to operate more
efficiently, and achieve and maintain a competitive cost structure.
Through our disciplined approach to expense management, we
believe we can achieve a $150 million reduction in general and
administrative costs in 2004, which will be partially offset by

a $100 million increase in selling costs.

TAKING A LEAD IN IMPROVING THE SYSTEM

Beyond our business priorities, this year we also will continue
to lead our industry in helping to shape public policy on broad
and complex issues facing our nation’s health care system. The
Medicare bill, for example, was a landmark piece of legislation
we supported because key provisions not only provided
increased funding for the program, it introduced new health
plan choices to seniors, a new prescription drug discount
program and new tax-deductible health savings accounts
(HSAs). We will take this opportunity to provide Medicare
beneficiaries expanded products and services, and in 2004 we
will offer HSAs as part of our portfolio of consumer-directed
product solutions.

Wee also will continue to raise awareness about other important
societal issues such as a still-growing population of uninsured
Americans, In the wealthiest country in the world, we now have
43.6 million uninsured individuals. We are learning more about
many subsets of this group — such as college students — and
working hard to offer affordable solutions.

As part of Aetna’s comprehensive efforts to help address racial
and ethnic disparities in health care — composed of research,
education, data collection and supporting initiatives —

we are developing programs targeted to the needs of specific
populations such as a maternity management program for
African American women and a cervical cancer prevention




We believe there is
greater success to come.

program for Vietnamese women. These important initiatives in
our business are complemented by strong efforts in this area by
the Aetna Foundation. In 2003, the Aetna Foundation provided
approximately $3 million in funding to programs focused
primarily on addressing disparities in health and disease
prevention. In the future, we'll continue to align our customer-
focused business efforts and our corporate philanthropic efforts.

You can read more about these issues — and other issues such as
childhood obesity, malpractice reform, consumer-driven health
care, health care quality and safety, infectious diseases and
Medicaid — in the essays written by outside experts that are
included in our annual report. As in past years, Aetna remains
deeply committed to bringing together divergent views and acting
as a catalyst for change in our nation’s health care system.

WHERE AETNA STANDS TODAY

Wee are very pleased with where Aetna stands today. We have
completed the first stage of our turnaround, our financial results
have improved, and we are gaining momentum on our quest to
be the leader in our industry.

Our accomplishments in 2003 were a perfect way to celebrate
Aetnas 150th anniversary. Through hard work and determination,
Aetna is emerging as a major force in the marketplace and
delivering business results our shareholders expect. Drawing
inspiration from our company’s history, we are bringing forth

a stronger, new Aetna, one that is ready to embark on its future.

Thank you for your continued confidence in us. We believe there
is greater success to come.

ey (=

JOHN W. ROWE, M.D.
Chairman and Chief Execurive Officer

2003

Fisst Stage of
Turnaround Completed.

Financial Results
Improved.

Gaining Momentum.

Aetna is emerging
as a major force in
the marketplace
and delivering

business results our

shareholders expect.




FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

(Millions, except share data and per common share data) 2003 2002

FOR THE YEAR

Revenue $17,976.4 $19,878.7

Operating Earnings’ 818.8 383.3

Net Income {Loss)? 933.8 (2,522.5)

Pretax Operating Margin’ 7.9% 4.1%

AT YEAR END

Assets $40,950.2 $40,047.5
7,924.0 6,980.0

Shareholders’ Equity

PER COMMON SHARE
Operating Earnings!
Net Income (Loss)?
Shareholders’ Equity

Actual Common Shares Outstanding

$ 5.18
5.91

51.95
152,523,670

$ 250
(16.49)

46.54

149,966,082

1 Operating earnings excludes from ner income (loss): net realized capital gains of $42 million in 2003 and $22 million in 2002,
favorable prior-period reserve developments of $148 million in 2003 and $67 million in 2002 and other items of $75 million in
2003 (settlement of a national physician class action) and $79 million in 2002 (severance and facilities charges, income tax reserve
release and a discontinued products reserve release). For 2002, operating earnings also exclude income from discontinued operations
of $50 million and the cumulative effect charge of approximately $3 billion discussed in Note 2.

2For 2002, the net loss includes income from discontinued operations of $50 million and a cumulative effect charge of approximately
$3 billion relared to the impairment of goodwill upon adoption of Financial Accounting Standard No. 142, Goodwill and Other

[nrangible Assets.

3 Pretax operating margin {(GAAP basis) was 8.0% in 2003 and 2.7% in 2002. Amounts excluded from operating earnings
{favorable prior-period reserve developments, other items, amortization of intangibles and interest expense) had approximately offset
each other on a pretax operating margin basis in 2003, while they decreased pretax operating margin in 2002 by 1.4 percentage points

on a GAAP basis.

The foregoing financial information should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and related notes as presented in

Aetna Inc.s 2003 Annual Report, Financial Report.
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quality health care
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Confronting The Epidemic

Of Childhood Obesity

In December 2001, we released the Surgeon General’s

Call to Action to Prevent and Decrease Overweight and Obesity.

In defining overweight and obesity as an epidemic, we were

on solid public health ground. An epidemic is an unusual

increase in the occurrence of a disease or health problem above

the expected. Nowhere is the obesity epidemic more apparent

than in our children.

Since 1980 there has been

a doubling of overweight
and obesity in children in
this country and an actual
tripling among adolescents.
This epidemic had a
disproportionate impact on
low socioeconomic minority
children, especially African
Americans and Latinos, but the
epidemic is real in all groups.

When examining the behavior
of our children with respect to
physical activity and nutrition,
there is no reason to think that
this epidemic will end soon.
The environment that we
have created for our children
encourages overeating and
makes it difficult to be
physically active on a regular
basis. Many of our homes and
communities encourage the
consumption of fast food and
support sedentary lifestyles.
Our schools no longer

require physical education for
grades K-12, as they struggle
to meet academic requirements
and expectations. Likewise our
schools are not encouraging the
development of habits of good
nutrition, whether in school
meals or vending machines.
The irony of this is that
children who experience good
nutrition and fitness perform
better academically.

The concern here is not about
aesthetics or the appearance of
children. The concern is about
the health of our children.

We know that overweight and
obese children will most likely
be overweight and obese adults.
We also know that obesity
significantly increases the risk
of chronic diseases such as
asthma, cardiovascular disease,
diabetes and cancers.
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The epidemic of
overweight and
obesity threatens to
undo much of

our progress in
public health of the
20th century.

The epidemic of overweight and
obesity threatens to undo much
of our progtess in public health
of the 20th century relative to
chronic diseases. In our report
we said, “Left unabated,
overweight and obesity may
soon cause as much preventable
disease and death as cigarette
smoking.” This epidemic must
not be left unabated; we must
respond in at least five settings
as outlined in detail in the
Call to Action. These include
schools, home/community,
work sites, health care and
miedia. Health care providers
must identify overweight and
obesity in children as not only
concerns but problems, and
prescriptions for changed
behavior must be written.






A Safe And High-Quality

Health Care System

Every year, medical errors account for tens of thousands of

deaths among hospitalized patients in the United States. If these

fatalities were attributable to a new medical condition, it would

rank among the top 10 causes of death in America. According

to a recent, comprehensive study, only about one-half of patients

with chronic conditions actually receive the care they should

(McGlynn et al., N Eng ] Med 2003:348:2635-45).

Two reports from the Institute
of Medicine, 7o Err is Human
(2000) and Crossing the
Quality Chasm (2001),

outline the scope of the
problems of medical errors
and deficiencies in the quality
of care, and point the way to
solutions. Individual negligence
accounts for only a tiny
fraction of errors. Rather, these
reports stress that safety and
quality are properties of the
system of care, and to improve
quality requires fixing the
deficient processes and parts
that produce occasional errors
and poor results. This includes
putting in place mechanisms to
learn from near-misses as well
as bad outcomes; mechanisms
to collect, analyze and act on
experience; and transparency
in the findings. For this,

the health field has much to
learn from others, such as

the airline industry.

Improved technology can
reduce some errors. The most
frequent type of error, for

example, occurs with
medication — the patient
fails to receive the intended
drug in the intended dose at
the right time. Errors occur at
every stage in the medication
process; illegible writing,
erroneous transcription,
overlooking allergy and
contraindications, mislabeling,
and failure in delivery all take
their toll. Computerized
physician order-entry systems,
with automated checking

for contraindications and
allergy, demonstrably reduce
medication errors and
undoubtedly can save lives.

Not every improvement in
safety requires new technology.
The simplest and most
cost-effective way to reduce
hospital-acquired infection,
for example, is by routine
hand cleaning before patient
contact. Yet many studies show
compliance with hand hygiene
by health care workers to be
less than 50 percent. This is

15

Individual negligence
accounts for only a tiny
fraction of errors.
Rather, these reports
stress that safety and
quality are properties
of the system of care.

a case where consistent
institutional policy, training,
reinforcement and ready access
to suitable products can save
hundreds, if not thousands,

of lives every year.

Advances in quality can come
from other changes such as
payment linked to quality,
reform in the malpractice
system, better professional
education and a comprehensive
health information
infrastructure. While much
remains to be done, advancing
the quality of care has become
a central objective for many
professional groups, health
and health-related institutions,
employers, payers and
government agencies. No
improvement could be more
fundamental to building

the health care system the
American public deserves.







Ensuring The Health
Of Our Future

It is unconscionable as well as economically foolish for this rich

nation, blessed with the most advanced medical technologies

in the world, to allow our poor and minority children to

carry a disproportionate burden of illness and death.

Despite the miraculous improvements in America’s health in

the last century, we shamefully enter the 21st century no closer

to narrowing the gap in childrens health.

Minority children continue to
lag behind white children in
almost every health indicator.
Disparities persist in the

rates of infant mortality,
immunization, insurance
coverage, asthma, dental care
and lead poisoning, among
other indicators. The impact
of conditions such as lead
poisoning on cognitive and
physical development can affect
children throughout their lives.

Our success in reducing health
disparities among children will
not only lessen future health
care costs, but will also increase
the nation’s productivity.
Leading employers are
recognizing that developing
strategies to eliminate health
disparities makes good business
sense, as minorities will
comprise 41.5 percent of those
entering the work force between
1998 and 2008. By the year
2030, nearly 50 percent of the

work force will be black or
Latino, while 74 percent

of retirees will be white.

We all have a vested interest

in the health and development
of today’s minority children.

Although progress has been
made in children’s health over
the past 30 years through the
expansion of public health
insurance and immunization
programs, we have fallen far
short of providing every child
insurance coverage and access

to quality health care.

Moreover, access to quality

care is necessary, but not
sufficient to eliminate children’s
health disparities. We cannot
narrow the gap in health
without addressing disparities
in educational opportunity,
employment, economic
security and housing.

Quality health care alone

cannot prevent children

Access to quality care

is necessary, but
not sufficient to
eliminate children’s

health disparities.

from being poisoned by lead
paint from deteriorating
housing or developing asthma
from nitrogen dioxide emitted
by inadequately vented stoves
and heating appliances.

With regard to children in
particular, it is necessary to
focus not solely on health
care but on health status
more broadly, adopting a
comprehensive, multifaceted

approach.

We — parents, providers,
advocates, businesses and
government — must ensure
that all children, regardless
of race or income, receive

the healthy start they, and

our future, deserve.






Medical Malpractice Reform

In 2004, the United States health care system enters the third

year of a deepening malpractice crisis. Across the country,

physicians are experiencing another round of double-digit

increases in their medical malpractice insurance premiums.

Fueled by ever-higher median
awards to successful litigants,
and increasingly by greater
frequency of lawsuits, the crisis
shows no signs of abating,
There is also evidence that

the burden of the costs of
malpractice is changing
physician practice, in particular
that it is leading to problems
with access as physicians

retire early, move to less
litigious states or limit care

in a variety of ways.

The tragedy about the
malpractice crisis is that tort
litigation based on medical
injuries has failed to fulfill its
two critical societal functions:
compensation for those injured
by negligent behavior and
deterrence of such behavior.
Studies have shown that
malpractice performs very
poorly as a compensation
device: It is inaccurate in

that many people who are
not injured by negligence

are compensated; most of
those injured do not receive
compensation; and its
administrative costs are

enormous. Moreover, there is
no evidence that malpractice
provides any significant
deterrence of substandard care,
In fact, most experts believe that
malpractice litigation frustrates
efforts to institute the sort of
blame-free environment upon
which a culture of safety in
health care depends.

What should be done?
Unfortunately, most reformers
today are interested only in
conventional tort reform, that
is efforts to decrease the number
of suits brought by plaintiffs’
attorneys, usually by reducing
the award to the successful
litigant, and hence the
reimbursement for the attorney
who relies on a contingency fee.
Reforms such as caps on awards
also unfairly penalize severely
injured patients. Perhaps more
important, they do nothing to
address the fundamental defects
of the tort system, in particular
as a method to promote safety.

More sensible, if more sweeping,
reform would be to get decisions
about compensation for medical
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There is evidence

that the burden of the

costs of malpractice

is changing
physician practice.

injury out of common law
courts and into an administrative
system adjudication or
arbitration proceeding,. Just as
important would be to drop

the requirement for proof of
negligence and endorse
avoidability as the critical criteria
for payment, likely leading to
more compensation for injured
individuals, the costs of which
would be covered by decreased
administrative costs (particularly
lawyers’ fees). Both of these
moves will harmonize
compensation with notions

of blame-free reporting of
events and concerted efforts

to learn from, rather than hide,
the errors that cause injury.
Only in this fashion will we see
just compensation for injury
and development of an attitude
of safety improvement in
American medicine.
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Student Health And

Health Insurance

The health of students is central to our mission as a university.

Though the college years usually are healthy ones, they are a time

of major developmental and social transition, during which physical

and mental health problems have the potental to interfere with

students’ lives and ambitions. Students are at risk for a wide array

of illnesses and injuries, and are particularly vulnerable to health

problems arising from the social and developmental context of their

lives: sleep deprivation, alcohol abuse, eating disorders, and stresses

related to academics and personal relationships.

Students come to Cornell
with widely diverse
backgrounds and health care
expectations. Most are novice
consumers of health care.
Many are easily deterred from
secking care for emotional,
substance use or sexual
concerns. The high cost

of healch care, in an era of
increasing limits on insurance
coverage, creates one more,
often insurmountable,

barrier for students needing

health care.

The best interests of the
university and its students
require that we ease financial
barriers to health care, both on
and off campus. Traditionally,
universities have shared the
costs of student health care,
covering basic health
promotion, primary medical
and mental health services in
the cost of tuition and counting

on students’ insurance to cover
tests, prescriptions and specialty
care. As costs increase, health
insurance plans (dependent
students come to Cornell

with over 1,700 different plans)
suffer critical benefit cuts, out-
of-area restrictions, younger
dependent age cutoffs, and
increasing deductibles and
copayments. Three to four
million students nationally
have no health insurance at all,
a problem experienced most
acutely by older students.
These limitations make access
to health care more difficult for
all students, and are of
particular concern for
economically disadvantaged
students and students whose
health concerns have potential
public health import.

In an effort to assure access to
essential health care, Cornell
requires students to purchase
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The best interests
of the university and
its students require
that we ease
financial barriers

to health care, both

on and off campus.

its university-sponsored student
health insurance plan unless
they have comparable alternate
coverage. This plan is cost-
effective and complements
university-subsidized services
designed to meet the needs of
students living at Cornell, on
leave or traveling abroad.

We provide this coverage as

a benefit for graduate students
and urge undergraduates to
purchase it.

Cornell recognizes its
investment in students’ health
to be an investment in their
academic success, long-term
health, and personal and career
satisfaction. It is the joint
challenge of universities and
health insurance companies

to partner effectively in this
critical investment.






Expanding Access To
Health Insurance

Around 40 million Americans lack health insurance.

Most of them work hard and want health insurance, but

find that it’s unaffordable, unavailable or difficult to access.

Breaking down those three barriers, then, is key to providing

these Americans with adequate health coverage.

We made great progtess when
we reformed welfare and
modernized Medicare, and
we'e taking action to make
health insurance available to
all Americans who need it.

Opver the past three years,

we have approved Medicaid
waivers and state plan
amendments to allow state
governments to expand
access to health coverage for
more than 2.6 million people
and to expand the range of
benefits offered to 6.7 million
other Americans.

As President Bush outlined in
his State of the Union address,
one of our main goals is to
ensure that Americans can
choose and afford private-
sector coverage that best fits
their individual needs. We

are committed to finding
specific solutions for specific
populations of the uninsured,

such as college students,
the unemployed and

small businesses.

With the Medicare
Modernization Act, we are
saving seniors money on
prescription drugs, improving
preventive benefits, and
increasing access to doctors and
medical care. And as part of it,
we created Health Savings
Accounts that will make it
easier for all Americans —

not just Medicare enrollees —
to save money to pay for
medical expenses. We want to
establish refundable tax credics
to help low-income workers
buy health insurance coverage.
The President has also
proposed creating Association
Health Plans so that small
businesses could provide health
coverage to more workers by
allowing the businesses to band
together to negotiate lower
insurance rates.

23

Community health
centers are a key
element for increasing
access to and availability

of health care.

Community health centers are
a key element for increasing
access to and availability of
health care. They provide
preventive and primary care
to patients regardless of their
ability to pay. We are working
to provide an additional

$1.8 billion for health centers
to provide health care services
to 15 million Americans.

These steps take us closer to our
goal of making health coverage

more accessible.
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Redesigning Medicaid

Medicaid is our nation’s health insurance safety net, providing

health and long-term care coverage for low-income populations.

It is a workhorse — covering people with HIV/AIDS, the

homeless, those with serious mental illnesses and children with

developmental disabilities. The program covers 50 million people,

including one of three newborns, three of five nursing home

residents and one of five people with chronic disabilities.

Not surprisingly, Americans
covered by Medicaid are far
sicker. Medicaid insures

1 million people in nursing
homes, at an annual average
cost of $56,000, accounting
for half the nation’s spending
on nursing home care. Tt
covers over half of public
mental health spending.

It covers 8 million persons
with disabilities, at more than
$11,000 per person annually.
And it fills gaps in Medicare
benefits for 7 million low-
income “dual eligibles.”

Medicaid has helped reduce
the numbers of uninsured by
offering coverage to those
unable to obtain or afford
private coverage. Without it,
millions more children and
adults would be added to the
43.6 million uninsured. It plays
a critical role in insuring low-
income children. In the last
five years, along with CHIP,

it has helped reduce the
uninsured rate for low-income
children from 23 percent

to 14 percent.

Medicaid needs to be
redesigned to ensure stable
coverage for all low-income
families and individuals.
Almost 60 percent of Medicaid
beneficiaries are covered

by managed care plans,

but eligibility is often short,
undermining preventive care
and continuity in patients’ care.
Beneficiaries should be able
to retain coverage over time,
with premiums assessed as
incomes rise. Employer
contributions toward coverage
for low-wage workers should
count as “matchable” state
Medicaid contributions. And
Medicaid needs to set quality
performance standards and
adequate payment rates

for Medicaid managed

care plans and providers.
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Medicaid has helped
reduce the numbers of
uninsured by offering

coverage to those unable
to obtain or afford
private coverage.

Electronic insurance
clearinghouses should also be
created to facilitate enrollment

of eligible individuals.

Despite its importance,
Medicaid is chronically
underfunded. Shortfalls occur
when states’ share of financing
comes under fiscal stress.
Federal funding needs to be
increased to expand coverage
to all low-income uninsured
and enhanced when
unemployment is high.

Together, Medicaid, Medicare
and private employer coverage
can make health care affordable
for all Americans. Improved
coordination and berter systems
to ensure quality, efficiency and
continuity in coverage should
be guideposts for future reform.
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Consumer-Directed Health Care
From An Employer Perspective

Two decades ago, the health care programs offered by large

companies in the U.S. looked similar across all employers.

- Cost was not much of an issue, accounting requirements for

retiree benefits were still a gleam in the regulators’ eyes and

the concept of “first-dollar coverage” had not yet become

embedded in health care plan design. Moreover, given the

dominance of the U.S. in the global economy, the overall

level of spending for U.S. employee benefits programs was

not much of a competitive issue.

Times have changed
dramatically. Health care is
now as important an issue for
U.S. employers as it has ever
been. A healthy, productive
work force can provide a
significant competitive
advantage in the global
marketplace — which

is what led employers to
offer health care coverage

in the first place.

Large companies in the U.S.
still have a vested interest in
delivering cost-effective, high-
quality health care programs to
their employees. But our focus
can no Jonger be solely on cost
containment. Rather, we must
emphasize education, disease
management programs, and
wellness and prevention far
more strongly than we have
done in the past.

Success requires significant
employee engagement, and
consumer-directed health care
models provide resources and
incentives that can help.

These models increase
employee understanding of

the true cost of medical care
rather than focusing only on
copayments and deductibles.
They encourage more informed
and price-conscious use of

the health care system.

The educational resources
that are an integral part of
consumer-directed health care
models promote awareness
of how important employee
decisions are, both in
consuming health care
efficiently when they need
it and, more importantly, in
developing and maintaining
healthy lifestyles. Access to
decision-support resources
through these models can
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Success requires
significant employee
engagement, and
consumer-directed
health care models
provide resources and
incentives that can help.

raise individual awareness of
scientific, evidence-based best
practices and treatment
protocols; and encourage
employees to seek safe, effective,
timely, patient-centered care.

Both employers and employees
must see the health care benefit
as an investment. Given
incentives, tools, resources and
information, the individual
consumer can maximize the
return on that investment in
terms of value effectiveness and
personal well-being. Only in
this way will employers receive
the maximum return on the
investment they are continuing
to make in the care and wellness
of employees. Ultimately, what
matters to us most is that we
care about our employees. We
want them to be healthy, and
our health care benefit must be
focused on obtaining thar result.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
For the Years Ended December 31,

(Millions, except per common share data) 2003 2002 2001
Revenue:
Health care premiums $13,235.5 $15,036.1 $19,940.4
Other premiums 1,668.5 1,676.6 1,831.6
Administrative services contract fees 1,884.7 1,842.6 1,835.2
Net investment income 1,095.0 1,250.7 1,411.6
Other income 27.5 38.4 75.9
Net realized capital gains 65.2 34.3 96.1
Total revenue 17,976.4 19,878.7 25,190.8
Benefits and expenses:
Health care costs 10,135.8 12,452.8 17,938.8
Current and future benefits 2,090.8 2,245.5 2,458.3
Operating expenses: .
Salaries and related benefits 2,179.1 2,245.2 2,290.4
Other 1,975.4 1,987.4 2,224.6
Interest expense 102.9 119.5 142.8
Amortization of goodwill ~ - 198.1
Amortization of other acquired intangible assets 50.8 130.8 2185
Severance and facilities charges : - 161.0 1925
Reductions of reserve for anticipated future losses
on discontinued products - (8.3) (94.5)
Total benefits and expenses 16,534.8 19,333.9 25,569.5
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes (benefits) 1,441.6 544.8 (378.7)
Income taxes (benefirs):
Current 397.0 193.8 (13.6)
Deferred 110.8 (42.2) (73.6)
Total income taxes (benefits) 507.8 151.6 (87.2)
Income (loss) from continuing operations 933.8 393.2 (291.5)
Discontinued operations, net of tax - 50.0 114
Income (loss) before cumulative effect adjustments 933.8 4432 (280.1)
Cumulative effect adjustments, net of tax - (2,965.7) 5
Ner income (loss) $  933.8 $(2,522.5) $ (279.6)
Earnings (loss) per common share:
Basic:
Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 612 $ 2.64 $ (203
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax - 34 .08
Income (loss) before cumulacive effect adjustments 6.12 2.98 (1.95)
Cumulative effect adjustments, net of tax - (19.92) -
Net income (loss) $ 612 $ (16.94) $ (199
Diluted:!
Income (loss) from continuing operations $§ 3591 § 257 $ (203
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax -~ .33 .08
Income (loss) before cumulative effect adjustments 591 2.90 (1.95)
Cumulative effect adjustments, net of tax - (19.39) -
Net income (loss) $§ 591 $ (16.49) 5 (1.95)

! Since the company reported a loss from continuing operations in 2001, the effect of common stock equivalents has
been excluded from per common share computations for 2001 since including such securities would be anti-dilutive.
As a result, diluted and basic per common share amounts for 2001 are the same.

The foregoing financial information should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and relaced notes as presented in
Aetna Inc’s 2003 Annual Report, Financial Report.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As of December 31,
(Millons, except share data) 2003 2002
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,433.4 $ 1,802.9
Investment securities 14,990.5 14,013.5
Other investments 103.1 358.0
Premiums receivable, net 318.4 392.0
Other receivables, net 396.0 286.2
Accrued investment income 2215 2143
Collateral received under securities loan agreements 827.4 969.0
Loaned securities 810.6 948.2
Deferred income taxes 217.6 311.3
Other current assets 238.3 163.9
Total current assets 19,556.8 19,459.3
Long-term investments 1,521.5 1,754.9
Mortgage loans 1,353.1 1,514.9
Investment real estate 270.4 308.8
Reinsurance recoverables 1,196.3 1,251.8
Goodwill, net 3,679.5 3,618.4
Other acquired intangible assets, net 496.1 546.9
Property and equipment, net 267.5 244.8
Deferred income taxes 396.0 472.5
Other long-term assets 356.2 211.0
Separate Accounts assets 11,856.8 10,664.2
Total assets $40,950.2 $40,047.5
Liabilities and shareholders” equity
Current liabilities:
Health care costs payable $ 1,888.7 $ 2,194.1
Future policy benefits 811.1 778.1
Unpaid claims 624.3 590.0
Unearned premiums 203.7 184.1
Policyholders’ funds 1,044.5 1,072.2
Collateral payable under securities loan agreements 827.4 969.0
Income taxes payable 1547 3225
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 1,813.1 1,608.8
Total current liabilities 7,367.5 7,718.8
Future policy benefits 8,085.7 8,333.3
Unpaid claims 1,159.4 1,177.8
Policyholders’ funds \ 1,529.7 1,867.3
Long-term debt 1,613.7 1,633.2
Other long-term liabilities 1,413.4 1,672.9
Separate Accounts liabilities 11,856.8 10,664.2
Total liabilities 33,026.2 33,067.5
Shareholders’ equity:
Common stock and additional paid-in capital ($.01 par value, 748,624,161 shares

authorized, 152,523,670 issued and outstanding in 2003 and $.01 par value,

756,277,772 shares authorized, 149,966,082 issued and outstanding in 2002) 4,024.8 4,070.9
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (408.0) (470.4)
Rerained earnings 4,307.2 3,379.5

Total shareholders’ equity 7,924.0 6,980.0
Total liabilities and shareholders” equity $40,950.2 $40,047.5

The foregoing financial information should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and related notes as presented in
Aetna Inc.’s 2003 Annual Report, Financial Report.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Por the Years Ended December 31,

(Millions) 2003 2002 2001
Cash flows from operating activities:
Ner income (loss) $ 9338 $(2,522.5) $ (279.6)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash
provided by (used for) operating activities:

Cumulative effect adjustments - 2,965.7 (7)
Income from discontinued operations -~ (50.0) (11.4)
Severance and facilities charges - 161.0 192.5
Physician class action settlement charge 115.4 - -
Amortization of goodwill ~ - 198.1
Amortization of other acquired intangible assets 50.8 130.8 2185
Depreciation and other amortization 148.8 170.7 181.0
Amortization (accretion) of net investment premium (discount) 54.2 11.3 (26.3)
Ner realized capital gains (65.2) (34.3) 96.1)
Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in accrued investment income (7.2) 18.0 28.0
Decrease in premiums due and other receivables 150.1 3529 495.8
Net change in income taxes 16.3 218.4 (230.8)
Net change in other assets and other liabilities (369.4) (64.8) (271.0)
Net decrease in health care and insurance liabilities (597.2) (1,046.7) (432.0)
Other, net (59.8) 4.1 -
Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities 370.6 306.4 (34.0)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from sales and investment maturities of:
Debt securities available for sale 12,623.6 15,679.9 17,561.8
Equity securities 53.5 251.2 2395
Mortgage loans 565.7 602.3 400.8
Investment real estate 90.4 74.3 6.3
Other investments 2,403.6 3,321.0 4,866.5
Cost of investments in:
Debt securities available for sale {13,250.3) (15,452.3) (16,930.7)
Equity securities (20.7) (114.9) (288.1)
Mortgage loans (239.9) (296.3) (226.4)
Investment real estare ) (66.8) (47.6) (17.9)
Other investments 2,059.2) (3,251.4) (5,145.3)
Increase in property and equipment (210.8) (155.5) (142.6)
Cash used for acquisition, net of cash acquired (53.5) - -
Net cash {used for) provided by investing activities (164.4) 610.7 323.9
Cash flows from financing activities:
Deposits and interest credited for investment contracts 94.4 127.1 170.4
Withdrawals of investment contracts (502.4) (592.1) (795.0)
Issuance of long-term debt ~ - 1,566.1
Repayment of short-term debt - (109.7) (1,482.5)
Common shares issued under benefit plans 293.6 233.5 98.1
Common shares repurchased (445.2) (165.2) (95.6)
Dividends paid to shareholders 6.1) 6.0) (5.7
Other, net (10.0) - -
Net cash used for financing activities (575.7) (512.4) - (544.2)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (369.5) 404.7 (254.3)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 1,802.9 1,398.2 1,652.5
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 1,433.4 $ 1,802.9 $ 1,398.2

The foregoing financial information should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and related notes as presented in
Aetna Inc.s 2003 Annual Report, Financial Report.
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CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS
151 Farmington Avenue
Hartford, CT 06156
860-273-0123

Annual Meeting

The annual meeting of
shareholders of Aetna Inc.
will be held on Friday,

April 30, 2004, at 9:30 a.m.
at the company’s headquarters
in Hartford, Conn.

Stock Exchange Listing

Aetna’s common shatres are
listed on the New York Stock
Exchange. The NYSE symbol
for the common shares is AET.
As of January 31, 2004, there
were 13,577 record holders of
Aetnd’s common shares.

Web Site Access to Aetna’s
Periodic and Current
Reports and Corporate
Governance Materials

Aetna makes available free of
charge through its Web site at
http://www.aetna.com its
Annual Report on Form 10-K,
Forms 10-Q), current reports
on Form 8-K and all
amendments to those reports as
soon as reasonably practicable
after Aetna electronically files
or furnishes such material with
the Securities and Exchange
Commission. Aetna also makes
available free of charge through
its Web site the company’s
Annual Report, Financial
Report and Proxy Statement.
Shareholders may request
printed copies of these reports
free of charge by calling
1-800-237-4273.

Aetna’s report to the Securities
and Exchange Commission on
Form 10-K provides additional
details about the company’s
business, as well as other
financial information not
included in this Annual
Report. To receive a copy of

 the Annual Report on Form

10-K without charge, please
follow the above instructions.

Also available on Aetna’s Web
site at http://www.aetna.com
are the following Aetna
corporate governance materials:
Articles of Incorporation and
By-Laws; Code of Conduct
for Directors, officers and
employees (and information
regarding any amendments

or waivers relating to Aetna’s
Directors, executive officers
and principal financial and
accounting officers or persons
performing similar functions);
Independence Standards

for Directors; Corporate
Governance Guidelines; and .
Charters for the Committees
of the Board of Directors
(Audit Committee, Committee
on Compensation and
Organization, Executive
Committee, Investment and
Finance Committee, Medical
Affairs Committee, and
Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee).
These materials also are
available in print to
shareholders free of charge

by calling 1-800-237-4273.

Section 16 reports are filed
with the Securities and
Exchange Commission by
Aema’s Directors and those
officers subject to Section

16 to reflect a change in their
beneficial ownership of Aetna’s
securities and are available
through Aetna’s Web site at
http://www.aetna.com.




The Audit Committee can
be confidentially contacted by
those wishing to raise concerns
or complaints abour the
company’s accounting, internal
accounting controls or auditing
matters by calling AlertLine®,
an independent toll-free
service, at 1-888-891-8910
(available seven days a week,
24 hours a day), or by writing
to: Corporate Compliance,
"PO. Box 370205, West
Hartford, CT 06137-0205.

Anyone wishing to make their
concerns known to Aetna's
nonmanagement Directors or
to send a communication to
the entire Board may contact
the Aetna Director who
presides over both the
nonmanagement Directors
and the independent
Directors’ sessions (currently
Michael H. Jordan) by
writing to Mr. Jordan at

P.O. Box 370205, West
Hartford, CT 06137-0205.
All communications will

be kept confidential and
forwarded directly to the
Presiding Director or Board,
as applicable. To contact
Aetna’s management Directors,
you may write to Dr. Rowe

at Aetna Inc., 151 Farmington
Avenue, Hartford, CT 06156.

Aetna mails quarterly
financial results only to those
shareholders who request
copies. Shareholders may

call 1-800-237-4273 to listen
to the company’s quarterly
earnings release and dividend
information, and to request
faxed or mailed copies of

the quarterly results.

Investor Relations

Securities analysts and
institutional investors
should contact:

David W. Entrekin
Vice President

Phone: 860-273-7830
Fax: 860-273-3971
E-mail address:

EntrekinD@®aetna.com

Shareholder Services

EquiServe Trust Company,
N.A. maintains a telephone
response center to service
registered shareholder accounts.
Registered owners may contact
the center to inquire about
replacement dividend checks,
address changes, stock transfers
and other account matters.

EquiServe

Trust Company, N.A.

P.O. Box 43069
Providence, RI 02940-3069
1-800-446-2617

For direct deposit of dividends,
registered shareholders may call
EquiServe at 1-800-870-2340.

Registered shareholders

with e-mail addresses can
send account inquiries
electronically to EquiServe

at http://www.equiserve.com.

Additionally, registered
shareholders now have available
online access to their accounts
through the Internet at
EquiServe’s Web site at
http://www.equiserve.com.
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DirectSERVICE
Investment Program

Current shareholders and new
investors can purchase common
shares of Aetna and reinvest
cash dividends through
EquiServe Trust Company, N.A.
All inquiries for materials or
information about this program
should be directed to EquiServe
at 1-800-446-2617.

Other Shareholder Inguiries

Office of the

Corporate Secretary

Aetna Inc.

151 Farmington Avenue, RC4A
Hartford, CT 06156-3215
860-273-3945

Aetna Stock Option Participants
Aetna Employee Stock

Purchase Plan Participants

Employees with outstanding
stock options should address all
questions to UBS Financial
Services, Inc. (UBS) regarding
their accounts, outstanding
options or shares received
through option exercises.
Employees participating in the
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
also should contact UBS with
questions on their accounts.

UBS Financial Services, Inc.
Corporate Employee
Financial Services

300 Lighting Way, 6th Floor
Secaucus, NJ 07094-3672
1-888-793-7631 or
1-800-238-6247

Online Access

http://www.ubs.com/cefs/aet
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ‘ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The followmg dwcusswn and analysis presents a review of Aetna Inc. and its subSLdLarLes as of December 31,

2003 and 2002, and its results of operations for 2003, 2002 and 2001. This Management s Discussion and
- Analysis should be read in its entirety, since it contains detatled information that is important to understanding

Aetna Inc. and iss subsidiaries’ results and financial condition. The Executive Summary below is qualified in

its entirety by the full Management s Discussion and Analysis. The mformatwn herein is as of February 25
2004. : : _

Executive Summary
Aetna Inc. (the “Company”™) is one of the nation’s leading providers of health care, dental, pharmacy, group
life, disability and long-term care benefits, serving approximately 13.0 million medical members, 10.9 mil-
lion dental members, 7.4 million pharmacy members and 12.3 million group insurance customers, as of
December 31, 2003. The Company has expansive nationwide provider networks of more than 600,000
health care services providers, including over 362,000 primary care and -specialist physicians and 3,626
hospitals. The Company’ s operations include three business segments: Health Care, Group Insurance and
Large Case Pensions.

The period of 2001 to 2003 was one of financial turnaround for the Company (refer to “Summéry of
Consolidated Results” below). The operating loss in. 2001 was driven primarily by poor results from the
Company’s Commercial Risk products as significantly higher per member health care costs outpaced per
member premium rate increases. The Company returned to operating profitability in 2002 primarily due to
51gn1ﬁcant premium increases, addressing rising -health care costs and reductions in membership with
historically higher medical cost ratios. The Company’s operating profit in 2003 primarily reflects continuing
improvement in margins in the Company’s Health Care business, as premium rate increases outpaced
increases in per member health care costs in Commerc1al Risk products. In summary,. during the period of
2001 to 2003, the Company’s financial performance improved as per member premiums increased faster
than per membef health care costs and as the. Company experienced reductions in certain membership with
historically higher medical cost ratios. -

During the period of 2001 to 2003, the Company has also taken actions to improve relationships with
physicians. During 2003, the Company and representatives of over 900,000 physicians, state and other
medical societies éntered into a settlement agreement resolving a national class action pending in the United
States District Court for the Southern District of Florida, as well as multiple state court actions filed against
the Company “(the “Physician Class Action Settlement” ). The settlement was approved by the Florida
F ederal Court on October 24, 2003, although some physwlans have ﬁled appeals.

The Company is now in a new stage of its evolution with the goal of profitable growth in 2004 and beyond.
To be successful in this stage, the Company will need to begin to increase its membership levels, while
continuing to obtain sifficient premium rate increases, appropriately control the rise in health care costs and
reduce its general and administrative expenses to more competitive levels. The Company has, and expects to
continue to generate, significant cash flows from its operations. The Company’s success'in 2004 and beyond
will also partially depend upon how prudently the Company invests this eash in its business. The Company
intends to invest in its'business by funding internal growth and making targeted acquisitions that are relevant
to its strategy, manageable in size and enhance existing capabilities or growth opportunities in the future. In
addition to fundlng these acqu1sxt10ns, the Company also expects to allocate cash to share repurchase
programs ' ‘




Summary of Consolidated Results

(Millions, except per share amounts) 2003 2002 2001

Total Revenues $17,976.4 $19,878.7 $25,190.8
Income (loss) from continuing operations 933.8 393.2 (291.5)
Net income (loss) ' ‘ ' 933.8 {2,522.5) (1) (279.6) (2)
Income (loss) from continuing operations per common share $ 5.91 b 2.57 $  (2.03)

( l ) The net loss in 2002 includes income from discontinued operations of $50 million related to the release of federal
income tax reserves resulting from the resolution of several Internal Revenue Service audit issues and a cumulative
effect charge of approximately $3 billion related to the adoption of Financial Accounting Standard (“FAS™)
No. 142, Goodwill and Other-Intangible Assets.

(2) The net loss in 2001 includes income from discontinued operations of $11 million related to the reduction of the
reserve for costs relating to the sale of certain discontinued operations and a cumulative effect benefit of
$.5 million related to the adoption of the amended FAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Investments and
Hedging Activities. .

Certain other items included within income (loss) from continuing operations are as follows:

(Millions, after tax) ’ 2003 2002 2001
Net realized capital gains ~ Lo - $ 420 % 223 § 736
Physician Class Action Settlement (1) (75.0) — —
Severance and facilities charges — (104.6)  (125.1)
Release of state income tax reserves(2) — 19.8 —
Reductions of reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products’ ' — 54 61.4
Reserve development related to Medicare markets exited January 1, 2 001 (3) — — (26.0)
Impact from events of September 11, 2001 — — {(9.0)

(1) During the second quarter of 2003, the Company recorded an after-tax charge of $75 million ($115 million
pretax) in connection with the Physician Class Action Settlement, net of an estimated insurance recoverable of
$72 million pretax.

(2) During the first quarter of 2002, the Company released $19.8 million of state income tax related reserves as a
result of the favorable conclusion of several state tax audits. : ~

(3) Represerité unfavorable development of prior period medical cost estimates related to Medicare service areas that
thé Company exited, effective January 1, 2001. These exited Medicare service areas represented approximately
47% of the Company’s total Medicare membership at December 31, 2000.

2004 Outlook

Company actions are designed to increase Health Care operating margins. The Company is seeking to
increase its Health Care operating margins, disregarding changes in health care cost estimates, in 2004
through pricing actions, underwriting discipline, membership growth and reductions in general and
administrative expenses. During 2003, the Company experienced substantial declines in Commercial Risk
medical cost ratios (health care costs divided by premiums) as a result of premium rate increases, reductions
in unprofitable membership and a moderation in health care cost utilization. While the Company expects its
Commercial Risk medical cost ratio to increase in 2004, compared to 2003, its goal is for Commercial Risk
medical cost ratios to remain at levels that, together with expense initiatives, support operating margin
expansion. The Company’s plans to support this goal include price increases and the effective continuation of
its initiatives relating to provider contracting, disease management and case management, enhancements to
pharmacy benefits management and overall underwriting discipline. Premiums for Risk health plans are
generally fixed for a one-year period and when the Company determines premium rate quotes, the Company
relies, in part, on its projections of future health care cost levels. Cost levels in excess of health care cost
projections reflected in pricing cannot be recovered in the contractual year through higher premiums. A
majority of the Company’s Risk health plans business will renew during the first quarter of 2004. As a result,
the Company’s results for 2004 are particularly sensitive to the price increases it achieves for business
renewing in the early part of the year. There can be no assurances regarding the accuracy of health care cost
projections assumed for pricing purposes and if the rate of increase in health care costs in 2004 were to
exceed the levels projected for pricing purposes, our results would be materially adversely affected.
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Membership growth is targeted for 2004. The Company has taken actions designed to increase membership
beginning in the first quarter of 2004 and to achieve membership at December 31, 2004 approximately
500,000 to 700,000 higher than at December 31, 2003. These membership increases, combined with price

increases, would contribute to higher revenues.

Groupvlnsurance operating margins. The Company is seeking to increase its Group Insurance operating
earnings in 2004 through growth in" key product lines and management of expenses through the
implementation of enhanced technology and business process redesign initiatives,

Large Case Pensions eomings expected to reflect continued runoff of business. The Company expects
earnings in its Large Case Pensions business will be lower than in 2003, consistent with the continued runoff
of underlying liabilities and assets. However, operating earnings for Large Case Pensions can vary from
current’. expectations depending on, among other matters, future investment performance of the assets
supporting existing liabilities.

Operating Expenses are targeted for further reduction. The Company continues to take actions aimed at
reducing general and administrative expenses and improving the efficiency of its operations. The Company
reduced operating expenses by approximately $79 million in 2003 (8194 million, excluding the Physician
Class Action Settlement of $115 million), compared to 2002, and the Company is seeking to lower
operating expenses by approximately $50 million in 2004, compared to 2003. This net reduction includes
approximately $150 million reduction in general and administrative costs partially offset by approximately
$100 million increase in selling costs. Reduction of these expenses is a key component to achieving expected
operating margin expansron

Refer to “‘F orward Lookmg Informanon / Rrsk Factors for mformation regardmg other lmportant factors that
may materially affect the Company

Discussion of Segment Results

The discussion of the Company’s results of operations that follows is presented based on the Company’s
reportable segments in accordance with FAS No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and
Related Information, and is consistent with the disclosure of segment information in Note 19 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements. The measure of profit or loss presented within each segment’s discussion
of results of operations is the measure reported to the Chief Executive Officer for purposes of making
decisions about allocating resources to the segment and assessing its performance.

Health Care

Health Care consists of health and dental plans offered on both a Risk basis (where the Cornpany assumes all
or a majority of the risk for health and dental care costs) and an employer-funded basis (where the plan
sponsor under an administrative service contract (“ASC"’) and not the Company, assumes all or a majority
of the risk). Health plans include HMO point-of-service (*“P0S™), preferred provider organization
(“PPO”’) and indemnity benefit (“Indernnlty ) products. Health plans also include consumer-directed
health plans that combine traditional HMO, POS or PPO coverage, subject to a deductible, with an
accumulating benefit account.




Operating Summary _
(Millions) ‘ - : 2003 2002 2001

Premiums: )

Commercial Risk (1) $12,329.3 $14,014.6 $17,799.5

Medicare HMO 906.2 1,013.1 1,995.7

Medicaid ‘ — 8.4 145.2
Total premiums 13,235.5 15,036.1 19,940.4
Administrative services contract fees 1,853.9 1,806.6 1,802.9
Net investment income 244.6 295.7 373.9
Other income 8.7 15.6 50.6
Net realized capital gains : : . 34.4 56.0 102.2

Total revenue : 15,377.1 17,210.0 22,270.0
Health care costs (2) 10,135.8 12,452.8 17,938.8
Salaries and related benefits 2,064.8 2,150.1 2,188.4
Other operating expenses 1,854.6 1,884.4 2,130.0
Amortization of goodwill — — 198.1
Amortization of other acquired intangible assets 50.8 130.8 218.5
Severance and facilities charges . — 156.0 192.5
Total benefits and expenses 14,106.0 16,774.1 22,866.3

Income (loss) before income taxes (benefits) and cumulative effect

adjustments 1,271.1 435.9 (596.3)
Income taxes (benefits) 461.5 119.5 (157.3)
Cumulative effect adjustments, net of tax — (2,965.7) D
Net income (loss) $ 809.6 8(2,649.3) $ (438.5)
Net realized capital gains, net of tax (included above) 8 222 & 364 8 77.4

(1) Commercial Risk includes all medical and dental risk products, except Medicare HMO and Medicaid.

{2) The percentage of health care costs related to capitated arrangements (a fee arrangement where the Company
pays providers a monthly fixed fee for each member, regardless of the medical services provided to the member)
was 10.9% for 2003, compared to 11.3% for 2002 and 11.7% for 2001.

Results

The table pfesented below identifies certain items which, although they may recur, are excluded from net
income (loss), to arrive at operating earnings (loss), and reconciles operating earnings (loss) to net income
(loss) reported in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Management believes excluding these items to arrive at operating earnings provides useful information as to
the Company’s underlying business performance. In addition, management uses operating earnings to assess
performance and make operating decisions.

Realized capital gains and losses arise from various types of transactions primarily in the course of managing
a portfolio of assets that support the payment of liabilities, but these transactions do not directly relate to the
underwriting or servicing of products for customers and are not directly related to the core performance of the
Company’s business operations. The Physician Class Action Settlement relates to the settlement of significant
litigation not in the ordinary course of business and the cumulative effect adjustments relate to the Company’s
adoption of new accounting standards, which do not reflect the underlying performance of the Company’s
business. The severance and facilities charges represent an estimate of costs related to reductions of staff or
exiting of facilities and the unfavorable reserve development of prior period Medicare HMO medical costs
represents medical costs related to Medicare markets exited by the Company on January 1, 2001, neither of
which are direct expenses supporting ongoing business operations. The release of state income tax reserves
was the result of the favorable conclusion of several state tax audits relating to prior periods, accordingly, this
reserve release does not reflect the underlying performance of the Company’s business. The Company also
displays medical cost ratios excluding changes to prior-period health care cost estimates to better reflect the
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underlying current period health care costs and the favorable resolution of a prior period contract matter to
better reflect the premiums generated from underlying current period performance.

(Millions) : : 2003 2002 2001
Net income {loss) $8090.6 8(2,649.3) §(438.5)
Other items included in net income (loss):
Net realized capital gains : (22.2) (36.4) (77.4)
Physician Class Action Settlement 75.0 — —
Severance and facilities charges — 101.4 125.1
Release of state income tax reserves . —_ (19.8) —
Unfavorable reserve development related to Medicare markets exited
January 1, 2001 — — 26.0
Cumulative effect adjustments — 2,965.7 (.5)
Operating earnings (loss) . §862.4 § 3616 $(365.3)

2003 results Ireﬂect a substantial improvement from 2002

Operating earnings for 2003 reflect an increase of $501 million from 2002. The increase in operating
earnings is due primarily to improved margins as premium rate increases outpaced increases in per member
health care costs for Commercial Risk, ‘primarily HMO products, as well as the favorable development of
prior period health care cost estimates of approximately $148 million after tax ($228 million pretax) for
2003, compared to approximately $46 million after tax (871 million pretax) for 2002. The increase in
operating earnings was partially offset by lower Medicare HMO results due to lower membership levels,
increases in per member medical costs outpacing premium rate increases and a decrease in net investment
income primarily due to the lower interest rate environment. In addition, membership levels for 2003 were
lower than those in 2002, resulting in both lower premiums and health care costs.

Operating earnings for 2003 also reflect a decrease in total operating expenses, including salaries and related
benefits, due to lower membership levels and expense reduction initiatives, including workforce reductions,
lower expenses for outside consultant services, lower claim processing costs and broker commissions
consistent with lower membership levels and a curtailment benefit of $22 million after tax ($34 million
préetax) in the first quarter of 2003 related to the phase out of the retiree medical subsidy for active
employees (refer to Note 14 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information). The
decrease in operating expenses was partially offset by higher pension costs and an $18 million pretax
expense associated with the exit of a real estate facility no longer being used in the Company’s operations.

2002 operations reflect a turnaround from 2001

Operating earnings for 2002 reflect an increase of $727 million from the operating loss in 2001. For 2002,
membership levels were lower than in 2001, resulting in both lower overall premiums and health care costs.
The increase in operating earnings was due primarily to significant premium rate increases and reductions of
certain membership with historically higher medical cost ratios (including withdrawal of products within
certain markets), partially offset by higher per member health care costs for Commercial Risk products,
primarily HMO and, to a lesser extent, for PPO, POS and Indemnity products. Premiums for 2002 also
reflect a benefit of approximately $21 million after tax ($32 million pretax) from the favorable resolution of
prior period contract matters for a large customer. Health care costs for 2002 reflect the favorable
development of prior period health care cost estimates of approximately $46 million after tax ($71 million
pretax ). Health care costs for 2001 reflect the unfavorable development of prior period health care cost
estimates of approximately $29 million after tax ($44 million pretax ), primarily related to Medicare service
areas that the Company exited, effective January 1, 2001.

The increase in 2002 operating earnings was also attributable to a decrease in total operating expenses,
including salaries and related benefits, resulting from expense reduction initiatives and lower membership
levels, including workforce reductions, lower broker commissions and sales compensation expense, offset
partially by higher performance-based compensation due to the Company’s improved results, and higher
pension costs. Operating earnings for 2002 were adversely affected by a decrease in net investment income
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due primarily to lower average yields on debt securities, mortgz;ge loans and shori-term investments as well as
lower average assets, partially offset by higher limited partnership income, and a decrease in other income
primarily due to proceeds in the third quarter of 2001, not present in 2002, of approximately $13 million
after tax ($20 million pretax) from the sale of the Company’s New Jersey Medicaid membership.

The performance of our Commercial Risk business improved in_2003 and 2002

Commercial Risk premiums decreased approximately $1.7 billion in 2003, when compared to 2002, and
decreased approximately $3.8 billion in 2002, when compared to 2001. These decreases reflect
membership reductions, partially offset by premium rate increases on renewing business.

The Commercial Risk medical cost ratio (health care costs divided by premiums) was 76.0% for 2003,
82.9% for 2002 and 89.3% for 2001. Health care costs for 2003 and 2002 reflect favorable development
of prior period health care cost estimates of approximately $215 million pretax and $36 million pretax,
respectively.

The favorable development of prior period health care cost estimates recognized in 2003 primarily relates to
health care costs incurred in 2002 and considers the actual claims experience that emerged in 2003. The
actual claim submission time (i.e., the period of time from date medical services were provided to our
members to the date the Company received the medical claim from the provider) for 2002 medical claims
was shorter than the Company had anticipated in determining its health care costs payable at December 31,
2002. Such acceleration was not evident until the first quarter of 2003, when the majority of the remaining
claims for 2002 services included in health care costs payable as of December 31, 2002 were paid. As a
result, the volume of claims incurred but not reported was estimated higher than the Company actually
experienced, resulting in the favorable development of prior period health care estimates recognized in 2003
(refer to discussion of Health Care Costs Payable below for more information).

Premiums for 2002 also include a benefit of approximately $32 million pretax from the favorable resolution
of prior period contract matters for a large customer. Excluding the favorable development of prior period
health care cost estimates in 2003 and 2002 and the favorable resolution of prior period contract matters for
a large customer in 2002, the adjusted Commercial Risk medical cost ratio was 77.7% for 2003 and 83.3%
for 2002 (refer to the reconciliations of Commercial Risk premiums and health care costs to adjusted
Commercial Risk premiums and health care costs below). The decrease in the medical cost ratio in 2003,
compared to 2002, was the result of per member premium rate increases outpacing per member health care
cost increases reflecting a moderation in utilization trends, primarily pharmacy, physician, inpatient and
outpatient services. The moderation in utilization trends has been impacted by a number of external factors,
including the effect of benefit design changes on medical expenditures, along with the Company’s initiatives
relating to disease management and case management, enhancements to pharmacy benefits management and
underwriting discipline. The decrease in 2002, compared to 2001, was the result of significant per member
premium rate increases outpacing per member health care cost increases and reductions of certain
membership with historically higher medical cost ratios (including withdrawal of products within certain
markets ). Higher per member health care costs in 2002 were primarily due to higher utilization related to
2002 services and also reflect the impact of certain unit cost increases.

( Millions) 2003 2002
Commercial Risk health care costs (included in total health care costs above) $9.365.4 - $11,615.3
Adjustments: approximate favorable development of prior period health care cost

estimates 215.0 36.0
Adjusted Commercial Risk health care costs $9,580.4 $11,651.3
( Millions) ) 2i003 2002
Commercial Risk premiums (included in premiums above) ' $12,329.3 $14.014.6
Adjustments: favorable resolution of prior period contract matters for a large customer — (32.0)
Adjusted Commercial Risk premiums $12,329.3  $13,982.6




.

Medicare HMO experienced an increase in medical cost ratios in 2003; in 2002 medical costs ratios
declined reflecting the withdrawal from certain high medical cost ratio service areas

The Company’s Medicare Advantage (formerly Medicare+Choice) contracts with the federal government
are renewable for a one-year period_ each January 1. During the period 2001 through 2003, the Company
exited a significant number of Medicare service areas affecting approximately 364,000 members. In
September 2003, the Company notified the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”) of its
intent to offer a Medicare Advantage option in 2004 in all of the markets it served in 2003. In addition, as
part of the CMS Medicare Advantage Demonstration Project, the Company expects to expand its open access
Medicare Advaritage plan (the Aetna Golden Choice™ Plan) by offering it for 2004 in two additional
counties in New York and Pennsylvania.

Medicare HMO premiums decreased approximately $107 million in 2003, when compared to 2002, and
decreased approximately $983 million in 2002, when compared to 2001. These decreases reflect the
membership reductions discussed above, partially offset by increases in supplemental premiums and rate
increases by the CMS. ‘

The Medicare HMO medical cost ratio for 2003 was 85.2%, compared to 82.2% for 2002 and 95.7% for
2001. Health care costs for 2003 and 2002 reflect favorable development of prior period health care cost
estimates of approximately $13 million pretax and $35 ‘million pretax, respectively. Excluding this
development of prior period health care cost estimates, the adjusted Medicare HMO medical cost ratio was
86.6% for 2003 and 85.6% for 2002 (refer to the reconciliations of Medicare HMO health care costs to
adjusted Medicare HMO health care costs below). The increase in the medical cost ratio for 2003, compared
to 2002, reflects per member premium rate increases that were outpaced by increases in per member health
care costs due primarily to higher utilization. Health care costs for 2001 reflect the unfavorable development
of prior period health care cost. estimates of approximately $56 million pretax, primarily related to those
Medicare service areas that the Company exited, effective January 1, 2001. Excluding this development of
prior period health care cost estimates, the adjusted Medicare HMO medical cost ratio was 92.9% for 2001
(refer to the reconciliations of Medicare HMO health care costs to adjusted Medicare HMO health care costs
below). The decrease in the medical cost ratio for 2002, compared to 2001, primarily reflects the
Company’s exit from cerlain Medicare service areas on January 1, 2002 that had high medical cost ratios as
well as premium rate increases outpacing health care cost increases. ,

(Millions) : ‘ 2003 ” 2002 2001
Medicare HMO health care costs (included in total health care costs above) $771.8 §832.6 $1,909.4
Adjustments: approximate favorable (unfavorable) development of prior period '

health care cost estimates l - 13.0 35.0 {56.0)
Adjusted Medicare HMO health care costs ' ' $784.8 §867.6 $1.853.4

Health Care Costs Payable

Health care costs payable reflects estimates of the ultimate cost of claims that have been incurred but not yet
reported and those which have been reported but not yet paid. The Company develops such estimates using
actuarial principles and .assumptions that consider, among other things, historical and projected claim
submission patterns, historical and projected claim processing time, medical cost trends, utilization of health
care setvices, claim inventory levels, changes in membership and product mix, seasonality and other relevant
factors. In developing its estimate of health care costs payable, the Company consistently applies the actuarial
principles and assumptions each period, with consideration to the variability of these factors,

Because the average life of most health care claims is less than three-months and a large portion of health
care claims are not submitted to the Company until after the end of the quarter in which services are rendered
by providers to members, historical and projected claim submission, processing time and medical cost trends
are key assumptions in the Company'’s estimate of health care costs payable. Given these assumptions, an
extensive degree of judgment is used in this estimation process, considerable variability is inherent in such
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estimates, and the adequacy of the estimates is highly sensitive to changes in medical claims submission and
payment patterns and changes in medical cost trends.

The Company believes its estimate of health care costs payable is reasonable and adequate to cover the
Company’s obligations as of December 31, 2003; however, actual claim payments may differ from
established estimates. A worsening (or improvement) of medical cost trend (the rate of increase in per
member health care costs) or changes in claim submission and payment patterns from those that were
assumed in estimating health care costs payable at December 31, 2003 would cause these estimates to
change in the near term, and such a change could be material. For example, if changes in claim submission
and /or processing patterns resulted in a 100-basis point change in the estimated medical cost trend for
Commercial Risk products, annual after tax results for 2003 would have changed by approximately
$55 million. This estimation process is a critical accounting policy for the Company. Refer to *‘Critical
Accounting Policies”™ for more information.

Each quarter, the Company re-examines previously established health care costs payable estimates based on
actual claim payments for prior periods and other changes in facts and circumstances. Given the extensive
degree of judgment in this estimate, it is possible that estimates of health care costs payable could develop
either favorably or unfavorably. The Company includes the impacts of changes in estimates in earnings when
they are identified. The changes in the estimate of health care costs payable may relate to the prior fiscal
quarter, prior fiscal year, or even to earlier periods.

Health care costs payable as of December 31, consisted of the following:

(Millions ) 2003 2002

Commercial Risk $1,785.7 $2,058.6
Medicare HMO 103.0 135.5
Total health care costs payable $1,888.7 $2,194.1

Other Revenue

ASC fees for 2003 increased compared to 2002, This increase reflects an increase in rates, partially offset
by lower ASC membership levels. ASC fees for 2002 remained relatively consistent with 2001. This reflects
overall lower ASC membership levels, offset by an increase in rates.

Net realized capital gains for 2003 primarily reflect net gains on debt securities resulting from the Company’s
rebalancing of its investment portfolio in a low interest rate environment. Net realized capital gains for 2002
include a capital gain of $39 million after tax related to the Company’s 1997 sale of its behavioral health
subsidiary, Human Affairs International (‘“HAI”’) and net gains from the sale of debt securities resulting
from the Company’s rebalancing of its investment portfolio in a low interest rate environment. The Company
recorded capital gains relating to the HAI sale as they became realizable. Refer to ““Behavioral Health
Arrangements with Magellan’” below for further information on the $60 million pretax that was scheduled to
be paid to the Company in February 2003 by the purchaser of HAI, Magellan Health Services, Inc.
(“Magellan’ ), and Magellan’s recent bankruptcy proceedings. These 2002 gains were partially offset by
capital losses primarily due to the write-down of certain debt and equity securities, the final resolution of
matters related to the prior year sale of certain subsidaries, the sale of the Company’s investment in an
internet technology-based connectivity company and losses from futures contracts used for managing the
maturities of invested assets with the payment of expected liabilities. Net realized capital gains for 2001
primarily reflect a capital gain of $38 million after tax related to the HAI sale, net gains from the sale of debt
securities resulting from the Company’s rebalancing of its investment portfolio and capital gains resulting
from collections of previously charged-off mortgage loans. These gains in 2001 were partially offset by
capital losses resulting primarily from the write-down of certain debt securities.

Acquisition
Consistent with the philosophy of targeting acquisitions relevant to its strategy which enhance existing
capabilities or growth opportunities, in December 2003, the Company purchased The Chickering Group
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(““Chickering”). Chickering sells and services health- benefits underwritten by Aetna Life Insurance
Company, a subsidiary of the Company, to students enrolled in colleges and universities. In addition, the
pany y pany g
Company may be required to pay a nominal amount of contingent consideration if certain future premium
targets are met. The Company recorded goodwill of approximately $61 million which represents the purchase
g pany g pp: y P p
price in excess of the fair value of the net assets acquired.

Income Taxes

Health Care’s effective tax rate was 36.3% in 2003, 27.4% in 2002 and 26.4% in 2001. During the first
quarter of 2002, the Company released approximately $20 million of state income tax related reserves as a
result of the favorable conclusion of several state tax audits. Excluding this income tax benefit in 2002,
amortization of goodwill in 2001 and amortization of other acquired intangible assets and net realized capital
gains for all periods, the adjusted effective tax rates were 36.3% in 2003, 32.4% in 2002 and 36.6% in
2001 (refer to the reconciliations of the numerator and the denominator below). Management believes this
presents a useful view of the effective tax rate relating to Health Care’s underlying business performance. The
fluctuations in the effective tax rate primarily reflect fluctuation in pretax income and a change in the mix of
state income taxes that apply to pretax income. The increase in the effective tax rate for 2003, compared to
2002, also reflects a dilution of benefit from tax advantaged investment income due to substantially higher
pretax operating earnings. This mix of state income taxes depends on the states in which the Company’s
earnings or losses are incurred and the level of such earnings or losses, due to differing tax rates and/or
limitations of allowed losses in various states. '

(Millions ) 2003 2002 2001
Numerator:
Income taxes (benefits) : $ 461.5 $119.5 §(157.3)
Adjustments: '
Benefit from state income tax reserve release ’ — 19.8 —
Amortization of goodwill - — — 2.8
Amortization of other acquired intangible assets 17.8 45.8 76.1
Net realized capital gains ' (12.2)  (19.6) (24.8)
Adjusted income taxes (benefits) $ 467.1 $165.5 ${103.2)
Denominator: .
Income (loss) before income taxes (benefits) and cumulative effect
adjustments $1,271.1  $435.9 $(596.3)
Adjustments:
Amortization of goodwill —_ — 198.1
Amortization of other acquired intangible assets 50.8 130.8 218.5
Net realized capital gains (34.4) (56.0) (102.2)
Adjusted income (loss) before income taxes (benefits) and cumulative effect
adjustments $1,287.5 $510.7 $(281.9)




Membership

Health Care’s membership was as follows:

December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
( Thousands) Risk - ASC Total Risk ASC Total
Commercial
HMO (1) 3,327 1,385 4,712 3,948 1,349 5,297
PPO 824 3,554 4,378 753 3,171 3,924
POS 127 2,160 2,287 101 2,514 2,615
Indemnity 75 1,331 1,406 106 1,517 1,623
Total Commercial Membership 4,353 8,430 12,783 4,908 8,551 13,459
Medicare HMO 105 — 105 117 — 117
Medicaid HMO i — 114 114 — 102 102
Total Medical Membership 4,458 8,544 13,002 5,025 8,653 13,678
Dental 4,435 6,507 10,942 4,740 7,027 11,767

(1) Commercial HMO in thousands includes POS members who access primary care physicians and referred care
through an HMO network of 1,080 at December 31, 2003 and 1,067 at December 31, 2002,

Total medical and dental membership as of December 31, 2003 decreased by approximately .7 million and
.8 million members, respectively, compared to December 31, 2002, resulting from the Company’s strategic
and operational initiatives, including significant price increases and the withdrawal of under-performing
Commercial HMO products in certain markets.

Behavioral Health Arrangements with Magellan

The Company recognized the final installment of contingent consideration under a long-term strategic
provider relationship with Magellan of $60 million pretax as a capital gain during the second quarter of
2002. This amount was due in February 2003 but was not paid. Magellan filed for protection under
Chapter 11 of the Federal Bankruptcy Code on March 11, 2003, and announced plans to reorganize and
restructure iis financial obligations. In January of 2004, Magellan completed its financial restructuring and
exited from Chapter 11, and paid the Company $15 million and provided the Company with a $45 million
interest bearing note. The Company has extended its agreement with Magellan to continue providing
behavioral health services to its members through December 31, 2005 in connection with a new strategic
focus for its behavioral health programs designed to optimize service and improve access to care for members
through a closer integration of behavioral and medical health care. As part of the agreement, Magellan is
establishing three dedicated business sites designed solely to serve the Company’s members and focus on
clinical and network management. In addition, under the terms of the agreement, the Company may choose
to either further extend the contract with Magellan through December 31, 2006 or purchase the dedicated
business units on or after December 31, 2005, subject to acceleration in certain circumstances.

Group Insurance

Group Insurance includes group life insurance products offered on a risk basis, including Basic Term Group
Life Insurance, Group Universal Life, Supplemental or Voluntary programs and Accidental Death and
Dismemberment coverage. Disability and Long Term Care products are offered on both a risk and an
employer-funded basis and consist primarily of short-term and long-term disability insurance (and products
which combine both ), as well as long-term care products, which provide benefits offered to cover the cost of
care in private home settings, adult day care, assisted living or nursing facilities.




Operating Summary

(Millions) 2003 2002 . 2001
Premiums:

Life ' $1,146.7 $1,093.0 $1,052.1

Disability : 287.3 300.0 267.4

Long Term Care ) 73.2 64.4 59.1
Total premiums ' 1,507.2 1,457.4 1,378.6
Administrative services contract fees 30.8 36.0 32.3
Net investment income " 268.7 269.5 286.0
Other income _ 3.6 4.0 4.0
Net realized capital gains (losses) 22.6 (21.6) 4

Total revenue 1,832.9 1,745.3 1,701.3
Current and future benefits ' 1,406.2 1,380.5 1,303.6
Salaries and related benefits - 99.9 79.4 85.0
Other operating expenses 116.3 97.8 90.1
Severance and facilities charge — 5.0 —
Total benefits and expenses 1,622.4 1,562.7 1,478.7

Income before income taxes ) 210.5 182.6 222.6
Income taxes : R : . 61.2 57.6 71.2
Net income $ 1493 % 125.0 & 151.4
Net realized capital gains (losses), net of tax (included above) $ 145 § (14.0) 8 3
Results

The table presented below identifies certain items which, although they may recur, are excluded from net
income to arrive at operating earnings, and reconciles operating earnings to net income reported in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Realized capital
gains and losses arise from various types of transactions primarily in the course of managing a portfolio of
assets that support the payment of liabilities, but these transactions do not directly relate to the underwriting
or servicing of products for customers and are not directly related to the core performance of the Company’s
business operations. The severance and facilities charge represents an estimate of costs related to reductions
of staff or exiting of facilities that are not direct expenses supporting ongoing business operations. The
financial impact to the Company as a result of the events of September 11, 2001 are considered unusual in
the normal course of the Company’s Group Insurance business operations. Management believes excluding
these items to arrive at operating earnings provides useful information as to the Company’s underlying
business performance. In addition, management uses operating earnings to assess performance and make
operating decisions.

(Millions) - : 2003 2002 2001
Operating earnings: 4
Life products $104.2 $112.2 g116.5
Disability and Long Term Care products 30.6 30.0 43.6
Total Group Insurance operating earnings 134.8 142.2 160.1
Adjustments:
Net realized capital gains (losses) 14.5 (14.0) 3
Severance and facilities charge — (3.2) —_
Impact from events of September 11, 2001 — — (9.0)
Net income : $149.3 $125.0 $151.4

Operating earnings for 2003 decreased 7 million, compared to 2002, and operating earnings for 2002
decreased $18 million, compared to 2001. The decrease in operating earnings for 2003, compared to
2002, reflects an increase in operating expenses (including salaries and related benefits) primarily resulting
from an increase in sales compensation, consistent with the Company’s growth strategy, partially offset by a
lower benefit cost ratio (current and future benefits divided by premiums) primarily due to favorable claim
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experience in Disability products and a lower effective tax rate reflecting the impact of higher levels of tax
advantaged investments on lower pretax operating earnings. The decrease in operating earnings for 2002 is
due primarily to lower net investment income and an increase in the benefit cost ratio. Lower net investment
income is primarily due to lower average yields on mortgage loans, bonds and short-term investments as well
as lower mortgage loan equity participation and prepayment income, partially offset by higher average assets
and higher limited partnership and real estate income. The decrease in operating earnings for 2002 also
reflects an increase in other operating expenses due primarily to higher broker commission expenses,
partially offset by a decrease in salaries and related benefits due primarily to lower sales compensation
expense. The Group Insurance benefit cost ratios were 93.3% for 2003, 94.7% for 2002 and 94.6% for
2001 (includes the impact from events of September 11, 2001 ). For 2003, the lower benefit cost ratio was
primarily due to favorable claim experience in Disability products.

Net realized capital gains for 2003 primarily reflect net gains on debt securities resulting from the Company’s
rebalancing of its investment portfolio in a low interest rate environment. Net realized capital losses for 2002
primarily reflect losses due to the write-down of certain investments in debt and equity securities and losses
on futures contracts. These losses were partially offset by capital gains from debt securities resulting from the
Company’s rebalancing of its investment portfolio in a low interest rate environment. Net realized capital
gains for 2001 primarily reflect collections of previously charged-off mortgage loans, partially offset by
capital losses resulting primarily from the write-down of certain bonds and capital losses on futures contracts
used for managing the maturities of invested assets with the payment of expected liabilities.

Life Products

The decrease in operating earnings for Life products for 2003, compared to 2002, reflects an increase in
operating expenses (including salaries and related benefits) primarily due to the Company’s growth strategy
discussed previously, partially offset by an increase in underwriting margin due to increased premium levels.
Operating earnings for Life products decreased for 2002, compared to 2001, primarily due to lower net
investment income. ‘

Disability and Long Term Care Products

For 2003, operating earnings for Disability and Long Term Care products remained relatively level with
2002 reflecting a decrease in the combined benefit cost ratio, almost entirely offset by an increase in
operating expenses (including salaries and related benefits). Results for 2003 include an increase of
approximately $4 million after tax in net favorable effects from changes in Long Term Disability and Long
Term Care reserve assumptions, when compared to 2002. The Company periodically reviews its reserve
assumptions and updates its reserve estimates as appropriate. Key assumptions for these reserves include
claim incidence rates, disability claim recovery rates, governmental program offsets (e.g., social security)
and interest rates. Operating earnings for Disability and Long Term Care products for 2002 decreased,
compared to 2001, primarily due to an increase in the combined benefit cost ratio for Disability and Long
Term Care products and, to a lesser extent, lower net investment income.

Membership

Group Insurance’s membership was as follows:

(Thousands) ' 2003 2002
Life products 10,000 9,274
Disability products 2,085 2,210
Long Term Care products 203 180
Total 12,288 11,664

Total Group Insurance membership as of December 31, 2003 increased by 624,000 members, compared to
December 31, 2002. Group Insurance sales were 2.3 million for 2003, compared to sales of 1.8 million for
2002. Lapses and in-force membership reductions were 1.6 million for both 2003 and 2002.
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Large Case Pensions

Large Case Pensions manages a variety of retirement products (including pension and annuity products)
primarily for defined benefit and defined contribution plans. These products provide a variety of funding and
benefit payment distribution options and other services. The Large Case Pensions segment includes certain
discontinued products.

Operating Summary

(Millions) 2003 2002 2001
Premiums . ¢ 1613 $ 2192 § 453.0
Net investment income 581.7 685.5 751.7
Other income 15.2 18.8 21.3
Net realized capital gains (losses) . 8.2 D (6.5)
Total revenue 766.4 923.4 1,219.5
Current and future benefits 684.6 865.0 1,154.7
Salaries and related benefits 14.4 15.7 17.0
Other operating expenses 4.5 5.2 4.5
Reductions of reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued
products ' — (8.3) (94.5)
Total benefits and expenses 703.5 877.6 1,081.7
Income before income taxes 62.9 45.8 137.8
Income taxes 21.1 16.3 48.9
Net income B 41.8  $ 295 % 88.9
Net realized capital gains (losses), net of tax (included above) , $ 53 § (.1) § (4.1)
Assets under management: (1)
Fully guaranteed discontinued products $ 4,578.3 8§ 4,784.2 § 5,246.2
Experience-rated 5,146.1 5,764.2 6,476.3
Non-guaranteed (2) 9,234.1 7,916.5 8,364.7
Total assets under management $18,958.5 $18,464.9 $20,087.2

(1) Excludes net unrealized capital gains of $537.6 million at December 31, 2003, $511.0 million at Becember 31,
2002 and $176.0 million at December 31, 2001.

(2) The increase in assets under management in 2003 reflect additional deposits accepted from existing customers.

Results

Large Case Pensions’ net income increased $12 million in 2003, compared to 2002, and decreased
$59 million in 2002, compared to 2001. Net income for 2002 includes a benefit from the reduction of the
reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products for Large Case Pensions of $5 million due
primarily to favorable mortality and retirement experience and certain reductions in administrative expenses,
partially offset by lower portfolio returns. Net income for 2001 includes a benefit from the reduction of the
reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products of $61 million primarily as a result of favorable
investment performance that included equity gains and mortgage loan prepayment penalty income, as well as
favorable mortality and retirement experience. Excluding the discontinued products reserve releases and net
realized capital gains (losses), operating earnings were $37 million in 2003, $24 million in 2002 and
$32 million in 2001. Management believes excluding net realized capital gains and losses to arrive at
operating earnings provides useful information for the same reason noted above in Health Care. Management
believes excluding any changes to the reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products provides
useful information as to the Company’s continuing products and is consistent with the treatment of the resulis
of operations of the discontinued products, which are credited /charged to the reserve and do not affect the
Company’s results of operations.

The increase in operating earnings for 2003, compared to 2002, is primarily due to higher interest margins
resulting from increased investment income from limited partnership investments in the continuing operations
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line of business. The decrease in operating earnings for 2002, compared to 2001, reflects the continued run
off of underlying liabilities and related assets. Premiums, along with current and future benefits, decreased in
2003 and 2002 primarily due to less activity relating to the funding of retirement incentive programs by an
existing customer. The decrease in 2002, compared to 2001, was also impacted by the 2001 transfer of
cash from separate accounts to the general account to purchase annuities for another large customer.

General account assets supporting experience-rated products (where the contractholder, not the Company,
assumes investment and other risks subject to, among other things, certain minimum guarantees) may be
subject to participant or contractholder withdrawal. Experience-rated contractholder and participant with-
drawals were as follows:

(Millions) ) 2003 2002 2001
Scheduled contract maturities and benefit payments (1) $768.0 §793.6 $929.3
Contractholder withdrawals other than scheduled contract maturities and benefit . ‘
payments(2) 78.9 104.6 218.1
Participant-directed withdrawals (2) 27.6 22.9 20.7

(1) Includes payments made upon contract maturity and other amounts distributed in accordance with contract
schedules.

(2) Approximately $644.1 million and $733.7 million at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, of experience-
rated pension contracts allowed for unscheduled contractholder withdrawals, subject to timing restrictions and
formula-based market value adjustments. Further, approximately $700.7 million and %1.1 billion at Decem-
ber 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, of experience-rated contracts supported by general account assets could be
withdrawn or transferred to other plan investment options at the direction of plan participants, without market
value adjustment, subject to plan, contractual and income tax provisions.

Discontinued Products

The Company discontinued the sale of its fully guaranteed large case pension products (single-premium
annuities (“SPAs”") and guaranteed investment contracts (“GICs”)) in 1993, The Company established a
reserve for anticipated future losses on these products based on the present value of the difference between
the expected cash flows from the assets supporting these products and the cash flows expected to be required
to meet the-product obligations.

Results of operations of discontinued products, including net realized capital gains or losses, are credited or
charged to the reserve for anticipated future losses. The Company’s results of operations would be adversely
affected to the extent that future losses on the products are greater than anticipated and positively affected to
the extent future losses are less than anticipated.

The factors contributing to changes in the reserve for anticipated future losses are: operating income or loss,
realized capital gains or losses and mortality gains or losses. Operating income or loss is equal to revenue less
expenses. Realized capital gains or losses reflect the excess (deficit) of sales price over (below) the carrying
value of assets sold and any other-than-temporary impairments. Mortality gains or losses reflect the mortality
and retirement experience related to SPAs. A mortality gain -(loss) occurs when an annuitant or a beneficiary
dies sooner (later) than expected. A retirement gain (loss) occurs when an annuitant retires later
(earlier) than expected.
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The results of discontinued products were as follows:

(Millions) 2003 2002 2001
Interest deficit(1) $(25.0) $(12.2) $(17.0)
Net realized capital gains (losses) 72.3 (37.2) 13.8
Interest earned on receivable from continuing products 18.4 17.4 17.7
Other, net , 21.8 10.8 13.4
Results of discontinued products, after tax - $ 875 $(21.2) 8 279
Results of discontinued products, pretax $132.9 $(33.7) § 40.0
Net realized capital gains (losses) from bonds, after tax (included above) $ 53.8 $(53.3) $ 299

(1) The interest deficit is the difference between earnings on invested assets and interest credited to contractholders.

Net realized capital gains in 2003 reflect gains on the sale of debt securities in a declining interest rate
environment, as well as a gain on the sale of a real estate investment and the sale of an equity investment
which accounted for the significant increase in net realized capital gains in 2003, partially offset by the write-
down of certain debt and equity securities. Net realized capital losses in 2002 are due primarily to debt
securities sales and the write-down of certain debt and equity securities, partially offset by the sale of an
equity investment and the collection of previously charged-off mortgage loans. Net realized capital gains in
2001 were due primarily to gains on the sale of bonds in a declining interest rate environment, partially offset
by capital losses on futures contracts, used for portfolio duration management, and the sale of equity
securities.

At the time of discontinuance, a receivable from Large Case Pensions’ continuing products equivalent to the
net present value of the anticipated cash flow shortfalls was established for the discontinued products. Interest
on the receivable is accrued at the discount rate that was used to calculate the reserve. Total assets supporting
discontinued products and the reserve include a receivable from continuing products of $375 million at
December 31, 2003, $357 million at December 31, 2002 and $345 million at December 31, 2001, net of
related deferred taxes payable.

The reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products represents the present value (at the risk-
free rate at the time of discontinuance, consistent with the duration of the liabilities) of the difference between
the expected cash flows from the assets supporting discontinued products and the cash flows expected to be
required to meet the obligations of the outstanding contracts. Calculation of the reserve for anticipated future
losses requires projection of ‘both the amount and the timing of cash flows over approximately the next
30 years, including consideration of, among other things, future investment results, participant withdrawal
and mortality rates, as well as the cost of asset management and customer service. Since 1993, there have
been no significant changes to the assumptions underlying the calculation of the reserve related to the
projection of the amount and timing of cash flows.

The projection of future investment results considers assumptions for interest rates, bond discount rates and
performance of mortgage loans and real estate. Mortgage loan assumptions represent management’s best
estimate of current and future levels of rent growth, vacancy and expenses based upon market conditions at
each reporting date. The performance of real estate assets has been consistently estimated using the most
recent forecasts available. Since 1997, a bond default assuraption has been included to reflect historical
default experience, since the bond portfolio increased as a percentage of the overall investment portfolio and
reflected more bond credit risk, concurrent with declines in the commercial mortgage loan and real estate
portfolios.

The previous years’ actual participant withdrawal experience is used for the current-year assumption. Prior to
1995, the Company used the 1983 Group Annuitant Mortality table published by the Society of Actuaries
(the “Society”” ). In 1993, the Society published the 1994 Uninsured Pensioner’s Mortality table, which has
been used since then.

The Company’s assumptions about the cost of asset management and customer service reflect actual
investment and general expenses allocated over invested assets.
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The activity in the reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products was as follows (pretax):

(Millions)

Reserve at December 31, 2000 $ 9994

Operating income 3.2

Net realized capital gains 18.9

Mortality and other 17.9

Reserve reduction (94.5)
Reserve at December 31, 2001 944.9

Operating income 8.2

Net realized capital losses (57.5)
Mortality and other 15.6

Reserve reduction (8.3)
Reserve at December 31, 2002 902.9

Operating loss (3.3)
Net realized capital gains 111.3

Mortality and other 24.9

Reserve at December 31, 2003 ) $1,035.8

Management reviews the adequacy of the reserve fc'ur‘anticipated future losses on discontinued products
quarterly. The reserve was found to be adequate, and no release or charge was required during 2003. The
review in the second quarter of 2002 resulted in the release of $5 million (88 million pretax) of the reserve
primarily due to favorable mortality and retirement experience and certain reductions in administrative
expenses, partially offset by lower portfolio returns. In 2001, $61 million ($95 million pretax) of the
reserve was released primarily due to favorable investment performance that included equity gains and
mortgage loan prepayment penalty income, as well as favorable mortality and retirement experience. The
current reserve reflects management’s best estimate of anticipated future losses.

The anticipated run off of the December 31, 2003 reserve balance is as follows:

(Millions )

2004 8 36.7
2005 37.3
2006 37.3
2007 37.4
2008 37.9
2009 -2013 192.0
2014 -2018 179.2
2019 - 2023 151.3
2024 - 2028 117.3
Thereafter 209.4

The above table assumes that assets are held until maturity and that the reserve run off is proportional to the
liability run off.

The expected liability (as of December 31, 1993 ) and actual balances for the GIC and SPA liabilities at
December 31 are as follows:

Expected Actual
(Millions) GIC SPA GIC SPA
2001 $352.9  $4,238.9 $261.5 $4,512.6
2002 169.5 4,114.6 82.9 4,361.1
2003 51.7 3,984.7 35.2 4,217.9

The GIC balances were lower than expected in each period, as several contractholders redeemed their
contracts prior to contract maturity. The SPA balances in each period were higher than expected because of
additional amounts received under existing contracts.
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The discontinued products investment portfolio is as follows:

December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002

(Millions) Amount Percent Amount Percent
Class

Debt securities available for sale $3,427.1 69.7% $3,481.0 68.4%
Loaned securities (1) 180.2 3.7 167.1 3.3
Total debt securities 3,607.3 73.4 3,648.1 717
Mortgage loans 626.7 12.8 763.2 15.0
Investment real estate 75.2 1.5 95.0 1.9
Equity securities 49.9 1.0 73.4 1.4
Other (2) : 553.7 11.3 505.7 10.0
Total $4,912.8 100.0% $5,085.4 100.0%

(1) Refer to Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of the Company’s securities
lending program.

(2) Amount includes restricted debt securities on deposit as required by regulatory authorities of $121.8 million at
December 31, 2003 and $68.3 million at December 31, 2002 included in long-term investments on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The investment portfolio has declined from 2002, as assets were used to pay off contractual liabilities. As
mentioned above, the investment portfolio has changed since inception. Mortgage loans have decreased from
$5.4 billion (37% of the investment portfolio) at December 31, 1993 to their current level. This was a
result of maturities, prepayments and the securitization and sale of commercial mortgages. Also, real estate
decreased from $.5 billion (4% of the investment portfolio) at December 31, 1993 to its current level,
primarily as a result of sales. The resulting proceeds were reinvested in debt and equity securities.

The change in the composition of the overall investment portfolio resulted in a change in the quality of the
portfolio since 1993. As the Company’s exposure to commercial mortgage loans and real estate has
diminished, additional investment return has been achieved by increasing the risk in the bond portfolio. At
December 31, 1993, 60% of the debt securities had a quality rating of AAA or AA, and at December 31,
2003, 21% of the debt securities had a quality rating of AAA or AA. However, management believes the
level of risk in the total portfolio of assets supporting discontinued products was lower at December 31, 2003
when compared to December 31, 1993 due to the reduction of the portfolio’s exposure to mortgage loan and
real estate investments.

Distributions on discontinued products were as follows:

(Millions ) ' 2003 2002 2001
Scheduled contract maturities, settlements and benefit payments ‘ $566.9 $704.0 $835.7
Participant-directed withdrawals 2 3.6 5.6

Cash required to fund these distributions was provided by earnings and scheduled payments on, and sales of,
invested assets. : :

At December 31, 2003, scheduled maturities, future benefit payments and other expected payments,
including future interest, were as follows:

(Millions)

2004 ' $ 5324
2005 507.1
2006 494.2
2007 482.5
2008 474.6
2009 - 2013 2,164.2
2014 - 2018 1,762.3
2019 - 2023 1,346.7
2024 - 2028 962.7
Thereafter 1,447.8
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Refer to Note 12 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and ‘““Total Investments” for additional
information.

Corporate Interest

Corporate interest expense represents interest incurred on the Company’s long-term and short-term debt and
is not recorded in the Company’s business segments. After-tax interest expense was $67 million for 2003,
$78 million for 2002 and $93 million for 2001. The decrease in interest expense for 2003, compared to
2002, is primarily a result of interest rate swap agreements entered into in December 2001 and 2002 which
provide a benefit in a lower interest rate environment. The decrease in interest expense for 2002, when
compared to 2001, is primarily a result of lower interest rates and a benefit from the Company’s interest rate
swap agreement entered into in December 2001,

Severance and Facilities Charges
Fourth Quarter 2002 Severance and Facilities Charge

In the fourth quarter of 2002, the Company recorded a severance and facilities charge of $45 million pretax
($29 million after tax) relating to the implementation of ongoing initiatives that are intended to improve the
Company’s overall future performance. The initiatives included further reductions to operating expenses and
the continued reorganization and realignment of Health Care and Group Insurance operations. This charge
included $20 million after tax for severance activities relating to the planned elimination of approximately
680 employee positions (primarily customer service, information technology and Group Insurance related
positions } and $9 million after tax representing the present value of the difference between rent required to
be paid by the Company and future sublease rentals expected to be received by the Company relating to
certain leased facilities, or portions of such facilities, to be vacated. Severance actions and the vacating of
leased facilities relating to the fourth quarter 2002 charge were completed by December 31, 2003.

As a result of these actions, the Company eliminated 321 positions and used approximately $22 million
pretax of reserves during the fourth quarter of 2002 and eliminated 355 positions and used approximately
$23 million pretax of reserves during 2003. Refer to Note 11 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for more details.

Third Quarter 2002 Severance and Facilities Charge

In the third quarter of 2002, the Company recorded a severance and facilities charge of $89 million pretax
($58 million after tax) relating to the implementation of ongoing initiatives intended to improve the
Company’s overall future performance. These initiatives included further reductions to operating expenses
and the continued reorganization and realignment of Health Care and Group Insurance operations. This
charge included $53 million after tax for severance aclivities relating to the planned elimination of
approximately 2,750 employee positions (primarily custiomer service, plan sponsor services, patient
management, sales, network management and Group Insurance related positions) and $5 million after tax
representing the present value of the difference between rent required to be paid by the Company and future
sublease rentals expected to be received by the Company relating to certain leased facilities, or portions of
such faciities, to be vacated. Severance actions and the vacating of leased facilities relating to the third
quarter 2002 charge were completed by September 30, 2003.

As a result of these actions, the Company eliminated 1,805 positions, vacated certain leased facilities, and
used approximately $73 million pretax of reserves during 2002 and eliminated 718 positions, vacated
certain leased facilities and used approximately $16 million pretax of reserves during 2003. Refer to
Note 11 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for more details.

Total Investments

Investments disclosed in this section relate to the Company’s total portfolio (including assets supporting
discontinued products and experience-rated products).
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Total investments at December 31 were as follows:

(Millions) : 2003 2002

Debt securities available for sale $ 14,446.6. $13,379.1
Loaned securities 810.6 948.2
Total debt securities 15,257.2 14,327.3
Mortgage loans 1,451.2 1,773.2
Equity securities 84.8 . 93.2
Other investment securities 486.1 605.3
Investment real estate ' 270.4 308.8
Other (1) 1,499.5 1,790.5
Total investments ) $19,049.2 §18,898.3

(1) Amount includes restricted debt securities on deposit as required by regulatory authorities of $636.7 million at
December 31, 2003 and $747.5 million at December 31, 2002 included in long-term investments on the
Consolidated Balance.Sheets.

Debt and Equity Securities

Debt securities represented 80% at December 31, 2003 and 76% at December 31, 2002 of the Company’s
total general account invested assets and supported the following types of products:

(Millions ) : 2003 .2002

Supporting discontinued products $ 3.607.3 & 3,648.1
Supporting experience-rated products 2,236.4 2,303.2
Supporting remaining products 9,413.5 8,376.0
Total debt securities(1) : $15,257.2  $14,327.3

(1) Total debt securities include ““Below Investment Grade” Securities of $963 million at December 31, 2003 and
8736 million at December 31, 2002, of which 25% at December 31, 2003 and 22% at December 31, 2002
supported discontinued and experience-related products.

The debt securities in the Company’s portfolio are generally rated by external rating agencies and, if not
externally rated, are rated by the Company on a basis believed to be similar to that used by the rating
agencies. The Company’s investments in debt securities had an average quality rating of A+ at Decem-
ber 31, 2003 and 2002 (34% were AAA at December 31, 2003 and 2002). “Below investment grade™
debt securities carry a rating of below BBB—/Baa3 and represented 6% and 5% of the portfolio at
December 31, 2003 and Décember.31, 2002, respectively, of which 25% at December 31, 2003 and 22%
at December 31, 2002, support discontinued and experience-rated products. Refer to Note 7 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for disclosures related to debt securities by market sector.

Debt securities reflect net unrealized capital gains of $919 million (comprised of gross unrealized capital
gains of $958 million and gross unrealized losses of $39 million) at December 31, 2003 compared with net
unrealized capital gains of $859 million (comprised of gross unrealized capital gains of $949 million and
gross unrealized losses of $90 million) at December 31, 2002. Of the net unrealized capital gains at
December 31, 2003, $326 million relate to assets supporting discontinued products and $176 million relate
to experience-rated products. Of the net unrealized capital gains at December 31, 2002, $295 million relate
to assets supporting discontinued products and $159 million relate to experience-rated products.

Equity securities reflect net unrealized capital gains of $20 million (comprised of gross unrealized capital
gains of $20 million and gross unrealized losses of $.2 million) at December 31, 2003 compared with net
unrealized capital gains of $2 million (comprised of gross unrealized capital gains of $7 million and gross
unrealized losses of $5 million) at December 31, 2002.

If management believes a decline in the value of a particular investment is temporary, the decline is recorded
as an unrealized loss in Shareholders’ Equity. If the decline is determined to be *‘other-than-temporary”, the
carrying value of the investment is written down and a realized capital loss is recorded in the Consolidated
Statement of Income consistent with the guidance of FAS No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in
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Debt and Equity Securities. The Company’s impairment analysi.s is discussed in more detail in ““Capital Gains
and Losses” below. As of December 31, the amount of gross unrealized losses and related fair value, by
investment type included in our Shareholders’ Equity were as follows:

2003 2002
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized

( Millions) Value Losses Value Losses
Debt securities:

Supporting discontinued and experienced-rated products $ 563.3 $15.2 $ 4954 $54.3

Supporting remaining producis 1,497.2 24.2 804.9 35.8
Total $2,060.5 $39.4 $1,300.3 $90.1
Equity securities: ‘

Supporting discontinued and experienced-rated products bl 4.3 $ .1 8 7.5 $ 4.2

Supporting remaining products 1 1 1.2 4
Total B 4.4 $ .2 8 8.7 $ 4.6

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, debt and equity securities which were non-investment grade and non-
rated represented approximately 8.6% and 5.9%, respectively, of the total debt and equity security portfolio
(2.3% and 1.5%, respectively, related to non-investment grade and non-rated debt and equity securities
supporting experience-rated and discontinued products at December 31, 2003 and 2002) and approxi-
mately 23.5% and 55.9%, respectively, of total unrealized losses related to securities which were non-
investment grade and non-rated (3.8% and 33.6%, respectively, related to securities supporting experience-
rated and discontinued products).

At December 31, 2003, the amount of unrealized losses and related fair value for debt and equity securities
in an unrealized loss position for greater than twelve months were $11 million and $139 million,
respectively, and such amounts were $59 million and $416 million, respectively, at December 31, 2002.
Based on the Company’s evaluation of these investments during 2003 and 2002, no other-than-temporary
impairments were deemed to have occurred. The Company had no material unrealized losses on individual
debt or equity securities at December 31, 2003 or 2002. Refer to Note 7 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for further information.

The maturity dates for debt securities in an unrealized loss position as of December 31, were as follows:

2003
Supporting discontinued
and experience-rated Supporting remaining
products products Total
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
(Millions) Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
Due to mature:
Less than one year $ 4.3 $ .1 $ 401 $ — $ 444 $ .1
One year through five years 41.1 2.8 452.6 1.7 493.7 4.5
After five years through ten years 131.7 1.7 316.5 3.4 448.2 5.1
Greater than ten years 363.8 10.4 325.6 13.4 689.4 . 23.8
Mortgage-backed securities 22.4 2 362.4 5.7 384.8 5.9
Total $563.3 $15.2 $1,497.2 $24.2 $2,060.5 $39.4
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2002

Supporting discontinued

and experience-rated Supporting remaining
products products Total
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
(Millions) Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
Due to mature:
Less than one year $ 255 $ 4.6 $ 279 $ 1.7 $ 53.4 $ 6.3
One year through five years 30.5 - 3.6 216.9 5.3 247.4 8.9
After five vears through ten years 47.7 5.4 198.9 9.5 246.6 14.9
Greater than ten years 391.7 40.7 350.7 19.3 742.4 60.0
Mortgage-backed securities — — 10.5 — 10.5 —
Total $495.4 $54.3 $804.9 $35.8 $1,300.3 $90.1

The Company has classified its debt and equity securities as available for sale and carries them at fair value.
Fair values for such securities are based on quoted market prices. Non-traded debt securities are piiced
independently by a third-party vendor and non-traded equity securities are priced based on an internal
analysis of the investment’s financial statements and cash flow projections. The carrying value of non-traded
debt and equity securities as of December 31, were as follows:

2003 2002
Debt Equity Debt Equity
(Millions) : Securities Securities Total Securities Securities Total
Supporting discontinued and
experience-rated products $389.1 $31.2 $420.3  $531.8 $11.2 $543.0
Supporting remaining products ) 15.1 18.4 33.5 19.9 7.3 27.2
Total non-traded securities $404.2 $49.6 $453.8  $551.7 $18.5 $570.2

Capital Gains and Losses

The Company periedically reviews its debt and equity securities to determine whether a decline in fair value
below the carrying value is other than temporary. If a decline in market value is considered other than
temporary, the cost basis /carrying amount of the security is written down and the amount of the write-down is
included in earnings. The Company analyzes all relevant facts and circumstances for each investment when
performing this analysis, in accordance with the guidance of FAS No. 115 and the Securities and Exchange
Commission’s Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 59, Accounting for Noncurrent Marketable Equity Securities. The
available guidance on the determination of whether a decline in the value of an investment is other-than-
temporary requires management to exercise significant diligence and judgment.

Among the factors considered in evaluating whether a decline is other-than-temporary, management
considers whether the decline in fair value results from a change in the quality of the investment security
itself, whether the decline results from a downward movement in the market as a whole, the prospects for
realizing the carrying value of the security based on the investee’s current and short-term prospects for
recovery and other factors. For unrealized losses deemed to be the result of market conditions (e.g.,
increasing interest rates, volatility due to conditions in the overall market, etc.) or industry-related events, the
Company delermines if there exists an expectation for a reasonable market recovery and whether
management has the intent and ability to hold the investment until maturity or market recovery is realized. In
such a case, an other-than-temporary impairment is generally not recognized.

The Company identifies other-than-temporary losses based on the valuation of an investment, including in-
house credit analyst expectations of future performance, the current market environment and current market
values. Based on the Company’s evaluation, if any factors reviewed, individually or in combination, indicate
that a decline in fair value below an investment’s carrying value is other-than-temporary, the Company
records an impairment charge in earnings. '
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The risks inherent in assessing the impairment of an investment include the risk that market factors may
differ from the Company’s expectations; facts and circumstances factored into our assessment may change
with the passage of time; or the Company may decide to subsequently sell the investment.

For 2003, net realized capital gains were $65 million ($42 million after tax) and included net investment
write-downs of $4 million ($3 million after tax). The majority of these impairments related to the energy
sector and asset backed securities. For 2002, net realized capital gains were $34 million ($22 million after
tax) and included net investment write-downs of $83 million ($54 million after tax). The majority of these
impairments were taken in the telecommunications and transportation sectors. Throughout 2002, the market
values of telecommunication companies and assets declined precipitously, resulting in the bankrupicy of
numerous companies and the Company’s decision to impair these investments. Also, during 2002,
impairments were taken in the transportation sector as the market values of companies in the airline industry
declined significantly as a result of widespread financial difficulties. For 2001, net realized capital gains were
$96 million ($74 million after tax) and included net investment write-downs of $49 million ($32 million
after tax). In 2001, the majority of the impairment losses recognized were taken in the telecommunications
sector as the market values of high-yield telecommunication companies declined primarily as a result of their
inability to raise capital.

Mortgage Loans

The Company’s mortgage loan investments, net of impairment reserves, supported the following types of

products:

(Millions ) ‘ 2003 2002
Supporting discontinued products § 6267 $ 7T63.2
Supporting experience-rated products 321.3 387.6
Supporting remaining products 503.2 622.4
Total mortgage loans $1,451.2 $1,773.2

The morigage loan portfolio balance represented 8% and 9% of the Company’s total invested assets at
December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Problem, restructured and potential problem loans included in
mortgage loans were $85 million at December 31, 2003 and $51 million at December 31, 2002, of which
89% at December 31, 2003 and 82% at December 31, 2002 support discontinued and experience-rated
products. Specific impairment reserves on these loans were $19 million at December 31, 2003 and
$11 million at December 31, 2002. Refer to Notes 2 and 7 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for additional information.

At December 31, 2003 scheduled mortgage loan principal repayments were as follows:

{Millions)

2004 8 99.1
2005 71.4
2006 . 133.0
2007 228.6
2008 43.6
Thereafter ' 894.4

Risk Management and Market-Sensitive Instruments

The Company manages interest rate risk by seeking to maintain a tight match between the durations of the
Company’s assets and liabilities where appropriate, while credit risk is managed by seeking to maintain high
average quality ratings and diversified sector exposure within the debt securities portfolio. In connection with
its investment and risk management objectives, the Company also uses financial instruments whose market
value is at least partially determined by, among other things, levels of or changes in interest rates (short-term
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or long-term ), duration, prepayment rates, ,ec'luity markets or credit ratings /spreads. The Company’s use of
these derivatives is generally limited to. hedging purposes and has principally consisted of using inlerest rate
swap agreements, forward contracts and futures contracts. These instruments, viewed separately, subject the
Company to varying degrees of interest rate, equity price and credit risk. However, when used for hedging,
the expectation is that these instruments would reduce overall risk. Refer to “‘Liquidity and Capital
Resources — Long-term Debt” and Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional
information.

The Company regularly evaluates the risk of market-sensitive instruments by examining, among other things,
levels of or changes in interest rates (short-term or long-term), duration, prepayment rates, equity markets
or credit ratings /spreads. The Company also regularly evaluates the appropfiateness of investments relative
to its management-approved investment guidelines (and operates within those guidelines) and the business
objective of the portfolios.

The risks associated with investments supporting experience-rated pension and annuity products in the Large
Case Pensions business are assumed by those contractholders and not by the Company (subject to, among
other things, certain minimum guarantees ). Anticipated future losses associated with investments supporting
discontinued fully guaranteed large case pension products are provided for in the reserve for anticipated
future losses (refer to “‘Large Case Pensions — Discontinued Products’).

Management also reviews, on a quarterly basis, the impact of hypothetical net losses in the Company’s
consolidated near-term financial position, results of operations and cash flows assuming certain reasonably
possible changes in market rates and prices were to occur. The potential effect of interest rate risk on near-
term net income, cash flow and fair value was determined based on cdmmonly used models. The models
project the impact of interest rate changes on a wide range of factors, including duration, prepayment, put
options and call options. Fair value was estimated based on the net present value of cash flows or duration
estimates using a representative set of likely future interest rate scenarios. The assumptions used were as
follows: an immediate increase of 100 basis points in interest rates (which the Company believes represents
a moderately adverse scenario and is approximately equal to the historical annual volatility of interest rate
movements for the Company’s intermediate-term available-for-sale debt securities) and an immediate
decrease of 25% in prices for domestic equity securities.

Based on the Company’s overall exposure to interest rate risk and equity price risk, the Company believes
that these changes in market rates and prices would not materially affect the consolidated near-term financial
position, results of operations or cash flows of the Company as of December 31, 2003.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash Flows

Generally, the Company meets its operating requirements by maintaining appropriate levels of liquidity in its
investment portfolio and using overall cash flows from premiums, deposits and income received on
investments. The Company monitors the duration of its debt securities portfolio (which is highly marketable )
and mortgage loans, and executes its purchases and sales of these investments with the objective of having
adequate funds available to satisfy the Company’s maturing Habilities. Overall cash flows are used primarily
for claim and benefit payments, contract withdrawals and operating expenses.

Cash flows provided by operating activities were approximately $371 million for 2003 and reflect the impact
of changes in insurance reserves related to the Large Case Pensions business segment of $289 million, which
are included in operating activities but are funded from sales of investments which impact cash flows from
investing activities. Uses of operating cash also reflect the payment of approximately $262 million from
estimated reserves the Company held for health members that lapsed during 2003. This was partially offset
by the collection of an estimated $30 million of premiums receivable for these lapsed members. Cash flows
used for operating activities also reflect approximately $174 million for payments related to severance and
facilities reserves and $245 million for voluntary pension contributions. Refer to the ‘“‘Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows” for additional information.
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The Company is expecting continued improvement in 2004'0perating cash flow. The Company expects
operating cash flows to be more in line with net income levels, excluding the impact of changes in insurance
reserves related to the Large Case Pensions business. Payments in 2004 for members that lapsed during
2003 and payments related to severance and facilities reserves will be significantly less than such payments
in 2003. On October 24, 2003, the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Florida approved the
Physician Class Action Settlement and the Company anticipales making cash payments required in
connection with this settlement in the second half of 2004, based on the resolution of appeals filed (refer to
“Executive Summary’’ for more information). The Company also intends to make voluntary pension
contributions of $245 million in 2004 to reduce the difference between the fair value of plan assets and the
pension benefit obligation, allocate funds to share repurchase programs and invest in its business by funding
internal growth. The Company may also make certain acquisitions (refer to ‘‘Executive Summary’’).

Dividends

On September 26, 2003, the Board declared an annual cash dividend of $.04 per common share to
shareholders of record at the close of business on November 14, 2003. The dividend was paid on
December 1, 2003. The Board reviews the Company’s common stock dividend annually, Among the factors
considered by the Board in determining the amount of the dividend are the Company’s results of operations
and the capital requirements, growth and other characteristics of its businesses.

Financings, Financing Capacity and Capitalization

At December 31, 2003, the Company’s borrowings consisted of $1.6 billion of long-term senior notes and
there was no short-term debt outstanding. The Company’s total debt to capital ratio (total debt divided by
total debt and shareholders’ equity, adjusted for unrealized gains or losses on available-for-sale investment
securities) was 17.4% at December 31, 2003 (refer to reconciliation of shareholders” equity below). Refer
to Note 15 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

(Millions) 2003
Total Shareholders’ Equity $7,924.0
Adjustments: net unrealized gains on available-for-sale investment securities (287.6)
Adjusted Shareholders’ Equity $7,636.4
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The ratings of Aetna Inc. and its subsidiaries follow:

Rating Agencies

Moody’s
Investors Standard
A.M. Best Fitch Service & Poor’s
Aetna Inc. (senior debt)
October 29, 2003 * BBB+ Baa3 BBB
February 26, 2004(1) ‘ bbb  BBB+ Baa2 BBB
Aetna Inc. (commercial paper)
October 29, 2003 * F2 P3 A2
February 26, 2004(1) AMB -2 F2 P2 A2
Aetna Life Insurance Company (“ALIC”)
(financial strength) v
October 29, 2003 A— A+ A3 A—
February 26, 2004(1) A A+ A2 A—

* Nonrated by the agency.

(1) A.M. Best has the ratings on outlook-stable. Fitch has the Aetna Inc. senior debt and ALIC ratings on outlook-
stable. Moody’s has the ratings on outlook-stable. Standard & Poor’s has the Aetna Inc. senior debt and ALIC
ratings on outlook-positive.

The Company continually monitors existing and alternative financing sources to support its capital and
liquidity needs, including, but not limited to, debt issuance, preferred or common stock issuance and pledging
or selling of assets.

Long-term Debt

In 2001, the Company filed a shelf registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission to
sell debt securities, from time to time, up to a total of $2 billion, with the amount, price and terms to be
determined at the time of the sale. In 2001, the Company issued $900 million of senior notes under this
shelf registration statement consisting of $450 million of 7.375% senior notes due in 2006 and
$450 million of 7.875% senior notes due in 2011. Also in 2001, the Company issued, under this shelf
registration statement, an additional $700 million of 8.5% senior notes due in 2041. Net proceeds from
these issuances totaled approximately $1.6 billion and were used to reduce outstanding commercial paper
borrowings.

In December 2001, the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement to convert the fixed rate of
8.5% on $350 million of its senior notes to a variable rate of three-month LIBOR plus 159.5 basis points
(approximately 2.77% at December 31, 2003). In December 2002, the Company also entered into an
interest rate swap agreement to convert the fixed rate of 8.5% on an additional $200 million of its senior
notes to a variable rate of three-month LIBOR plus 254.0 basis points (approximately 3.71% at
December 31, 2003). As a result of these swap agreements, the Company’s effective interest rate on its
long-term debt was 6.28% during 2003. In accordance with the Company’s accounting policy for fair value
hedges, the change in the fair value of the interest rate swaps and the loss or gain on the hedged senior notes
attributable to the hedged interest rate risk are recorded in current period earnings. No material changes in
value occurred during the year ended December 31, 2003. Because the terms of the interest rate swap
agreements match the terms of the senior notes, the gain or loss on the swaps and the senior notes will
generally be offsetting. The swap agreements contain bilateral credit protection covenants which, depending
on credit ratings, obligate each party to post collateral equal to the fair value of the swaps. As of February 25,
2004, the Company was not required to post collateral.

Short-term Debt

The Company has significant short-term liquidity supporting its businesses. The Company uses short-term
borrowings from time to time to address timing differences between cash receipts and disbursements. There
were no short-term borrowings outstanding during 2003. The Company’s short-term borrowings consist of a
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commercial paper program that relies on backup revolving credit facilities, which together provide for an
aggregate borrowing capacity of $800 million. The Company’s credit facilities consist of a $300 million
credit facility that terminates in November 2004 and a $500 million credit facility that terminates in
November 2005.

These facilities contain financial covenants. Under the terms of its credit facilities, the Company is required to
maintain a minimum level of shareholders’ equity, excluding net unrealized capital gains and losses, as of
each fiscal quarter end. The required minimum level is increased by 50% of the Company’s consolidated net
income each quarter beginning with the quarter ending March 31, 2003, and is decreased by up to
$150 million for certain non-recurring after-tax charges (“‘excluded charges™) taken after September 30,
2002 and on or before December 31, 2003. At December 31, 2003, the Company met ils required
minimum level of approximately $5.4 billion. The Company is also required to maintain its ratio of total debt
to consolidated earnings as of each fiscal quarter end at or below 3.0. For this purpose, consolidated earnings
equals, for the period of four consecutive quarters, net income plus interest expense, income tax expense,
depreciation expense, amortization expense, certain excluded charges taken on or before December 31,
2003 and any extraordinary gains or losses. The Company met this requirement at December 31, 2003.

Failure to meet the financial covenants would affect both the Company s ablhty to borrow under the facilities
and the commercial paper program.

Common Stock Transactions

On January 30, 2004, the Board of Directors’ Committee on Compensation and Organization approved a
grant to employees of approximately 3.6 million stock options to purchase common shares of the Company at
$77.50. The January 30, 2004 grants will be 100% vested by December 31, 2004. On February 27,
2003, the Board of Directors’ Committee on Compensation and Organization approved a grant to employees
of approximately 5 million stock options to purchase common shares of the Company at $41.88 per share.
The February 27, 2003 grants will become 100% vested three years from the grant date, with one-third of
the options vesting each year. During 2003, the Company issued approximately 10.2 million shares of
common stock for benefit plans, including approximately 9.6 million shares related to stock option exercises.

On June 28, 2002, the Board -authorized a share repurchase program for the repurchase of up to 5 million
shares of common stock (not to exceed an aggregate purchase price of $250 million). Under this
authorization, the Company repurchased 4.8 million shares of common stock at a cost of $250 million
(3.3 million shares of common stock at a cost of $189 million were repurchased during the first six months
of 2003 ), completing this share repurchase program. On June 27, 2003, the Board authorized a new share
repurchase program for the repurchase of up to 7.5 million shares of common stock (not to exceed an
aggregate purchase price of $500 million). During the third and fourth quarters of 2003, the Company
repurchased 4.2 million shares of common stock at a cost of $249 million under this authorization. On
December 5, 2003, the Board authorized a new share repurchase program for the repurchase of up to
10 million shares of common stock (not to exceed an aggregate purchase price of $750 million), replacing
the June 27, 2003 authorization. During the fourth quarter of 2003, the Company repurchased .1 million
shares of common stock at a cost of $7 million under this authorization. The Company intends to continue
buying shares utilizing available cash, including proceeds from employee stock option exercises. ‘

For the full year 2003, the Company had weighted average common shares, including common share
equivalents, of approximately 158 million (refer to Note 5 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Company does not have any guarantees or other off-balance sheet arrangements that the Company
believes, based on historical experience and current business plans, are reasonably likely to have a material
impact on results of operations, financial condition or cash flows. Refer to Note 20 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements for more detail on the Company’s guarantee arrangements as of December 31, 2003.
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Contractual Obligations

At December 31, 2003, payments required by the Company relating to contractual obligations were as
follows:

Payments due by period

Less than 1.3 3.5 More than
(Millions) Total 1 year years years 5 years
Long-term debt obligations (1) $4,167.0 $128.1 $ 678.6 $1899 $3,170.4
Operating lease obligations (2) ‘ 464.5 133.7 176.2 95.9 58.7
Purchase obligations(3) 505.4 278.8 193.8 27.8 5.0
Other long-term liabilities (4) < ' 340.5 245.0 57.1 24.8 13.6
Total $5,477.4 $785.6 $1,105.7 $338.4  $3,247.7

(1) The payments for each of the periods presented do not consider the Company’s interest rate swap
agreements.

(2) The Company did not have any capital lease obligations as of December 31, 2003.

(3) Purchase obligations represent payments required by the Company under material agreements to
purchase goods or services where all significant terms are specified, including: quantities to be
purchased, price provisions and the timing of the transaction. Future claim payments to health care
providers or pharmacies are not included since certain of the above terms are unable to be determined

" (e.g., the timing and volume of future services provided under fee-for-service arrangements or what
future membership levels will be for capitated arrangements are not known at December 31, 2003).
The Company included commitments to fund certain of its investments in equity limited partnerships
and commercial mortgage loans totaling approximately $279 million at December 31, 2003.

(4) Payments for other long-term liabilities excludes Separate Account liabilities of approximately
$11.9 billion. Separate Account liabilities represent funds maintained to meet specific investment
objectives of contract holders who bear the investment risk in the Large Case Pensions business. These
liabilities are supported by assets that are legally segregated and are not subject to claims that arise out
of any other business of the Company. Such assets are identified separately in the Consolidated Balance
Sheet. Payments for other long-term kabilities also excludes future cash flows related to certain
insurance liabilities due to the uncertainty with respect to the timing of related cash flows. Also,
payments for other long-term liabilities excludes approximately $1.3 billion of liabilities which do not
necessarily represent future cash payments required by the Company, including liabilities for the
Company’s pension and other post-retirement plans which are funded from assets maintained by the
plans and deferred gains associated with the lease payment structure for one of the Company’s facilities.
Payment for other long-term liabilities includes anticipated voluntary pension contributions to the
Company’s defined benefit pension plan of $245 million within the less than 1 year category.

Effective September 15, 2003, the Company’s leasing program with an independent third party grantor trust
(primarily for the lease of a corporate aircraft and certain office furniture) was terminated. The third party
grantor trust was dissolved and the Company purchased the assets for approximately $49 million cash. Prior
o September 15, 2003, this arrangement was classified as an operating lease under 'existing accounting
requirements, and therefore the related assets and liabilities were not included in the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheet. Accordingly, the table above no longer includes lease payments related to this
leasing program.

Restrictions on Certain Payments by the Company

In addition to general state law restrictions on payments of dividends and other distributions to shareholders
applicable to all corporations, HMOs and insurance companies are subject to further state regulations that,
among other things, may require those companies to maintain certain levels of equity, and restrict the amount
of dividends and other distributions that may be paid to their parent corporations. These regulations are not
directly applicable to Aetna Inc., as a holding company, since it is not an HMO or insurance company. The
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additional regulations applicable to Aetna Inc.’s HMO and instrance company subsidiaries are not expected
to affect the ability of Aetna Inc. to service its debt, meet its other financing obligations or pay dividends, or
the ability of any of Aetna Inc.’s subsidiaries to service debt or other financing obligations, if any. Under
regulatory requirements, the amount of dividends that may be paid to Aetna Inc. by its domestic insurance
and HMO subsidiaries at December 31, 2003 without prior approval by state regulatory authorities is
approximately $480 million in the aggregate.

Aetna Inc. derives dividends from its subsidiaries for liquidity to meet its requirements, which include the
payment of interest on debt, shareholder dividends, share repurchase programs, investments in new
businesses, maintaining appropriate levels of capitalization in its legal entity operating subsidiaries and other
purposes as considered necessary. Excess capital at operating subsidiaries above targeted and /or regulatory
capital levels are periodically remitted to the Aetna Inc. as allowed by regulatory requirements.

During 2003, Aetna Inc. received approximately $1.2 billion in net dividends from its operating subsidiaries.
Uses of cash of approximately $468 million included acquisitions, interest payments on debt, shareholder
dividends, pension plan contributions and share repurchases (net of stock option proceeds). At Decem-
ber 31, 2003, Aetna Inc. has approximately $1.1 billion in cash and short term investments for these

purposes.

Solvency Regulation

The National Association of Insurance Commissioners (“NAIC”) utilizes risk-based capital (“RBC’")
standards for life insurance companies that are designed to identify weakly capitalized companies by
comparing each company’s adjusted surplus to its required surplus (“RBC ratio”}. The RBC ratio is
designed to reflect the risk profile of life insurance companies. Within certain ratio ranges, regulators have
increasing authority to take action as the RBC ratio decreases. There are four levels of regulatory action,
ranging from requiring insurers to submit a comprehensive plan to the state insurance commissioner to
requiring the state insurance commissioner to place the insurer under regulatory control. At December 31,
2003, the RBC ratio of each of the Company’s primary insurance subsidiaries was above the level that would
require regulatory action. The RBC framework described above for insurers has been extended by the NAIC
to health organizations, including HMOs. Although not all states had adopted these rules at December 31,
2003, at that date, each of the Company’s active HMOs had a surplus that exceeded either the applicable
state net worth requirements or, where adopted, the levels that would require regulatory action under the
NAIC’s RBC rules. External rating agencies use their own RBC standards as part of determining a company’s
rating.

Critical Accounting Policies

The accounting policies described below are those the Company considers critical in preparing its
Consolidated Financial Statements. These policies include significant estimates made by management using
information available at the time the estimates are made. However, as described below, these estimates could
change materially if different information or assumptions were used. Also, these estimates may not ultimately
reflect the actual amounts of the final transactions that occur. The descriptions below are summarized and
have been simplified for clarity. A more detailed description of the significant accounting policies used by the
Company in preparing its financial statements is included in Note 2 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Revenue Recognition (Allowance for Estimated Terminations and Uncollectable Accounts)

The Company’s revenue is principally derived from premiums and fees billed to customers in the Health Care
and Group Insurance businesses. In Health Care, revenue is recognized based on customer billings, which
reflect contracted rates per employee and the number of covered employees recorded in Company records at
the time the billings are prepared. Billings are generally sent monthly for coverage during the following
month. In Group Insurance, premium for group life and disability products is recognized as revenue, net of
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allowances for uncollectable accounts, over the term of coverage. Amounts received before the period of
coverage begins-are recorded as unearned premiums.

Health Care billings may be subsequently adjusted to reflect changes in the number of covered employees
due to terminations, etc. These adjustments are known as retroactivity adjustments. The Company estimates
the amount of future retroactivity each period and adjusts the billed revenue accordingly. The estimates are
based on historical trends, premiums billed, the amount of contract renewal activity during the period and
other relevant information. As information regarding actual retroactivity becomes known, the Company
refines its estimates and records any required adjustments at that time. A significant change in the level of
retroactivity would have a significant effect on Health Care’s results of operations.

The Company also estimates the amount of uncollectable. receivables each period and establishes an
allowance for uncollectable amounts. The amount of the allowance is based on the age of unpaid amounts,
information about the creditworthiness of customers, and other relevant information. Estimates of uncollect-
able amounts are revised each period, and changes are recorded in the period they become known. A
significant change in the level of uncollectable amounts would have a significant effect on the Company’s
results of operations.

Health Care and Insurance Liabilities

The Company establishes health care and insurance liabilities for benefit claims that have been reported but
not paid, claims that have been incurred but not reported and future policy benefits earned under insurance
contracts. These reserves and the related benefit expenses are developed using actuarial principles and
assumptions that consider, among other things, historical and projected claim submission patterns, historical
and projected claim processing time, medical cost trends, utilization of health care services, claim inventory
levels, changes in membership and product mix, seasonality and other relevant factors. For Health Care,
because the average life of most health care claims is less than three-months and a large portion of health
care claims are not submitted to the Company until after the end of the quarter in which services are rendered
by providers to members, historical and projected claim submission, processing time and medical cost trends
are key assumptions in the Company’s estimate of health care costs payable. For Group Insurance, the
important factors considered are the level of interest rates, expected investment returns, mortality rates, the
rate that covered individuals suffer disability, and the recovery rate of those with disabilities.

Each period, the Company estimates the relevant factors, based primarily on historical data and uses this
information to determine the assumptions underlying its reserve calculations. Given the extensive degree of
judgment in these estimates, it is possible that estimates could develop either favorably or unfavorably. For
health care costs payable, the reserve balances and the related benefit expenses are highly sensitive to
changes in the assumptions used in the reserve calculations. For example, a 100 basis point change in the
estimated medical cost trend for Commercial Risk products would have changed annual after-tax results by
approximately $55 million for 2003. Any adjustments to prior period reserves are included in the benefit
expense of the period in which the need for the adjustment becomes known. Due to the considerable
variability of health care costs, adjustments to health reserves occur each quarter and are sometimes
significant. For Group Insurance, and specifically disability reserves, a 100 basis point change in interest
rates would result in approximately a 10 basis point change in the portfolio return rate for assets supporting
these liabilities, due to the long-term nature of disability liabilities and related assets supporting these
liabilities. A 10 basis point change in the portfolio rate assumption would have changed after-tax results by
approximately $2 million for 2003.

The Company discontinued certain Large Case Pensions products in 1993 and established a reserve to cover
losses expected during the runoff period. Since 1993, there have been several adjustments to reduce this
reserve that have increased net income. These adjustments occurred primarily because investment experience
as well as mortality and retirement experience have been better than was prdjected at the time the products
were discontinued. There can be no assurance that adjustments to the discontinued products reserve will
occur in the future or that they will increase net income. Future adjustments could negatively impact
operating earnings.
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In cases where estimated health care and group insurance costs are so high that future losses on a given
product are expected, the Company establishes premium deficiency reserves for the amount of the expected
loss in excess of expected future premiums. Any such reserves established would normally cover expected
losses until the next policy renewal dates for the related policies.

Investment Securities

Investment securities are classified as available for sale and recorded at fair value, and unrealized investment
gains and losses are reflected in shareholders’ equity. Investment income is recorded when earned, and
capital gains and losses are recognized in results of operations when investments are sold. Investments are
reviewed periodically to determine if they have suffered an impairment of value that is considered other than
temporary. If investments are determined to be impaired, an impairment charge is recognized in results of
operations at the date of determination.

Testing for impairment of investments also requires significant management judgment. The identification of
potentially impaired investments, the determination of their fair value and the assessment of whether any
decline in value is other than temporary are the key judgment elements. The discovery of new information
and the passage of time can significantly change these judgments. Revisions of impairment judgments are
made when new information becomes known, and any resulting impairment adjustments are made at that
time.

Defined Benefit Pension and Other Post-Retirement Benefit Plans

The Company sponsors defined benefit pension (*“‘pension”) and other post-retirement benefit (“OPEB™)
plans. Refer to Note 14 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. Major assumptions used in the
accounting for these plans include the expected return on plan assets and the discount rate. Assumptions are
determined based on Company information and market indicators, and are evaluated at each annual
measurement date (September 30). A change in any of these assumptions would have an effect on the
Company’s pension and OPEB plan costs. ‘

The expected return on plan assets assumption considers expected capital market returns over a long term
horizon (i.e., 20 years), inflation rate assumptions and the geomelric average (i.e., compounding) of
historical returns on invested assets. Lower market interest rates and plan asset returns experienced over the
past several years have resulted in declines in plan asset performance and funded status. As a result, the
expected return on pension plan assets assumption was reduced to 8.75% (from '9.00% used for 2003
expense recognition } and the expected return on OPEB plan assets assumption was reduced to 6.50% (from
7.00% used for 2003 expense recognition ). The 8.75% expected return on plan assets is based on an asset
allocation assumption of 60% — 70% U.S. and international equity securities, 20% — 30% fixed income
securities and 6% — 15% real estate and other assets. The Company’s asset managers regularly review the
actual asset allocation and periodically rebalance our investments to our targeted allocation when considered
appropriate. At December 31, 2003, our actual asset allocation was consistent with our asset allocation
assumption. A one-percentage point change (increase or decrease) in the expected return on plan assets
assumption would decrease /increase annual pension costs by approximately $23 million after tax and would
decrease /increase annual OPEB costs by approximately $1 million after tax.

The discount rates used for the Company’s pension and OPEB plans are set by benchmarking against
investment-grade corporate bonds. A lower discount rate increases the present value of benefit obligations
and increases costs. The Company reduced its assumed discount rate to 6.25% (from 6.75% used at the
previous measurement date ), reflecting a reduction in corporate long-term bond yields. A one-percentage
point decrease in the assumed discount rate would increase annual pension costs by approximately
$32 million after tax and would increase annual OPEB costs by approximately $1 million after tax.

The declining interest rate environment and varying asset returns compared to expectations in 2001, 2002
and 2003 resulted in an accumulated actuarial loss of $1.1 billion at December 31, 2003. In accordance
with pension accounting rules, $430 million is excluded when determining 2004 pension expense. The
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remaining actuarial loss of $706 million at December 31, 2003 is amortized over the remaining service life

of our pension plan participants. Our expense related to actuarial losses in 2004 will be approximately
$64 million.

The changes to the Company’s expected return on plan assets and discount rate discussed above will not
impact required cash contributions to the pension and OPEB plans, as the Company has met all minimum
funding requirements as set forth by the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA™)
and further, will not have a minimum funding requirement in 2004. However, the Company intends to make
voluntary pension contributions of $245 million in 2004.

Goodwill and Other Acquired Intangible Assets

The Company has made previous acquisitions that included a significant amount of goodwill and other
intangible assets. Effective January 1, 2002, goodwill is no longer amortized but was subject lo a transitional
impairment test upon adoption of FAS No. 142 as well as an annual (or under certain circumstances more
frequent) impairment test based on its estimated fair value. Other intangible assets that meet certain criteria
continue to be amortized over their useful lives and are also subject to an impairment test, based on estimated
fair value. For these evaluations, the Company is using an implied fair value approach, which uses a
discounted cash flow analysis and other valuation methodologies. These evaluations use many assumptions
and estimates in determining an impairment loss, including certain assumptions and estimates related to
future earnings. If the Company does not achieve its earnings objectives, the assumptions and estimates
underlying these goodwill impairment evaluations could be adversely effected.

New Accounting Standards

Refer to Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of recently issued accounting
standards. The Company’s adoption of these new accounting standards did not have a malerial effect on the
Company’s financial position or results of operations.

Regulatory Environment
General

Our operations are subject to comprehensive state and federal regulation throughout the United States in the
jurisdictions in which we do business. Supervisory agencies, including state health, insurance, managed care
and securities departments, have broad authority to:

* Grant, suspend and revoke licenses to transact business;

* Regulate many aspects of the products and services we offer;

¢ Assess fines, penalties and /or sanctions;

* Monitor our solvency and reserve‘ adequacy; and

* Regulate our investment activities on the basis of quality, diversification and other quantitative criteria.

Our operations and accounts are subject to examination at regular intervals by these agencies. In addition,
our current and past business practices are subject to review by other state and federal authorities. These
reviews may result, and have resulted, in changes to or clarifications of cur business practices, fines,
penalties or other sanctions.

In addition, the federal and state governments continue to enact and seriously consider many legislative and
regulatory proposals that have or would materially impact various aspects of the health care system. Many of
these changes are described below. While certain of these measures would adversely affect us, at this time we
cannot predict the extent of this impact.
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Health Care Regulation ' ' “
General

The federal and stale governments have adopted laws and regulations that govern our business activities in
various ways, These laws and regulations restrict how we conduct our businesses and result in additional
burdens and costs to us. Areas of governmental regulation include:

® Licensure

® Policy forms, including plan design and disclosures
* Premium rates and rating methodologies

s Underwriting rules and procedures

s Benefit mandates

¢ Eligibility requirements

® Service areas

* Market conduct

» Utilization review activities

* Payment of claims, including timeliness and accuracy of payment
® Member rights and responsibilities

» Sales and marketing activities

* Quality assurance procedures

* Disclosure of medical and other information

* Provider rates of payment

* Surcharges on provider payments

* Provider contract forms

* Delegation of risk and other financial arrangements
* Agent licensing

* Financial condition (including reserves) and

» Corporate governance

These laws and regulations are subject to different interpretations in each jurisdiction.

States generally require health insurers and HMOs to obtain a certificate of authority prior to commencing
operations. To establish a new insurance company or an HMO in a state, we generally would have to obtain
such a certificate. The time necessary to obtain such a certificate varies from state to state. Each health
insurer and HMO must file periodic financial and operating reports with the states in which it does business.
In addition, health insurers and HMOs are subject to state examination and periodic license renewal.

Group Pricing and Underwriting Restrictions

Pricing and underwriting regulation by states limit the flexibility of Aetna and other health insurers relative to
their underwriting and rating practices, particularly for small employer groups. These laws vary by state. In
general they apply to certain business segments and limit the ability of the Company to set prices or renew
business, or both, based on specific characteristics of the group or the group’s prior claim experience.

Many of these laws limit the differentials in rates carriers may charge between new and renewal business,
and /or between groups based on differing characteristics. They may also require that carriers disclose to
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customers the basis on which the carrier establishes new business and renewal rates, restrict the application
of pre-existing condition exclusions- and limit the ability of a carrier to terminate coverage of an employer
group. :

The federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountabﬂiiy Act of 1996, known as HIPAA, generally
requires carriers that write small business in any market to accept for coverage any small employer group
applying for a basic and standard plan of benefits. HIPAA also mandates guaranteed renewal of health care
coverage for most employer groups, subject to certain defined exceptions, and provides for specified
employer notice periods in connection with product and market withdrawals. The law further limits exclusions
based on preexisting conditions for individuals covered under group policies to the extent the individuals had
.prior creditable coverage within a specified time frame. HIPAA is structured as a “floor” requirement,
allowing states latitude to enact more stringent rules governing each ‘of these restrictions. For example,
certain states have modified HIPAA’s small group definition (2-50 employees) to include groups of one.

In addition, a number of states provide for a voluntary reinsurance mechanism to spread small group risk
among participating carriers. In a small number of states, participation in this pooling mechanism is
mandatory for.all small group carriers. In general Aetna has elected not to participaté in voluntary pools, but
even in these states the Company may be subject to certain supplememal assessments related to the state’s
small group experlence

HIPAA Administrative Simplification; Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act

The regulations under the Administrative Simplification section of HIPAA also impose a number of additional
obligations on issuers of health insurance coverage and health benefit plan sponsors. The law authorizes the
United States Department of Health and Human Services, known as HHS; -to issue standards for
administrative simplification, as well as privacy and security of medical records and other individually
identifiable health information. HIPAA Administrative Simplification requirements apply to self-funded group
health plans, health insurers and HMOs, health care clearinghouses and health care providers who transmit
health information electronically (‘‘covered entities”” ). Regulations adopted to implement HIPAA Adminis-
trative Simplification also: require that business associates acting for or on behalf of these HIPAA-covered
entities be contractually obligated to meet HIPAA standards. The Admmlstratlve Simplification regulations
estabhsh 51gn1ﬁcant criminal penalties and cwll sanctions for noncompliance,

Although HIPAA Administrative Simplification was intended ultimately to reduce administrative expenses and
burdens faced within the health care industry, the law has required significant and, in some cases, costly
changes in business practices and operatlons We expect that we wﬂl incur additional expenses to comply with
these regulations in future periods. ’

HHS has released rules mandating the use of new standard formats with respect to certain health care
transactions (e.g., health care claims information, plan eligibility, referral certification and authorization,
claims status, plan enrollment and disenrollment, payment and remittance advice, plan premium payments
and coordination of benefits). HHS also has published rules requiring the use of standardized code sets and
unique identifiers for employers and providers. We were required to comply with the transaction and code set
standards by October 16, 2003; we have met all relevant requirements. We are required to comply with the
employer identifier rules by July 30, 2004 and provider identifier rules by -May 2007.

HHS also sets ‘standards relating to the privacy of individually identifiable health information. In general,
these regulations restrict the use and disclosure of medical records and other individually identifiable health
information held by health plans and other affected entities in any form, whether communicated electroni-
cally, on paper or orally, subject only to limited exceptions. In addition, the regulations provide patients new
rights to understand and control how their health information is used. These regulations do not preempt more
stringent state laws and regulations that may apply to us. 'HHS has also published security regulations
designed to protect member health information from unauthorized use or disclosure. We are required to
comply with these security regulations by April 21, 2005.

33




In addition, provisions of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act generally require insurers to provide customers with
notice regarding how their personal health and financial information is used and the opportunity to “opt out’
of certain disclosures before the insurer shares non-public personal information with a non-affiliated third
party. Like HIPAA, this law sets a “floor” standard, allowing states to adopt more stringent requirements
governing privacy protection, The Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act also gives banks and other financial institutions
the ability to affiliate with insurance companies, which may lead to new competitors in the insurance and

health benefits fields.

Legislative and Regulatory Initiatives

There has been a continuing trend of increased health care regulation at both the federal and state levels. The
federal government and many states have enacted or are considering additional legislation or regulation
related to health care plans. Legislation, regulation and initiatives relating to this trend include among other
things, the following:

* Amending or supplementing the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”) to
impose greater requirements on the administration of employer-funded benefit plans or limit the scope of
current ERISA pre-emption, which would among other things expose health plans to ekpanded liability for
punitive and other extra-contractual damages '

* Imposing assessments on (or to be collected by) health plans or health carriers, such as assessments for
insolvency, assessments for uninsured or high-risk pools, assessments for uncompensated care, or
assessments to defray provider medical malpractice insurance costs

¢ Extending malpractice and other liability exposﬁre for decisions made by health plans

* Mandating coverage for certain conditions and/or specified procedures, drugs or devices (e.g. infertility
treatment, experimental pharmaceuticals) ‘

* Prohibiting or limiting certain types of financial arrangements with providers, including among other things
incentives based on utilization of services

¢ Imposing substantial. penalties for failure to pay claims within specified time periods

* Regulating the composition of provider networks, such as any willing provider and pharmacy laws (which
generally provide that providers and pharmacies cannot be denied participation in a managed care plan
where the providers and pharmacies are willing to abide by the terms and conditions of that plan)

¢ Imposing pavment levels for out-of-network care

* Exempting physicians from the antitrust laws that prohibit price fixing, group boycotts and other horizontal
restraints on competition

» Mandating direct access to specialists for patients with chronic conditions, and direct access to OB/GYNs,
chiropractors or other practitioners

* Mandating expanded consumer disclosures and notices
* Mandating expanded coverage for emergency services
¢ Mandating liberalized definitions of medical necessity

* Mandating internal and external grievance and appeal procedures (including expedited decision making
and access to external claim review)

* Enabling the creation of new types of health plans or health carriers, which in some instances would not be
subject to the regulations or restrictions that govern our operations

¢ Allowing individuals and small groups to collectively purchase health care coverage without any other
affiliations ‘

* Restricting health plan claim and related procedures
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* Requiring the application of treatment and financial parity between mental health benefits and medical
benefits within the same health plan

¢ Extending benefits available to workers who lose their jobs and other uninsureds
] Restnotlng or eliminating the use of formularies for prescription drugs

* Making health plans responsﬂ)le for prov1der payments in the event of financial fallure by a capitated
physician group or other 1ntermed1ary

¢ Creating or expandmg state- sponsored ‘health beneﬁt purchasing pools, in which we may be required to
partlclpate :

¢ (reating a smgle payer system where the government oversees of manages the provision of health care
coverage

* Imposing employer or individual health coveragé mandates

It is uncertain whether we can counter the potential adverse effects of such potential legislation or regulation,
including whether we can recoup, through higher premiums or other measures, the increased costs of
mandated benefits or, other increased‘cost's', ‘

We also may be adversely impacted by court and regulatory decisions that expand the interpretations of
existing statutes and regulations or impose medical malpractice or bad faith liability. Among other issues, the
_courts,'including the United States Supreme Court and Federal and state courts, continue to consider cases
addressing the preemptive effect of ERISA on state laws. The United States Supreme Court is scheduled to
hear and decide some cases related to ERISA pre-emption during 2004. In general, limitations to this pre-
emption have the effect of increasing our costs or our liability exposures, or both. Legislative initiatives
discussed above include state legislative activity in several states that, should it result in enacted legislation
that is not preempted by ERISA, could increase our liability exposure and could result in greater state
regulation of our operations. '

Patwnts Rzghts Legislation

Varlous state Ieglslatures and the U.S. Congress continue to debate leglslatlon containing various patient
protection initiatives, including provisions that could expose the Company to unlimited economic damages,
and certain punitive damages, for making-a determination denying benefits or for delaying members’ receipt
of benefits as a result of “medical necessity” and other coverage determinations. The Company cannot
predict whether these measures will be enacted into law in 2004 or what form any such leglslatlon might
take

ERISA

The pr0v151on of services to certain employee beneﬁt plans, mcludmg certain health, group insurance and
large case pensions benefit plans, is subject to ERISA, a complex set of laws and regulations subject to
interpretation and enforcement by the Internal Revenue Service and the Department of Labor (the “DOL”).
ERISA regulates certain aspects of the relationships between us and employers who maintain employee
benefit plans subject to ERISA. Some of our administrative services and other activities may also be subject
to regulation under ERISA. In addition, some states require licensure or registration of companies providing
third-party claims administration services for benefit plans.

DOL regulations under ERISA set standards for claim payment and member appeals along with associated
notice and disclosure requirements. The company has invested significant time and attention to compliance
with these new standards, which represent an additional regulatory burden for the Company.

Large Case Pensions’ products and services are also subject to potential issues raised by certain judicial
interpreiations relating to ERISA. Under those interpretations, together with DOL regulations, the Company
may have ERISA fiduciary duties with respect to certain general account assets held under contracts that are
not guaranteed benefit policies. As a result, certain transactions related to those assets are subject to conflict
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of interest and other restrictions, and the Company must provide certain disclosures to policyholders
annually. The Company must comply with these restrictions or face substantial penalties.

Medicare

In 1997, the federal government passed legislation establishing the Medicare+Choice program (now
renamed ‘“Medicare Advantage’’) that changed the method for determining premiums that the government
pays to HMOs for Medicare members. In general, the new method reduced the premiums payable to us
compared to the old method, although the level and extent of the reductions varied by geographic market and
depended on other factors. The legislation also requires us to pay a “user fee.” Since 1997 the government
made a number of modifications to the payment levels, risk adjustment methodology and user fees under the
Medicare program. As a result of ‘these changes, as well as other factors including .certain Medicare
regulations issued by CMS, we either did not renew our Medicare contracts or reduced service areas in
certain areas in each of 2000 through 2003. However, because of expected -legislative and regulatory
changes, for calendar year 2004 Aetna did not make further service area reductions and added an additional
“point of service” plan offering in two existing service areas. Uncertainty regarding futire reimbursement
levels and other requirements under the Medicare Advantage program make it difficult to predict whether the
Company can continue to participate profitably in the program at iis current level after 2004. However, the
Company is encouraged by funding reforms contained in the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and
Modernization Act of 2003 (the “Medicare Modernization Act)..

The Medicare Modernization Act added out-patient pharmaceutical products as a benefit under Medicare
starting in 2006 and incorporates a number of othér reforms to the Medicare program. Among other
changes, this new law increases Medicare Advantage reimbursement starting in 2004, adds disease
management programs and preventive’ medicine coverage to Medicare, authorizes Health Savings Accounts
(HSAs) for non-Medicare beneficiaries, establishes a drug discount card (for 2004-2005) for Medicare
beneficiaries and permits insurers to provide Medicare benefits through’ regional PPOs. The Company
believes the new law has the potential to expand the role in Medicare for private health plans, although it is
too early to predict the extent of the new law’s effect on our business. The Company recently announced that
it will begin to offer the newly authorized HSAs as an option to its consumer-directed health plans beginning
January 1, 2004. ‘

HMO and Insurance Holding Company Laws

A number of states, including Pennsylvania and Connecticut, regulate affilialed groups of HMOs and insurers
such as us under holding company statutes. These laws may require us and our subsidiaries to maintain
certain levels of equity. Holding company laws and regulations generally require insurance companies and
HMOs within an insurance holding company system to register with the insurance department of each state
where they are domiciled and to file reports with those states’ insurance departments regarding capital
structure, ownership, financial condition, intercompany transactions and general business operations. In
addition, various notice or prior regulatory approval requirements apply to transactions between insurance
companies, HMOs and their affiliates within an insurance holding company system, depending on the size and
nature of the transactions. For information regarding restrictions on certain payments of dividends or other
distributions by HMO and insurance company subsidiaries of our’ company, refer to ““Liquidity and Capital

Resources.”

The holding company laws for the states of domicile of Aetna and its subsidiaries also restrict the ability of
any person to obtain control of an insurance company or HMO without prior regulatory approval. Under those
statutes, without such approval (or an exemption) , NO person may acquire any voting security of an
insurance holding company (such as our parent company, Aetna Inc.) that controls an insurance company or
HMO, or merge with such a holding company, if as a result of such transaction such person would ““control”’
the insurance holding company. ““Control” is generally defined as the direct or indirect power to direct or
cause the direction of the management and policies of a person and is presumed to exist if a person directly
or indirectly owns or controls 10% or more of the voting securities of -another person.
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Guaranty Fund Assessments -

Under guaranty fund laws existing in all states, insurers doing business in those states can be assessed {up to
prescribed limits) for certain obligations of insolvent insurance companies to policyholders and claimants.
Assessments generally are based on a formula relating to the Company’s premiums in the state compared to
the premiums of other insurers. While we historically have recovered more than half of guaranty fund
assessments through statutorily permitted premium tax offsets, significant increases in assessments could
jeopardize future recovery of these assessments. Some states have similar laws relating to HMOs.

Forward-Looking Information /Risk Factors

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (the *“1995 Act”) provides a ‘‘safe harbor™ for
forward-looking statements, so long as (1) those statements are identified as forward-looking, and (2) the
statements are accompanied by meaningful cautionary statements that identify important factors that could
cause actual results to differ materially from those discussed in the statement. We want to take advantage of
these safe harbor provisions.

Certain information contained in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis is forward-looking within the
meaning of the 1995 Act or Securities and Exchange Commission rules. This information includes, but is not
limited to: (1) the information that appears under the heading “2004 Outlook™ in the executive summary
discussion of results of operations and (2) “Total Investments — Risk Management and Market-Sensitive
Instruments”’. Throughout this Management’s Discussion and Analysis, where we use the following words, or
variations of these words and similar expressions, we intend to identify forward-looking statements:

¢ Expects * Projects
¢ Anticipates * Intends
* Plans * Believes
* Seeks ¢ Estimates

Forward-looking statements rely on a number of assumptions concerning future events, and are subject to a
number of significant uncertainties and other factors, many of which are outside our control, that could cause
actual! results to differ materially from those statements. You should not put undue reliance on forward-
looking statements. We disclaim any intention or obligation to update or revise forward-looking statements,
whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

Risk Factors

You should carefully consider each of the following risks and all of the other information set forth in this
Management’s Discussion and Analysis or elsewhere in this report. These risks and other factors may affect
forward-looking statements, including those in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis or made by the
Company elsewhere, such as in investor calls or conference presentations. The risks and uncertainties
described below are not the only ones facing our Company. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently
known to us or that we currently believe to be immaterial may also adversely affect our business.

If any of the following risks and uncertainties develops into actual events, it could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. In that case, the trading price of our
common stock could decline materially.

We are seeking to continue to improve the performance of our health care business by
implementing a number of initiatives; if we do not successfully implement these initiatives,
or if these initiatives do not achieve their objectives, our results could be materially
adversely affected.

Our operating earnings improved significantly in 2002 and 2003, and we continue to implement a number of
strategic and operational initiatives with the goal of further improving the performance of our business. These
initiatives include, among other things, the profitable growth of our health care membership, introduction of
new products and services, new customer market approaches, further improving customer satisfaction,
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further improving the efficiency of operations (including the continuation of business process and system
improvements ), the effective continuation of our efforts to address rising medical costs, continuing to improve
relations with health care providers, and the effective deployment of our capital in support of our strategic and
operational goals. The future performance of our business will depend in large part on our ability to design
and implement these initiatives, including our ability to successfully implement numerous initiatives at the
same time. If we do not successfully implement these initiatives, or if these initiatives do not achieve their
objectives, our results could be adversely affected. Refer to “Executive Summary” for more information.

Our ability to predict and address health care costs and implement appropriate increases in
premium rates affects our profitability.

Our profitability depends in large part on accurately predicting health care costs and on. our ability to
appropriately manage future health care costs through underwriting criteria, product design, negotiation of
favorable provider contracts and medical management programs. The aging of the population and other
demographic characteristics, advances in medical technology and other factors continue to contribute to rising
health care costs. Government-imposed limitations on Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement have also
caused the private sector to bear a greater share of increasing health care costs. Changes in health care
practices, inflation, new technologies, the cost of prescription drugs, direct-to-consumer marketing by
pharmaceutical companies, clusters of high cost cases, changes in the regulatory environment, health care
fraud and numerous other factors affecting the cost of health care are beyond any health plan’s control and
may adversely affect our ability to predict and manage health care costs, as well as our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

We have taken and are taking several actions to address this situation. We continue to be vigilant in our
pricing and have increased premiums for new and renewal business in 2004. Premiums in the health
business are generally fixed for one-year periods. Accordingly, future cost increases in excess of medical cost
projections reflected in pricing typically cannot be recovered in the contract year through higher premiums.
As a result, the Company’s results are particularly sensitive to the price increases it projects in advance of
renewal of the business. There can be no assurances regarding the accuracy of medical cost projections
assumed for pricing purposes and if the rate of increase in medical costs in 2004 were to exceed the levels
projected for pricing purposes, our results would be materially adversely affected.

We face significant competition from other health benefit and other types of companies
which can affect, among other matters, our premium rates and our membership; our
membership can also be affected by industry and economic conditions

We operate in a highly competitive environment and in an industry that is subject to significant changes from
business consolidations, strategic alliances, legislative reform, marketing practices and market pressures.
These factors create pressure to contain premium price increases, despite being faced with increasing medical
costs. Our customer contracts are subject to negotiation as customers seek to contain their costs, and
customers may elect to reduce benefits in order to constrain increases in their benefit costs; such an election
may result in lower premiums for our products, although it may also reduce our health care costs.
Alternatively, our customers may move to a competitor to obtain more favorable premiums.

After experiencing significant membership declines during 2002 and 2003, the Company is taking steps to
begin to increase its membership in 2004. In addition to competitive pressures affecting the ability to obtain
new customers or retain existing customers, premium increases or changes in benefit levels, our ability to
increase membership can be affected by reductions in workforce by existing customers (as it was in 2003)
due to softening general economic conditions. Also, the membership declines we have experienced in recent
prior periods underscore our need to continue to seek to reduce our level of administrative expenses. Refer to
**Executive Summary — 2004 Outlook™ for more information.

We also face the potential of competition from existing or new companies that have not historically been in
the health or group insurance industries. For example, the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act gives banks and other
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financial institutions the ability to affiliate with insurance companies, which may lead to new competitors in
the insurance and health benefits fields.

We hold reserves for expected claims, which are estimated, and these estimates are highly
judgmental; if actual claims exceed reserve estimates, our results could be materially
adversely affected.

Health care costs payable reflects estimates of the ultimate cost of claims that have been incurred but not yet
reported or reported but not yet paid. Health care costs payable are estimated periodically, and any resulting
adjustments are reflected in the current-period operaling results within health care costs. Health care costs
payable are based on a number of factors, including those derived from historical claim experience. A large
portion of health care claims are not submitted to the Company until after the end of the quarter in which
services are rendered by providers to members. As a result, an extensive degree of judgment is used in this
estimation process, considerable variability is inherent in such estimates, and the adequacy of the estimate is
highly sensitive to changes in medical claims payment patterns and changes in medical cost trends (the rate
of increase in medical costs). A worsening (or improvement) of medical cost trend or changes in claim
payment patterns from those that were assumed in estimating health care costs payable at December 31,
2003 would cause these estimates to change in the near term, and such a change could be material. For
example, a 100 basis point change in the estimated medical cost trend for Commercial Risk products would
have changed annual after-tax results for 2003 by approximately $55 million. This estimation process is a
critical accounting policy for the Company. Refer to ““Health Care” and “Critical Accounting Policies” for
more information.

Our profitability may be adversely affected if we are unable to contract with providers on
favorable terms.

Our profitability is dependent in part upon our ability to contract on favorable terms with hospitals, physicians
and other health benefits providers. The failure to maintain or to secure new cost-effective health care
provider contracts may result in a loss in membership or higher medical costs. In addition, our inability to
contract with providers, or the inability of providers to provide adequate care, could adversely affect our
business.

General market conditions affect our investments in debt and equity securities, mortgage
loans and other investments, our income on those investments and our pension expenses.

Generally low levels of interest rates on investments, such as those experienced in United States financial
markets during recent years, have negatively impacted the level of investment income earned by the
Company in recent periods, and such lower levels of investment income would continue if these lower interest
rates were to continue. Financial market conditions also affect our capital gains or losses from investments, as
well as our pension costs.

We are party to a substantial amount of litigation; this litigation and any additional future
litigation may have a material adverse effect on us. '

We are party to a number of lawsuits, certain of which may be purported to be class actions. The majority of
these cases relates to the conduct of our health care business and allege various violations of law. Many of
these cases seek substantial damages (including punitive damages) and may also seek changes in our
practices. We may also be subject to additional litigation in the future. This litigation could materially
adversely affect us, because of the costs of defending these cases, costs of settlement or judgments against us,
or because of changes in our operations that could result from litigation. Refer to Note 20 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for more information.

Our business activities are highly regulated and there are a number of current and planned

initiatives being considered by state and federal governments; government regulation limits
us in the conduct of our business and also subjects us to additional costs in complying with
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the requirements of governmental authorities; further regulation could also materially
adversely affect our business.

Our business is subject lo extensive regulation by state and federal governmental authorities. The federal and
many state governments have enacted or are actively considering legislative and regulatory changes related to
health products. At this time, we are unable to predict the impact of future changes, although we anticipate
that some of these measures, if enacted, could adversely affect health operations through: '

» Affecting premium rates,

* Reducing our ability to manage medical costs,

* Increasing medical costs and operating expenses,
¢ Increasing our exposure to lawsuits,

¢ Regulating levels and permitted lines of business,
¢ Imposing financial assessments, and

¢ Regulating business practices.

Recently, there has been heightened review by these regulators of the managed health care industry’s
business practices, including utilization management and claim payment practices. As one of the largest
national health insurers, we are regularly the subject of regulatory market conduct reviews and several such
reviews currently are pending, some of which may be resolved during 2004. These regulatory reviews could
result in changes to or clarifications of our business practices, and also could result in material fines,
penalties or other sanctions. Our business also may be adversely impacted by court and regulatory decisions
that expand the interpretations of existing statutes and regulations, impose medical or bad faith liability,
increase our responsibilities under ERISA, or reduce the scope of ERISA pre-emption of state law claims.

It is uncertain whether we can recoup, through higher premiums or other measures, the increased costs of
mandated benefits or the other increased costs that may be caused by this legislation or regulation, or by
court and regulatory decisions. For more information regarding these matters, please refer to ““Regulatory
Environment”. '

Success of our business depends, in part, on effective information technology systems and
on continuing to develop and implement improvements in technology.

Our businesses depend in large part on our systems for processing claims and interacting with providers,
employer plan sponsors and members, and our business strategy involves providing customers with easy to
use products that leverage informaltion to meet the needs of those customers. Our information technology
systems require an ongolng commitment of significant resources to maintain and enhance existing systems
(including adequate back up and recovery processes and procedures ), develop new systems, and keep pace
with continuing changes in information processing technology, evolving industry and regulatory standards,
and customer demands. Our success is dependent in large part on maintaining the effectiveness of existing
systems and on implementing improvements and continuing to develop and enhance information systems that
support our business processes in a cost efficient manner.

We obtain certain information technology systems or other services from independent third
parties, and also delegate selected functions to independent practice associations and
specialty service providers; portions of our operations are subject to their performance.

Although we take steps to monitor and control the performance of these independent third parties who
provide services to us or to whom we delegate selected functions, these arrangements may make our
operations vulnerable if those third parties fail to satisfy their obligations to us, whether because of changes in
their own financial condition or other matters outside our control. In recent years, certain third parties to
whom we delegated selected functions, such as independent practice associations and specialty services
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providers, have experienced financial difficulties, including bankruptey, which may subject us to increased
costs and potential network disruptions, and in some cases cause us to incur duplicative claims expense.

Government payors can determine premiums.

In government-funded health programs such as Medicare and Medicaid, the government payor determines
the premium levels. If the government payor reduces the premium levels or increases premiums by less than
our costs increase and we cannot offset these with supplemental premiums and changes in benefit plans, then
we could be materially adversely affected. In addition, premiums for certain federal government employee
groups are subject to retroactive adjustments by the federal government. 9.5% of our revenues were derived
from the federal government in 2003. These adjustments could materially adversely affect us.

Terrorism or the continued threat of terrorism, epidemics or other extreme events could
materially increase Health Care utilization and pharmacy costs and Group Insurance life
and disability claims, although the Company cannot predict whether any such increases will
occur,

Terrorism can affect the U.S. economy in general, but also our industry specifically. Beyond obtaining
coverage for the Company’s facilities, and limited catastrophic coverage for Group Insurance claims, there
are few, if any, commercial options through which to transfer the exposure from terrorism away from the
Company. In particular, in the event of bioterrorism, epidemics or other extreme events we could face
significant health care costs depending on the government’s actions and the responsiveness of public heath
agencies and insurers. For Group Insurance claims, the Company has limited reinsurance in place for
catastrophic claims (and only if the losses are in excess of certain amounts, and subject to limits). In
addition, the Company’s Group Insurance members are concentrated in certain large, metropolitan areas.

In connection with the December 2000 spin-off of our Company from its predecessor,
former Aetna, and merger of former Aetna’s international and financial services businesses
with a subsidiary of ING Groep N.V., we have agreed to be liable for, and to indemnify
ING for, certain former Aetna liabilities, including liabilities not related to our health care
business.

In connection with the spin-off, we generally assumed all liabilities related to former Aetna’s health care,
group insurance and large case pensions businesses. In addition, we generally are responsible for former
Aetna’s liabilities other than those arising out of former Aetna’s financial services or international businesses.
These liabilities generally include the post-retirement pension and other benefits payable to all previous
employees of former Aetna, any liabilities arising out of certain litigation, all liabilities arising out of certain
divestiture transactions consummated by former Aetna before the spin-off and tax liabilities relating to, or
resulting from the treatment of, the spin-off. We have agreed to indemnify ING for all of these liabilities.
Although management believes that it has established reserves and /or obtained insurance sufficient to cover
such liabilities as we consider appropriate, we cannot assure you that these liabilities will not be materially in
excess of these reserves and insurance. In that case, these liabilities may be materially adverse to our
business and results of operations.

The health benefits industry is subject to negative publicity, which can adversely affect our
profitability.

The health benefits industry is subject to negative publicity. Negative publicity may result in increased
regulation and legislative review of industry practices, which may further increase our costs of doing business
and adversely affect our profitability by:

* Adversely affecting our ability to market our products and services;
* Requiring us to change our products and services; or

* Increasing the regulatory requirements with which we must comply
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Downgrades in our ratings, should they occur, may adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Claims paying ability and financial strength ratings by recognized rating organizations have become an
increasingly important factor in establishing the competitive position of insurance companies. Rating
organizations continue to review the financial performance and condition of insurers, including Aetna Life
Insurance Company and our other regulated subsidiaries. We believe our ratings are an important factor in
marketing our products to cerlain of our customers, since ratings information is broadly disseminated and
generally used throughout the industry. Certain of our businesses, particularly our Group Insurance business,
would experience some run off of existing business or have the level of new business negatively impacted if
the major rating agencies do not give a financial strength rating to the relevant subsidiary in the “A” rating
category. In addition to claims paying and financial strength ratings of Aetna’s subsidiaries, rating
organizations also provide ratings of Aetna Inc.’s senior debt and commercial paper. These ratings are
broadly disseminated and used throughout the market place for debt instruments, and any decrease in these
ratings could affect both the cost and availability of future borrowings. Each of the rating agencies reviews its
ratings periodically and there can be no assurance that current ratings will be maintained in the future. Our
ratings reflect each rating agency’s opinion of our financial strength, operating performance and ability to
meet our debt obligations or obligations to policyholders, and are not evaluations directed toward the
protection of investors in our common stock and should not be relied upon as such. For information regarding
recent rating actions and the availability of borrowing, please refer to “‘Liquidity and Capital Resources —
Financings, Financing Capacity and Capitalization.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA .

For the Years Ended December 31,

(Millions, except per common share data) 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
Total revenue 17,9764 819,878.7 $25,190.8 $26,818.9 $22,109.7
Income (loss) from continuing operations 933.8 393.2 (291.5) (127.4) 399.4
Net income (loss) 933.8 (2,522.5) (279.6) 127.1 716.5
Net realized capital gains (losses), net of '

tax_(included above) 42.0 22.3 73.6 (14.2) 21.4
Total assets 40,950.2 40,047.5 43,196.7 47,673.0 52,667.6
Total short-term debt 4 — — 109.7 1,592.2 1,725.0
Total long-term debt 1,613.7 1,633.2 1,591.3 — 2,093.9
Shareholders’ equity 7,924.0 6,980.0 9,890.3 10,127.1 10,703.2

Per common share data: (1)
Dividends declared(2) $ 04 8 04 8 04 8 — 8 —
Earnings (loss) per common share: (3)

Income (loss) from continuing

operations:
Basic 6.12 2.64 (2.03) (.90) 2.56
Diluted (4) 5.91 2.57 (2.03) (.90) 2.54
Net income (loss):
Basic 6.12 (16.94) (1.95) .90 4.76
Diluted (4) 5.91 (16.49) (1.95) .90 4.72

(4)

See

Per common share data is based on the Company’s predecessor’s (former Aetna) common shares and share
equivalents through December 13, 2000 and Aetna Inc. thereafter.

Prior to December 13, 2000, dividends were declared and paid by former Aetna to its shareholders and therefore
such dividends are not included herein.

For 1999 (through the redemption date of July 19, 1999), preferred stock dividends of former Aetna are
deducted from income from continuing operations and net income as the preferred stock issued by former Aetna
was for the acquisition of U.S. Healthcare, Inc. in 1996.

Since the Company reported a loss from continuing operations in 2001 and 2000, the effect of common stock
equivalents has been excluded from earnings per common share computations for those years since including such
securities would be anti-dilutive. As a result, diluted and basic per common share amounts for 2001 and 2000 are
the same.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial

Condition and Results of Operations for significant events affecting the comparability of results as well as
material uncertainties.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS Ol£‘ INCOME .

For the Years Ended December 31,

(Millions, except per common share data) 2003 2002 2001
Revenue:
Health care premiums $13,235.5 $15,036.1 $19,940.4
Other premiums 1,668.5 1,676.6 1,831.6
Administrative services contract fees 1,884.7 1,842.6 1,835.2
Net investment income 1,095.0 1,250.7 1,411.6
Other income 27.5 38.4 75.9
Net realized capital gains 65.2 34.3 96.1
Total revenue 17,976.4 19,878.7 25,190.8
Benefits and expenses:
Health care costs 10,135.8 12,452.8 17,938.8
Current and future benefits 2,090.8 2,245.5 2,458.3
Operating expenses:
Salaries and related benefits 2,179.1 2,245.2 2,290.4
Other 1,975.4 1,987.4 2,224.6
Interest expense 102.9 119.5 142.8
Amortization of goodwill — — 198.1
Amortization of other acquired intangible assets 50.8 130.8 218.5
Severance and facilities charges — 161.0 192.5
Reductions of reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued
products — (8.3) (94.5)
Total benefits and expenses 16,534.8 19,333.9 25,569.5
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes
(benefits) 1,441.6 544.8 (378.7)
Income taxes (benefits):
Current 397.0 193.8 (13.6)
Deferred 110.8 (42.2) (73.6)
Total income taxes (benefits) 507.8 151.6 (87.2)
Income (loss) from continuing operations 933.8 393.2 (291.5)
Discontinued operations, net of tax (Note 21) — 50.0 11.4
Income (loss) before cumulative effect adjustments 933.8 443.2 (280.1)
Cumulative effect adjustments, net of tax (Notes 2 and 6) — (2,965.7) 3
Net income (loss) $  933.8 $(2,522.5) $ (279.6)
Earnings (loss) per common share (Note 5):
Basic:
Income (loss) from continuing operations bid 6.12 % 264 % (2.03)
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax — .34 .08
Income (loss) before cumulative effect adjustments 6.12 2.98 (1.95)
Cumulative effect adjustments, net of tax — (19.92) —
Net income (loss) $ 6.12 % (1694) $ (1.95)
Diluted (1):
Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 591 $ 257 % (2.03)
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax — 33 .08
Income (loss) before cumulative effect adjustments 5.91 2.90 (1.95)
Cumulative effect adjustments, net of tax — (19.39) —
Net income (loss) $ 591 % (16.49) $ (1.95)

(1) Since the Company reported a loss from continuing operations in 2001, the effect of common stock
equivalents has been excluded from per common share computations for 2001 since including such
securities would be anti-dilutive. As a result, diluted and basic per common share amounts for 2001 are

the same.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS - -

As of December 31,

(Millions, except share data) 2003 2002
Assets
Current assets: ) :

-Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,433.4 -8 1,802.9
Investment securities 14,990.5 14,013.5
Other investments _ 103.1 358.0
Premiums receivable, net 318.4 392.0
Other receivables, net 396.0 286.2
Accrued investment income 221.5 214.3
Collateral received under securities loan agreements 827.4 969.0
Loaned securities 810.6 . 948.2
Deferred income taxes 217.6 311.3
“Other current assets 238.3 163.9

Total current assets 19,556.8 19,459.3
Long-term investments - 1,521.5 . 1,754.9
Mortgage loans 1,353.1 1,514.9
Investment real estate 270.4 '308.8

Reinsurance recoverables 1,1‘96‘3 1,251.8

Goodwill, net SR - R 3,679.5 3,618.4

Other acquired intangible assets, net 496.1. 546.9

Property and equipment, net 267.5 244.8

Deferred income taxes 396.0 472.5

Other long-term assets 356.2 211.0

Separate Accounts assets 11,856.8 - - 10,664.2

Total assets $40,950.2 - $40,047.5

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity

Current liabilities: R
Health care costs payable $ 1,888.7 § 2,194.1
Future policy benefits 811.1 o 778.1
Unpaid claims 624.3 590.0
Unearned premiums 203.7 - 184.1
Policyholders’ funds 1,044.5 1,072.2
Collateral payable under securities loan agreements 827.4 969.0

~ Income taxes payable 154.7 322.5

" Accrued expenses and other current liabilities .1,813.1 . 1,608.8

Total current liabilities ' . 7,367.5 7,718.8

Future policy benefits 8,085.7 8,333.3

Unpaid claims 1,159.4 1,177.8

Policyholders’ funds 1,529.7 1,867.3

Long-term debt 1,613.7 1,633.2

Other long-term liabilities "1,413.4 1,672.9

Separate Accounts liabilities 11,856.8° 10,664.2

Total liabilities 33,026.2 33,067.5

Commitments and contingent liabilities (Notes 8 and 20)

Shareholders’ equity: '
Common stock and additional paid-in capital ($.01 par value, 748,624,161 shares

authorized, 152,523,670 issued and outstanding in 2003 and $.01 par value,

756,277,772 shares authorized, 149,966,082 issued'and outstanding in 2002) 4,024.8 4,070.9
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (408.0) (470.4)
Retained earnings 4,307.2 3,379.5

Total shareholders’ equity v 7,924.0 6,980.0

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity -~ =~ -~ $40,950.2  840,047.5

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Common Accumulated Other

Stock and Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Additional  Unrealized Minimum
Paid-in Gains on Foreign Pension Retained
(Millions, except share data) Total Capital Securities  Curreney Derivatives  Liability Earnings
Balances at December 31, 2000 $10,127.1 $3,898.7 % 29.4 $5.7 $ — 8 — § 6,193.3
Comprehensive income:
Net loss ) (279.6) (279.6)
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:
Net unrealized gains on securities
($57.2 pretax) (1) 37.2 37.2
Net foreign currency losses
($(1.1) pretax) (.7) ‘ ' (.7)
Net derivative losses
($(4.8) pretax) (1) (3.1) (3.1)
Other comprehensive income 33.4
Total comprehensive loss (246.2)
Common shares issued for benefit plans ‘
(4,247,361 shares) : 110.7 110.7
Repurchase of common shares
(2,600,000 shares) (95.6) (95.6) .
Common stock dividends (5.7) (5.7)
Balances at December 31, 2001 9,890.3 3,913.8 66.6 5.0 (3.1) — 5,908.0
Comprehensive income: )
Net loss (2,522.5) (2,522.5)
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax:
Net unrealized gains on securities
($331.4 pretax) (1) 2154 215.4
Net foreign currency gains
($.7 pretax) 5 53 .
Net derivative gains ($.6 pretax) (1) 4 . 4
Minimum pension liability adjustment .
($(1,161.8) pretax) (755.2) (755.2)
Other comprehensive loss (538.9)
Total comprehensive loss - (3,061.4)
Common shares issued for benefit plans
(9.320,601 shares) 3223 322.3
Repurchase of common shares
(3,620,431 shares) (165.2) (165.2)
Common stock dividends : (6.0) (6.0)
Balances at December 31, 2002 6,980.0 4,070.9 282.0 5.5 (2.7) (755.2)  3,379.5
Comprehensive income: )
Net Income 933.8 : 933.8
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:
Net unrealized gains on securities
($8.7 pretax) (1) 5.6 5.6
Net foreign currency gains
($6.7 pretax) 4.3 : 4.3
Net derivative gains ($1.1 pretax) (1) 0.7 - 0.7
Minimum pension liability adjustment
(879.6 pretax) 51.8 ' 51.8
Other comprehensive income 62.4 -
Total comprehensive income 996.2
Common shares issued for benefit plans ]
(10,211,199 shares) 399.1° - 399.1
Repurchase of common shares
(7,653,611 shares) (445.2) (445.2) .
Common stock dividends (6.1) ‘ (6.1)
Balances at December 31, 2003 % 7,924.0 $4,024.8 - $287.6 $9.8 $(2.0) $(703.4) $ 4,307.2

(1) Net of reclassification adjustments (Refer to Note 10).

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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|

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS " ‘

» For the Years Ended December 31,
(Millions ) 2003 2002 2001

Cash flows from operating activities: )
Net income (loss) $ 933.8 8§ (2,522.5) & (279.6)
Adjustments to reconcile net income {loss) to net cash provided by
(used for) operating activities:

Cumulative effect adjustments : : — 2,965.7 (.7)
Income from discontinued operations — (50.0) (11.4)
Severance and facilities charges — 161.0 192.5
Physician class action settlement charge 115.4 — ' —
Amortization of goodwill - : — — 198.1
Amortization of other acquired intangible assets -.50.8 130.8 218.5
Depreciation and other amortization ’ 148.8 170.7 181.0
Amortization (accretion) of net investment premium (discount) 54.2 11.3 (26.3)
Net realized capital gains : (65.2) (34.3) (96.1)
Changes in assets and liabilities: , v
(Increase) decrease in accrued investment income , (7.2) 18.0 28.0
Decrease in premiums due and other receivables 150.1 352.9 495.8
Net change in income taxes ) 16.3 218.4 (230.8)
Net change in other assets and other liabilities ' . (369.4) (64.8) (271.0)
Net decrease in health care and insurance liabilities . (597.2) (1,046.7) (432.0)
Other, net (59.8) (4.1) —
Net cash provided by (used for) operaling activities . 370.6 306.4 (34.0)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from sales and investment maturities -of; - . .
Debt securities available for sale 12,623.6 15,679.9 17,561.8
Equity securities 53.5 251.2 239.5
Mortgage loans - : 565.7 602.3 400.8
Investment real estate ‘ 90.4 74.3 6.3
Other investments ‘ 2,403.6 3,321.0 4,866.5
Cost of investments in:
Debt securities available for sale (13,250.3) (15,452.3) (16,930.7)
Equity securities : (20.7) - (114.9) (288.1)
Mortgage loans (239.9) (296.3) (226.4)
Investment real estate (66.8) (47.6) (17.9)
Other investments (2,059.2) (3.251.4) (5,145.3)
Increase in property and equipment (210.8) (155.5) (142.6)
Cash used for acquisition, net of cash acquired (53.5) — —
Net cash (used for) provided by investing activities (164.4) 610.7 323.9
Cash flows.from financing activities: :
Deposits and interest credited for investment contracts 94.4 127.1 170.4
Withdrawals of investment contracts (502.4) (592.1) (795.0)
Issuance of long-term debt ‘ — 1,566.1

Repayment of short-term debt (109.7) (1,482.5)

Common shares issued under benefit plans 293.6 233.5 98.1
Common shares repurchased (445.2) (165.2) (95.6)
Dividends paid to shareholders - (6.1) (6.0) (5.7)
Other, net {10.0) — —
Net cash used for financing activities : . (575.7) (512.4) (544.2)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents S (369.5) 404.7 (254.3)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year ) - 1,802.9 1,398.2 1,652.5
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year o ] . $ 1,4334 § 11,8029 § 1,398.2

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include Aetna Inc. ‘(a Pennsylvania corporation)
(“Aetna”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company’”). The Company’s operations include three
business segments: Health Care, Group Insurance and Large Case Pensions. Health Care consists of health
and dental plans offered on both a risk basis (where the Company assumes all or a majority of the risk for
health and dental care costs) and an employer-funded basis (where the plan sponsor under an administrative
services contract (““‘ASC”), and not the Company, assumes all or a majority of this risk). Health plans
include health maintenance organization (‘““HMO’"), point-of-service (“POS’), preferred provider organiza-
tion (“PPO”’) and indemnity benefit products. Health plans also include a consumer-directed plan that
combines traditional HMO, POS or PPO coverage, subject to a deductible , with a benefit account, allowing
members greater flexibility. The Group Insurance segmenf includes group life insurance products offered on
a risk basis, as well as group disability and long-term care insurance products offered on both a risk and an
employer-funded basis. Large Case Pensions manages a variety of retirement préducts (including pension
and annuity products) primarily for defined benefit and defined contribution plans. These products provide a
variety of funding and benefit payment distribution options and other services. The Large Case Pensions
segment includes certain discontinued products. (Refer to Note 12 for additional information.)

The three .segments are distinct businesses that offer different products and services. The Company’s Chief
Executive Officer evaluates financial performance and makes resource allocation decisions at these segment
levels. The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant
accounting policies. The Company evaluates performance of these business segments based on operating
earnings (net income or loss, excluding net realized capital gains and losses and any other items, such as
severance and facilities charges and reductions of the reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued
products) (Refer to Note 19 for segment financial information).

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America and include the accounts of Aetna and subsidiaries that
the Company controls. All significant intercompany balances have been eliminated in consolidation. Certain
reclassifications have been made to the 2002 and 2001 financial information to conform to the 2003
presentation. i

New Accounting Standards

Accounting and Disclosure of Guarantees

In November 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (‘“FASB”)} issued FASB Interpretation
No. 45, Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees
of Indebtedness of Others (“FIN 45), modifying the recognition -and disclosure requirements of a
company’s guarantee arrangements. Effective January 1, 2003, FIN 45 requires a company that modifies
existing or enters into guarantee arrangements to recognize a liability for the fair value of the obligation
undertaken in issuing the guarantee. FIN 45 also requires disclosure of all guarantees, regardless of when the
guarantee originated, effective December 31, 2002. The adoption of the accounting provisions of FIN 45 did
not have a material effect on the Company’s financial position or results of operations. (Refer to Note 20 for
additional information. )

Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities
In July 2002, the FASB issued Financial Accounting Standard (“FAS’’) No. 146, Accounting for Costs

Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities. This standard, effective for actions initiated after December 31,
2002, superceded previous accounting guidance and requires companies to recognize costs associated with
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exil activities when they are incurred rather than at the date of a commitmlent to an exit or disposal plan. The
adoption of FAS No. 146 did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial position or results of
operations.

Accounting for Variable Interest Entities (“VIE”)

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities
(“FIN 46”). This interpretation requires the Company to consolidate a VIE if the entity meets certain
criteria and the Company is considered the primary beneficiary of the VIE (such as where the Company has a
direct or indirect ability to make significant decisions of the entity or the obligation to absorb a majority of the
entity’s expected losses or gains). FIN 46 also requires additional disclosure of the Company’s relationship
with a VIE regardless of whether the Company is the primary beneficiary.

In December 2003, the FASB issued a revision to Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest
Entities (“FIN 46-R”). FIN 46-R amended certain provisions of FIN 46 and delayed implementation for
entities that are not considered special purpose entities until the first quarter of 2004. As of December 31,
2003, the Company has no investments that are considered special purpose entities.

The Company does not have any material relationships with- VIEs which would require consolidation. The
Company does have relationships with certain real estate partnerships that are considered VIEs. However, the
Company would not be considered the primary beneficiary. The Company records the amount of its
investment in these partnerships as an asset on its Consolidated Balance Sheet and recognizes its share of
partnership income or losses in earnings. The Company’s maximum exposure to loss as a result of its
investment in these partnerships is its investment balance at December 31, 2003 of approximately
$125 million and the risk of recapture of tax credits previously recognized, which the Company does not
believe is significant. The partnerships construct, own and manage low-income housing developments and
had total assets of approximately $1.3 billion as of December 31, 2003.

Effective September 15, 2003, the Company’s leasing program with an independent third party grantor trust
(primarily for the lease of a corporate aircraft and certain office furniture), accounted for as an operating
lease under previous accounting standards, was terminated, and the Company purchased those assets for
cash. The Company would have been required to consolidate this grantor trust in accordance with the
requirements of FIN 46. '

Disclosures of Other-than-Temporary Impairments

During 2003, the FASB’s Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) discussed Issue No. 03-01, The Meaning
of Other-Than-Temporary Impairments and Its Application to Certain Investments. The EITF raised this issue
to determine the meaning of other-than-temporary impairment and its application to investments classified as
either available-for-sale or held-to-maturity, and investments accounted for under the cost method or the
equity method. In November 2003, the EITF reached a consensus that certain quantitative and qualitative
disclosures should be required for debt and marketable equity securities classified as available-for-sale or
held-to-maturity that are in an unrealized loss position at the balance sheet date but for which an other-than-
temporary impairment has not been recognized. The consensus on disclosure requirements is effective for
fiscal years ending on or after December 31, 2003. (Refer to Note 7 for additional information.) The EITF
is expected to discuss the development of other-than-temporary impairment models at future meetings.

Accounting for Derivatives

In April 2003, the FASB issued FAS No. 149, Amendment of Statement No. 133 on Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities (‘“FAS 149”"), which amends FAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities. FAS 149 amends and clarifies the definition of a derivative, expands the nature of
exemptions from FAS No. 133, clarifies the application of hedge accounting when using certain instruments,
clarifies the application of FAS No. 133 to embedded derivatives and modifies the cash flow presentation of
derivative instruments containing financing elements. FAS No. 149 is effective for derivative transactions and
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hedging relationships entered into or modified after June 30, 2003. The implementation of FAS No. 149 did
not have a material effect on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

Disclosures of Pension Plans and Other Post Employment Benefit Plans

In December 2003, the FASB issued a revision to FAS No. 132, Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and
Other Postretirement Benefits (“FAS 132-R”"). FAS 132-R retains the original disclosure provisions of FAS
No. 132 and adds new disclosures about plan assets, investment stralegy, plan obligations and cash flows.

FAS 132-R is effective December 31, 2003. (Refer to Note 14 for additional information. )

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from reported results
using those estimates. The Company considers the following accounting policies, requiring significant
estimates, critical when preparing its consolidated financial statements: Revenue Recognition (Allowance for
Estimated Terminations and Uncollectable Accounts), Health Care and Insurance Liabilities, Investment
Securities, Goodwill and Other Acquired Intangible Assets, and Defined Benefit Pension and Other Post-
Retirement Benefit Plans. ‘

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and other debt securities with a maturity of 90 days or less
when purchased. The carrying value of cash equivalents approximates fair value due to the short-term
maturity of these instruments.

Investments

Investment Securities

Investment securities consist primarily of U.S. Treasury and agency securities, mortgage-backed securities,
corporate and foreign bonds, money market instruments and other debt and equity securities. The Company
has determined that its investment securities are available for use in current operations and, accordingly, has
classified such securities as current without regard to contractual maturity dates. The cost for mortgage-
backed and other asset-backed securities is adjusted for unamortized premiums and discounts, which are
amortized using the interest method over the estimated remaining term of the securities, adjusted for
anticipated prepayments. The Company regularly reviews its debt and equity securities to determine whether
a decline in fair value below the carrying value is other-than-temporary. If a decline in fair value is considered
other-than-temporary, the cost basis /carrying amount of the security is written down and the amount of the
write-down is included in results of operations. The Company does not accrue interest on debt securities
when management believes the collection of interest is unlikely.

Long-Term Investments

Long-term investments consist primarily of equity securities subject to restrictions on disposition, limited
partnerships and restricted assets. Limited partnerships are accounted for under the equity method when the
Company exercises significant influence. Restricted assets consist of debt securities on deposit as required by
regulatory authorities.

Fair Value of Investments

The Company has classified its investment securities as available-for-sale and carries them at fair value. Fair
values for such securities are based on quoted market prices or dealer quotes. Non-traded debt securities are
priced independently by a third party vendor and non-traded equity securities are priced based on an internal
analysis of the investment’s financial statements and cash flow projections.
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Securities Lending

The Company engages in securities lending whereby certain securities from its portfolio are loaned to other
institutions for short periods of time. Such securities are classified as loaned securities on the Consolidated
Balance Sheets. Initial collateral, primarily cash, is required at a rate of 102% of the fair value of a loaned
domestic security and 105% of the fair value of a loaned foreign security. The fair value of the loaned
securities is monitored on a daily basis, with additional collateral obtained or refunded as the fair value of the
loaried securities fluctuates. The collateral is deposited by the borrower with an independent lending agent,
and retained and invested by the lending agent according to the Company’s guidelines to generate additional
income.

Mortgage Loans

Mortgage loans are carried at unpaid principal balances, net of impairment reserves. A mortgage loan may be
impaired when it is a problem loan (i.e., more than 60 days delinquent, in bankruptcy or in process of
foreclosure), a potential problem loan (i.e., high probability of default within 3 years) or a restructured
loan. For impaired loans, a specific impairment reserve is established for the difference between the recorded
investment in the loan and the estimated fair value of the collateral. The Company applies its loan impairment
policy individually to all loans in the portfolio and does not aggregate loans for the purpose of applying such
policy. The Company records full or partial charge-offs of loans at the time an event occurs affecting the legal
status of the loan, typically at the time of foreclosure or upon a loan modification giving rise to forgiveness of
debt. The Company accrues interest income on impaired loans to the extent it is deemed collectable and the
loan continues to perform under its original or restructured terms. Interest income on problem loans is
generally recognized on a cash basis. Cash payments on loans in the process of foreclosure are generally
treated as a return of principal. Mortgage loans with a maturity date of less than one year from the balance
sheet date are reported in other investments in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Mortgage Loan Securitizations

The Company may, from time to time, securitize and sell certain commercial mortgage loans and retain an
interest in the securitized mortgage loans. Gains or losses on the sale of these loans would depend on the
previous carrying amount of the transferred loans, allocated between the portion of the loans sold and the
retained interests based on their relative fair value at the date of transfer. Fair values are based on quoted
market prices or dealer quotes.

Investment Real Estate

Investment real estate, which the Company intends to hold for the production of income, is carried at
depreciated cost, including capital additions, net of write-downs for other-than-temporary declines in fair
value. Depreciation is generally calculated using the straight-line method based on the estimated useful life of
each asset. Properties held-for-sale are carried at the lower of carrying value or fair value less estimated
selling costs. Adjustments to the carrying value of properties held for sale are recorded in a valuation reserve
when the fair value less estimated selling costs is below carrying value. Fair value is generally estimated using
a discounted future cash flow analysis in conjunction with comparable sales information. Property valuations
are reviewed by the Company’s investment management group. At the time of the sale, the difference
between the sales price and the carrying value is recorded as, a realized capital gain or loss.

Net Investment Income and Realized Capital Gains and Losses

Net investment income and realized capital gains and losses on investments supporting Group Insurance and
Health Care’s liabilities and Large Case Pensions’ non-experience-rated products are reflected in the
Company’s results of operations. Realized capital gains and losses are determined on a specific identification
basis. Unrealized capital gains and losses are computed on a specific identification basis and are reflected in
shareholders’ equity, net of related income taxes, as a component of accumulated other comprehensive
income. Purchases and sales of debt and equity securities are recorded on the trade date. Sales of mortgage
loans and investment real estate are recorded on the closing date.
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Realized and unrealized capital gains and losses on investments supporting experience-rated products in the
Large Case Pensions business are reflected in policyholders” funds in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and
are determined on a specific identification basis. Experience-rated products are products in the Large Case
Pensions business where the contract holder, not the Company, assumes investment (including realized
capital gains and losses) and other risks, subject to, among other things, minimum guarantees provided by
the Company. The effect of investment performance is allocated to contract holders” accounts daily, based on
the underlying investment’s experience and, therefore, does not impact the Company’s results of operations
(as long as minimum guarantees are not triggered ). Nel investment income supporting Large Case Pensions
experience-rated products is included in net investment income in the Consolidated Statements of Income,
which is credited to contract holders in current and future benefits.

When the Company discontinued the sale of its fully guaranteed large case pensions products, it established a
resérve for anticipated future losses from these products and segregated the related investments. These
investments are managed as a separate portfolio. Investment income and net realized capital gains and losses
on this separate portfolio are ultimately credited /charged to the reserve and, therefore, do not impact the
Company’s results of operations. Unrealized capital gains or losses on this separate portfolio are reflected in
other current liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. (Refer to Note 12 for additional information. )

Derivative Instruments

The Company’s Use of Derivatives

The Company uses derivative instruments (‘‘derivatives’) in order to manage interest rate, foreign exchange
and price risk (collectively, ““market risk™). By using derivatives to manage market risk, the Company
exposes itself to credit risk and additional market risk.

Credit risk is the exposure to loss if a counterparty fails to perform under the terms of the derivative contract.
The Company generally does not require collateral or other security for its derivatives, but may be required to
post collateral under certain circumstances. However, the Company minimizes its credit risk by entering into
transactions with counterparties that maintain high credit ratings, as well as by limiting single counterparty
exposure and monitoring the financial condition of counterparties. Market risk is the exposure to changes in
the market price of the underlying instrument and the related derivative. Such price changes result from
movements in interest rates, foreign exchange and equity markets, and as a result, assets and liabilities will
appreciate or depreciate in market value. '

The Company uses primarily futures contracts, forward contracts, interest rate swap agreements and warrants
to manage market risk.

Futures contracts represent commitments either to purchase or to sell securities at a specified future date and
specified price. Futures contracts trade on organized exchanges and, therefore, have minimal credit risk.
Forward contracts are agreements to exchange fixed amounts of two different financial instruments or
currencies at a specified future date and specified price. Interest rate swap agreements are contracts to
exchange interest payments on a specified principal (notional) amount for a specified period.

From time to time, the Company uses option contracts for the purpose of increasing net investment income.
Option contracts grant the purchaser, for a fee, the right, but not the obligation, to buy or sell a financial
instrument at a given price during a specified period.

Derivatives are recognized in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets in Other Investments at fair value.
The fair value of derivatives is estimated based on quoted market prices, dealer quotes or internal price
estimates believed to be comparable to dealer quotes. These fair value amounts reflect the estimated amounts
that the Company would have to pay or would receive if the contracts were terminated.

When the Company enters into a derivative contract, if certain criteria are met, it may designate the derivative
as one of the following: (i) a hedge of the fair value of a recognized asset or liability or of an unrecognized
firm commitment (““fair value hedge™); (ii) a hedge of a forecasted transaction or of the variability of cash
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flows to be received or paid related to a recognized asset or liability (““cash flow hedge™); or (iii) a foreign
currency fair value or cash flow hedge (“foreign currency hedge” ).

At hedge inception, the Company formally documents all relationships between hedging instruments and
hedged items, as well as its risk management objective and strategy for the hedge transactions. This process
includes linking all derivatives that are designated as fair value or cash flow hedges to specific assets and
liabilities in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets or to specific firm commitments or forecasted
transactions. The Company also formally assesses, both at inception and on an ongoing basis, whether the
derivatives used in hedging transactions are-highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows
of hedged items. If it is determined that a derivative is not highly effective as a hedge, the Company
discontinues hedge accounting prospectively, as discussed below.

For a derivative designated as a fair value hedge, changes in the fair value, along with the gain or loss on the
related hedged asset or liability, are recorded in current period results of operations. For a derivative
designated as a cash flow hedge, the effective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative are
recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income and are recognized in the Consolidated Statements of
Income when the hedged item affects results of operations. Any amounts excluded from the assessment of
hedge effectiveness, as well as the ineffective portion of the gain or loss, are reported in results of operations
immediately. If the derivative is not designated as a hedge, the gain or loss is recognized in results of
operations in the period of change. '

The Company’s financial instruments and insurance products are reviewed to determine whether a derivative
may be “embedded” in such instruments or products. The Company assesses whether the economic
characteristics of the embedded derivative are clearly and closely related to the remaining component of the
financial instrument or insurance product (that is, the host contract). If it is determined that the embedded
derivative is not clearly and closely related to the host contract and that a separate instrument with the same
terms would qualify as a derivative, the embedded derivative is separated from the host contract and carried
at fair value. :

The Company discontinues hedge accounting prospectively when it is determined that one of the following has
occurred: (i) the derivative is no longer highly effective in offsetting changes in the fair value or cash flows of
a hedged item; (ii) the derivative expires or is-sold, terminated, or exercised; (iii) the derivative is
undesignated as a hedge insirument because it is unlikely that a forecasted transaction will occur; (iv) a
hedged firm commitment no longer meets the definition of a firm commitment; or {v) management
determines that the designation of the derivative as a hedge instrument is no longer appropriate.

If hedge accounting is discontinued, the derivative will continue to be carried in the Company’s Consolidated
Balance Sheets at its fair value. When hedge accounting is discontinued because the derivative no longer
qualifies as an effective fair value hedge, the related hedged asset or liability will no longer be adjusted for
fair value changes. When hedge accounting is discontinued because it is probable that a forecasted
transaction will not occur, the accumulated gains and losses included in accumulated other comprehensive
income will be recognized immediately in results of operations. When hedge accounting is discontinued
because the hedged item no longer meets the definition of a firm commitment, any asset or liability that was
recorded pursuant to the firm commitment will be removed from the balance sheet and recognized as a gain
or loss in current period results of operations. In all other situations in which hedge accounting is
discontinued, changes in the fair value of the derivative are recognized in current period results of operations.

Reinsurance

The Company utilizes reinsurance agreements to reduce its exposure to large losses in certain aspects of its
insurance business as well as the acquisition or disposition of certain insurance contracts. Ceded reinsurance
agreements permit. recovery of a portion of losses from reinsurers, although they do not discharge the
Company’s primary liability as direct insurer of the risks reinsured. Only those reinsurance recoverables
deemed probable of recovery are reflected as assets. In the normal course of business, the Company enters
into agreements with other insurance companies to assume reinsurance, primarily related to its health and
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group life products (Refer to Note 18 for additional information). The Company does not transfer any
portion of the financial risk associated with our HMO business to third parties.

qudwill

As of January 1, 2002, the Company adopted FAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. This
standard eliminated goodwill amortization from the Consolidated Statements of Income and required an
evaluation of goodwill for impairment (at the reporting unit level ) upon adoption of this standard, as well as
an annual test, or more frequently if circumstances indicate a possible impairment. This impairment test is
comprised of two steps. The initial step is designed to identify potential goodwill impairment by comparing an
estimate of the fair value of the applicable reporting unit to its carrying value, including goodwill. If the
carrying value exceeds fair value, a second step is performed, which compares the implied fair value of the
applicable reporting unit’s goodwill with the carrying amount of that goodwill, to measure the amount of
goodwill impairment, if any. The Company’s only reporting unit with goodwill and acquired intangible assets
is its Health Care business, which is also a reportable segment. Upon adoption, the Company performed a
transitional impairment test on its Health Care reporting unit. As a result of this impairment test, the
Company recorded an impairment of approximately $3 billion during the first quarter of 2002, which is
classified as a cumulative effect adjustment for the year ended December 31, 2002, Subsequent
impairments, if any, would be classified as an operating expense. During the fourth quarter of 2003 and
2002, the Company performed an annual impairment test, in conjunction with its annual planning process,
and determined there were no impairment losses related to goodwill and other acquired intangible assets.

The Company’s measurement of fair value, utilized in its transitional impairment test, was based on an
evaluation of future discounted cash flows, public company trading multiples and merger and acquisition ‘
transaction multiples. The Company’s fourth quarter 2003 and 2002 annual impairment test was based on
an evaluation of future discounted cash flows. These evaluations utilized the best information available in the
circumstances, including reasonable and supportable assumptions and projections. The discounted cash flow
evaluations considered several earnings scenarios and the likelihood of possible outcomes. Collectively, these
evaluations were management’s best estimates of projected future cash flows. The Company’s discounted
cash flow evaluations used a range of discount rates that corresponds to the Company’s weighted-average cost
of capital. These discount rate ranges are consistent with that used for investment decisions and take into
account the specific and detailed operating plans and strategies of the Health Care reporting unit. Certain
other key assumptions utilized, including changes in membership, revenue, medical costs, operating expenses
and effective tax rates, are based on reasonable estimates consistent with those utilized in the Company’s
annual planning process. If the Company does not achieve its earnings objectives, the assumptions and
estimates underlying these goodwill impairment evaluations could be adversely affected.

Upon adoption of FAS No. 142, the transition provisions of FAS No. 141, Business Combinations, also
became effective. FAS No. 141 specified criteria for determining whether an acquired intangible asset should
be recognized separately from goodwill. Intangible assets that meet certain criteria qualify for recording in the
balance sheet and continue to be amortized over their useful lives in the Consolidated Statement of Income,
Such intangible assets are subject to a periodic impairment test based on estimated fair value. As a result of
adopting FAS No. 141, the Company reclassified the carrying value of its work force acquired intangible
asset of $25.3 million at December 31, 2001 to goodwill. Refer to Note 6 for more detail on the Company’s
goodwill and other acquired intangible assets. i

Prior to the Company’s adoption of FAS No. 142, goodwill and other intangible assets were amortized over
their estimated useful lives, and were tested periodically to determine if they were recoverable from operating
earnings on an undiscounted basis over their useful lives and to evaluate the related amortization periods. If it
was probabie that undiscounted projected operating income (before amortization of goodwill and other
acquired intangible assets) was not sufficient to recover the carrying value of the asset, the carrying value was
written down through results of operations and, if necessary, the amortization period was adjusted. Operating
income considered in such an analysis was either that of the entity acquired, if separately identifiable, or the
business segment that acquired the entity,
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Property and Equipment and Other Acquired Intangib]e Asséts

Property and equipment and other acquired intangible assets are reported at historical cost net of
accumulated depreciation or amortization. At December 31, 2003 and 2002, the historical cost of property
and equipment was approximately $.9 billion, and the velated accumulated depreciation was approximately
$.6 billion. Depreciation and amorlization is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives of the respective assets ranging from three to forty years.

The Company regularly evaluates whether events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of property and equipment and other acquired intangible assets may not be recoverable. If it is
determined thal an asset may not be recoverable, the Company estimates the future undiscounted cash flows
(grouped at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of cash flows of other
assets and liabilities ) expected to result from future use of the asset and its eventual disposition. If the sum of
the expected undiscounted future cash flows is less than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss
will be recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value.

Separate Accounts

Separate Accounts assets and liabilities in the Large Case Pensions business generally represent funds
maintained to meet specific invesiment objectives of contract holders who bear the investment risk.
Investment income and investment gains and losses generally accrue directly to such contract holders. The
assets of each account are legally segregated and are not subject to claims that arise out of any other business
of the Company. These assets and liabilities are carried at' market value. Deposits, withdrawals, net
investment income and realized and untealized capital gains and losses on Separate Account assets are not
reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Income. Management fees charged to contract holders are
included in other income and recognized over the period earned.

Health Care and Insurance Liabilities

Health care costs payable consist principally of unpaid fee-for-service health care, dental care and pharmacy
claims, capitation costs and other amounts due to health care providers pursuant to risk-sharing arrangements
related to Health Care’s HMO, POS, PPO and indemnity products. Unpaid health care claims include
estimates of payments to be made on claims reported but not yet paid and health care services rendered but
not yet reported to the Company as of the balance sheet date. Also included in these estimates is the ¢ost of
services that will continue to be rendered after the balance sheet date if the Company is obligated to pay for
such services in accordance with contractual or regulatory requirements. Such estimates are developed using
actuarial principles and assumptions which consider, among other things, historical and projected claim
submission patterns, historical and projected claim processing time, medical cost trends, utilization of health
care services, claim inventory levels, changes in membership and product mix, seasonality and other relevant
factors. Changes in estimates are recorded in health care costs in the Consolidated Statements of Income in
the period they are determined. Capitation costs represent contractual monthly fees paid to participating
physicians and other medical providers for providing medical care. Amounts due under risk-sharing
arrangements are based on the terms of the underlying contracts with the providers and consider experience
under the contracts through the balance sheet date.

Unpaid claims consist primarily of reserves associated with certain short-duration group disability and term
life insurance contracts, including an estimate for claims incurred but not reported as of the balance sheet
date. Reserves associated with certain short-duration group disability and term life insurance contracts are
based upon the present value of future benefits, which is based on assumed investment yields and
assumptions regarding mortality, morbidily and recoveries from government programs (e.g., social security ).
Reserves for claims incurred but not reported are developed using actuarial principles and assumptions which
consider, among .other things, contractual requirements, claim incidence rates, claim recovery rates,
seasonality and other relevant factors. The Company discounts certain claim liabilities related to group long-
term disability and premium waiver contracts. The discounted unpaid claim liabilities were $1.3 billion as of
December 31, 2003 and 2002. The undiscounted value of these unpaid claim liabilities were $2.0 billion
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and $1.9 billion at December 31, 2003 and 2002, réspectively. Generally, the discount rates reflect the
expected investment returns for the asset portfolios that support these liabilities and ranged from 6.0% to
6.6% in 2003 and 6.3% to 6.9% in 2002 (except for experience-rated contracts where the discount rates
are set at contractually specified levels ). The estimates of unpaid claims are subject to change due to changes
in the underlying experience of the contracts, changes in investment yields or other factors, and these
changes are recorded in current and future benefits in the Consolidated Statements of Income in the period
they are determined.

Future policy benefits consist primarily of reserves for limited payment pension and annuity contracts in the
Large Case Pensions business and Iong-dﬁration group paid-up life and long-term care insurance contracts in
the Group Insurance business. Reserves for limited payment contracts are computed in accordance with
actuarial principles and are based upon assumptions reflecting anticipated mortality, retirement, expense and
interest rate experience. Such assumptions generally vary by plan, vear of issue and policy duration.
Assumed interest rales on such contracts ranged from 2.0% to 15.9% in 2003 and 2002. Mortality
assumptions are periodically reviewed against both industry standards and experience. Reserves for group
paid-up life and long-term care contracts represent the present value of future benefits to be paid to or on
behalf of policyholders less the present value of future net premiums. Assumed interest rates on such
contracts ranged from 2.5% to 9.5% in 2003 and 2002. The present value of future benefits is based upon
mortality, morbidity and interest rate assumptions. ‘

Policyholders” funds consist primarily of reserves for pension and annuity investment contracts in the Large
Case Pensions business and customer funds associated with group life and health contracts in the Health Care
and Group Insurance businesses. Reserves on such contracts are equal to cumulative deposits less
withdrawals and charges plus credited interest thereon, net of adjustients for investment experience that the
Company is entitled to reflect in future credited interest. In 2003, interest rates for pension and annuity
investment contracts ranged from 1.0% to 13.4% and rates for group life and health contracts ranged from
A% 1o 5.4%. In 2002, interest rates for pension and annuity invesiment contracts ranged from 1.6% to
15.9% and rates for group life and health contracts ranged from 1.3% to 6.8%. Reserves on contracts
subject to experience rating reflect the rights of policyholders, plan participants and the Company.

Health care and insurance liabilities are reviewed periedically, with any necessary adjustments reflected
during the current period in results of operations. While the ultimate amount of claims and related expenses
are dependent on future developments, it is management’s opinion that the liabilities that have been
established are adequate to cover such costs. The health care and insurance liabilities that are expected to be
paid within one year from the balance sheet date are classified as current liabilities in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets.

Deferred Acquisition Costs

Health care products included in the Health Care segment are cancelable by either the customer or the
member monthly upon written notice. Acquisition costs related to the Company’s prepaid health care and
health indemnity contracts are expensed as incurred. The Company defers certain acquisition costs related to
its long-term care products. Such deferred costs were not material to the Company’s financial position or
results of operations as of December 31, 2003 or 2002 and are included in other long-term assets in the
Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Premium Deficiency

The Company evaluates its health care and insurance contracts to determine if it is probable that a loss will be
incurred. A premium deficiency loss is recognized when it is probable that expected future claims, including
maintenance costs (e.g. claim processing costs), will exceed existing reserves plus anticipated future
premiums and reinsurance recoveries on existing contracts. Anticipated investment income is considered in
the calculation of premium deficiency losses for short-duration contracis. For purposes of determining
premium deficiency losses, contracts are grouped in a manner consistent with the Company’s method of
acquiring, servicing and measuring the profitability of such contracts.
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Revenue Recognition P

Health care premiums associated with the Company’s prepaid and other health care plans are recognized as
income in"the month in which the enrollee is entitled to receive health care services. Health care premiums
are reported net of an allowance for estimated terminations (retroactivity adjustments) and uncollectable
amounts. Other premium revenue for group life, long-term care and disability products is recognized. as
income, net of allowances for termination.and uncollectable accounts, over the term of the coverage. Other
premium revenue for Large Case Pensions’ limited payment pension and annuity contracts is recognized as
revenue in the perlod received. Premiums related to unexpired contractual coverage periods are reported as
unearned premlums in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The balance of the allowance for estimated terminations and uncollectable accounts on premiums receivable
was $80 million and $127 million at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, and is included in
premiums receivable in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The balance of the allowance for uncollectable
accounts on other receivables was $71 million and $91 million at December 31, 2003 and 2002,
respectlvely, and is included in other rece1vables in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Some of the Company’s contracts allow for premiums to be adjusted to reflect actual experience. Such
adjustments are reasonably estimable (based on actual experience of the customer emerging under the
contract and the terms of the underlying contract) and are recognized as the experience emerges.

ASC fees are received in exchange for performmg certain claims processmg and member services for self-
insured health and disability members and are recognized as revenue over the period the service is provided.
Some of the Company’s contracts: include guarantees with respect to certain functions such as customer
service response time, claim processing accuracy and claim processing turnaround time, as well as certain
guarantees that claim expenses to be incurred by plan sponsors will fall within a certain range. With any of
these guarantees, the Company is financially at risk if the conditions of the arrangements are not met,
although the. maximum amount at risk is typically limited to a percentage of fees for the customer involved.

Other income includes charges assessed against contract holders’ funds for contract fees, participant fees and
assel charges related to pension and annuity products in the Large Case Pensions business. Other amounts
received on pénsion and annuity contracts are reflected as deposits and are not recorded as revenue. When
annuities with life contingencies are purchased under contracts that were initially investment contracts, the
accumulated. balance related to the purchase is treated as a single premium and reflected as an offsetting
amount in both other premiums and current and future benefits in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Revenues from the Company’s recenily -purchased -mail order pharmacy facility are shown net of
pharmaceutical and processing costs. Gross pharmaceutical revenue related to services provided to the
Company’s ASC customers for the year ended December 31, 2003 was $139 million, which is reported net
of pharmaceutical and processing costs of $138 million, and is reported as other income. Gross
pharmaceutical revenue relating to services prov1ded to the Company’s Risk members of $39 million are
reported as health care costs, net of pharmaceutlcal and processing costs of $163 million.

Allocation of Operating Expenses

The Company allocates to the business segments centrally incurred costs associated with specific internal
goods or services provided to the Company, such as employee services, technology services and rent, based
on a reasonable method for each specific cost (such as membership, usage, headcount, compensation or
square footage occupied). Interest expense on' third-party borrowings is not allocated to- the reporting
segments since it is not used as a basis for measuring the operating performance of the segments. Such
amounts are reflected in Corporate Interest in segment financial information. (Refer to Note 19 for additional
information. )
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Income Taxes ’ ’ .

The Company is taxed at regular corporate rates after adjusting income reported for financial statement
purposes for certain items. The Company is responsible for filing two separate consolidated and various
standalone federal income tax returns. The results of these separate tax filings are combined for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the differences between the financial and income
tax reporting basis of assets and liabilities based on enacted tax rates and laws. Valuation allowances are
provided when it is considered unlikely that deferred tax assets will be realized. Deferred income tax expense
or benefit primarily reflects the net change in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year. The
current income fax provision reflects the tax results of revenues and expenses currently taxable or deductible.

Stock-Based Compensation

At December 31, 2003, the Company had various stock-based employee incentive plans. (Refer to Note 14
for additional information.) The Company uses the intrinsic value method of accounting for stock-based
awards granted to employees. Accordingly, compensation cost is not recognized when the exercise price of an
employee stock option equals or exceeds the fair value .of the stock on the date the option is granted. The
following table illustrates the pro forma net income (loss) and pro forma earnings per share as if the
Company had applied the fair value based method of accounting to all awards of stock- based employee
compensation. :

(Millions, except per common share data) ‘ 2003 2002 2001
Net income (loss), as reported . $933.8.  $(2,522.5) $(279.6)
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in reported net

income (loss), net of related tax effects 40.1 274 2.1
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under

fair value based method for all awards, net of related tax effects (81.0) {(59.4) (13.0)
Pro forma net income (loss) . 8892.9  $(2,554.5) $(290.5)
Earnings (loss) per common share(1): .

Basic — as reported : $ 6.12 8 (16.94) § (1.95)

Basic — pro forma . _ 5.85  (17.15) (2.03)

Diluted — as reported o 5.91 (16.49) (1.95)

Diluted — pro forma 5.64 (16.69) (2.03)

(1) Since the Company reported a loss from continuing operations in 2001, the effect of common stock equivalents
has been excluded from per common share computations for 2001 since including such securities would be anti-
dilutive. As a result, diluted and basic per common share amounts for 2001 are the same.

The fair value of the employee stock options included in the pro forma amounts was estimated as of the grant
date using the Modified Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

2003 2002 2001
Dividend yield 1%- 1%, 1%
Expected volatility 40% 40% 40%
Risk-free interest rate ‘ 3% 4% 5%
Expected life - : 5 years 5 years 5 years

The weighted-average grant date fair values for the Company’s options granted in 2003, 2002 arlld‘.ZOOl
were $16.40, $15.06 and $11.68, respectively.

3. Acquisitions and Dispositions

Acquisition of The Chickering Group

In December 2003, the Company purchased The Chickering Group (‘‘Chickering’). Chickering sells and

services health benefits underwritten by Aetna Life Insurance Company (‘“ALIC”), a wholly-owned
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subsidiary of the Company, to students enrolled in cbﬂeges and universities. The Company may be required
to pay a nominal amount of contingent consideration if certain future premium targets are met. The Company
recorded goodwill of approximately $61 million which represents the purchase price in excess of the fair
value of the net assets acquired. ‘

Exit of Certain Medicare Service Areas

The Company’s Medicare Advantage (formerly Medicare+Choice) contracts with the federal government
are renewable for a one-year period each January 1. In September 2003, the Company notified the Centers
for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”) of its intent to offer a Medicare Advantage option in 2004 in
all of the markets it served in 2003. In September 2002, the Company notified the CMS of its intent not to
renew its Medicare Advantage contracts for 2003 for individuals in a number of ‘Medicare service areas
affecting approximately 9,000 members, or approximately 8% of the Company’s total Medicare membership
prior to this exit. The termination of these Medicare Advantage contracts became effective on January 1,
2003. In September 2001, the Company notified CMS of its intent to exit a number of Medicare service
areas affecting approximately 95,000 members, or approximately 37% of the Company’s total Medicare
membership prior to this exit. The termination of these Medicare Advantage contracts became effective on
January 1, 2002. Effective January 1, 2001, the Company exited a number of Medicare service areas
affecting approximately 260,000 members, or approximately 47% of the Company’s total Medicare
membership prior to this exit.

Sale of Certain Medicaid Membership

On August 1, 2001, the Company completed the sale of its New Jersey Medicaid and New Jersey Family
Care membership to AmeriChoice. The agreement covered approximately 118,000 New Jersey Medicaid
beneficiaries and members of the New Jersey Family Care program for uninsured children and adults.
Proceeds from this sale of approximately $20 million pretax were included in other income for 2001. The
operating results of these Medicaid markets sold, which include the proceeds from the sale, were not material
to the Company’s results of operations.

4. Health Care Costs Payable

The following table shows the components of the change in health care costs payable.

(Millions) 2003 2002 ’ 2001
Health care costs payable, beginning of the period $ 2,194.1 % 2,986.7 $ 3,171.1
Less: Reinsurance recoverables 6.7 10.3 32.8
Health care costs payable, beginning of the period — net 2,187.4 2,976.4 3,138.3
Add: components of incurred health care costs

Current period health care costs 10,363.5 12,523.7 17,894.9

Changes in prior periods’ estimates (1) (227.7)(2) (70.9)(3) 43.9(4)
Total incurred health care costs 10,135.8 12,452.8 17,938.8
Less: claims paid

Current period 8,806.5 10,668.2 15,266.3

Prior periods _ 1,634.5 2,573.6 2,834.4
Total claims paid ‘ 10,441.0 13,241.8 18,100.7
Health care costs payable, end of period — net 1,882.2 2,187.4 2,976.4
Add: Reinsurance recoverables 6.5 6.7 10.3
Health care costs payable, end of period $ 1,888.7 $ 2,194.1 $ 2,986.7

(1) Changes in prior periods’ estimates represents the effect of (favorable) unfavorable development of
prior period health care cost estimates on current year results of operations, at each financial statement
date.

(2) Reflects favorable development of prior period health care cost estimates of approximately $215 million
($140 million after tax) for Commercial Risk and approximately $13 million ($8 million after tax)
for Medicare HMO. Commercial Risk includes all medical and dental risk products, except Medicare
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HMO and Medicaid. The favorable development for Commercial Risk is primarily a result of the actual
claim submission time for 2002 health care claims being shorter than the Company had anticipated in
determining its health care costs payable at December 31, 2002.

(3) Reflects favorable development of prior period health care cost estimates of approximately $36 million
($23 million after tax) for Commercial Risk and approximately $35 million ($23 million after tax)
for Medicare HMO.

(4) Reflects primarily unfavorable development of prior period health care cost estimates related to certain
Medicare HMO markets the Company exited on January 1, 2001.

5. Earnings Per Common Share

A reconciliation of the numerator and denominator of the basic and diluted earnings per common share
(“EPS”) is as follows:

Income (Loss) Shares Per Common

(Millions, except EPS data) (Numerator) (Denominator) Share Amount
2003
Basic EPS:

Income from continuing operations % 933.8 152.7 § 6.12
Effect of dilutive securities:

Stock options and other(1) 5.4
Diluted EPS:

Income from continuing operations and assumed conversions $ 933.8 158.1 $ 591
2002
Basic EPS:

Income from continuing operations ‘ $ 393.2 148.9 8 2.64
Effect of dilutive securities:

Stock options and other (2) 4.0
Diluted EPS:

Income from continuing operations and assumed conversions $ 393.2 152.9 $ 2.57
2001
Basic and Diluted EPS: ‘

Loss from continuing operations (3 ) $(291.5) 143.2 $(2.03)

(1) Options to purchase shares of common stock for 2003 of .1 million shares (with exercise prices
ranging from $55.27 to $67.46) were not included in the calculation of diluted earnings per common
share because the options’ exercise prices were greater than the average market price of common
shares during such period.

(2) Options to purchase shares of common stock for 2002 of 7.2 million shares (with exercise prices
ranging from $40.90 to $54.21) were not included in the calculation of diluted earnings per common
share hecause the options’ exercise prices were greater than the average market price of common
shares during such period.

(3) Since the Company reported a loss from continuing operations for 2001, options to purchase
30.0 million shares (with exercise prices ranging from $12.89 to $54.21) were not included in per
common share calculations, since including such securities would be anti-dilutive. As a result, diluted
and basic per common share amounts for 2001 are the same.

6. Goodwill and Other Acquired Intangible Assets

On January 1, 2002, the Company adopted FAS No. 142 and the transition provisions of FAS No. 141, as
discussed in more detail in Note 2. As a result, the Company recorded an impairment loss, ceased amortizing
goodwill and reclassified the December 31, 2001 carrying value of its work force acquired intangible asset to
goodwill. The Company’s only reporting unit with goodwill and other acquired intangible assets is its Health
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Care business, which also is a reportable segment. Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill were as

follows:

(Millions)

Balance at December 31, 2001 % 6,583.8
Impairment loss (2,965.7)
Reclassification of work force 25.3
Goodwill adjustment (1) (25.0)
Balance at December 31, 2002 3,618.4
Goodwill acquired (2) 61.1
Balance at December 31, 2003 $ 3,679.5

(1) Represents the post-acquisition adjustment of deferred tax liabilities established in purchase accounting
- relating to former Aetna’s 1996 acquisition of U.S. Healthcare, Inc. This post-acquisition adjustment
was the result of the conclusion of several Internal Revenue Service audit issues during the first quarter

of 2002.

(2) In December 2003, the Company purchased The Chickering Group. The Company recorded goodwill
of approximately $61 million representing the purchase price in excess of the fair value of the net assets

acquired. Refer to Note 3 for additional information.

For comparative purposes, the following table adjusts net income (loss) and basic and diluted EPS for the
year ended December 31, 2001, as if the work force asset were reclassified and amortization of goodwill had

ceased at the beginning of 2001.

(Millions, except EPS data) 2003 2002 2001
Reported net income (loss) $933.8  $(2,522.5) $(279.6)
Add back: Goodwill amortization - —_ —_ 195.3
Add back: Work force amortization —_ — 8.1
Adjusted net income (loss) $933.8 $(2,522.5) $§ (76.2)
Basic EPS:

Reported net income (loss) $ 6.12 8 (1694) $ (1.95)
Add back: Goodwill amortization —_— — 1.36
Add back: Work force amortization —_ — .06
Adjusted net income (loss) $ 612 8§ (1694) 8§ (.53)
Diluted EPS: (1) B

Reported net income (loss) $ 591 8 (16.49) $ (1.95)
Add back: Goodwill amortization — — 1.36
Add back: Work force amortization — — .06
Adjusted net income {loss) $ 59 § (16.49) 8 (.53)

(1) Since the Company reported a loss from continuing operations for 2001, the effect of common stock
equivalents has been excluded from per common share computations for 2001, since including such
securities would be anti-dilutive. As a result, diluted and basic per common share amounts for 2001 are

the same.
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Other acquired intangible assets at'Deceml;er 31, 2003 and 2002 were as follows:

Amortization
Accumulated Period
December 31, 2003 (Millions) Cost Amortization Net Balance (Years)
Other acquired intangible assets:
Provider networks $ 677.2 $ 197.2 $480.0 20-25
Customer lists 919.0 903.0 16.0 5-7
Other ‘ 69.2 69.1 1 3-5
Total other acquired intangible assets $1,665.4 $1,169.3 $496.1
December 31, 2002
Other acquired intangible assets:
Provider networks $ 677.2 $ 169.3 $507.9 20-25
Customer lists 919.0 880.2 38.8 5-7
Other - 69.2 69.0 2 3-5

Total other acquired intangible assets $1,665.4 $1,118.5 $546.9

Annual pretax amortization for other acquired intangible assets over the next five calendar years is estimated
to be as follows:

(Millions) }

2004 $42.5
2005 29.4
2006 27.8
2007 , 27.8
2008 27.8

7. Investments

Investment securities at December 31 were as follows:

(Millions) 2003 2002

Debt securities available for sale ' i $14,446.6  $13,379.1
Equity securities 57.8 29.1
Other investment securities (primarily short-term debt instruments) 486.1 605.3
Total investment securities £14,990.5 $14,013.5
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Debt securities available for sale (including loaned securities) at December 31 were as follows:

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
2003 (Millions) Cost Gains Losses Yalue
Bonds: ‘
U.S. government and government agencies and authorities 8  938.7 $ 5.9 8 1.7 $ 942.9
States, municipalities and political subdivisions 1,205.2 44.5 4 1,249.3
U.S. corporate securities:
Utilities 673.4 54.7 2.1 726.0
Financial _ 1,553.0 96.0 4.7 1,644.3
Transportation /Capital goods 1,011.1 83.0 4 1,093.7
Health care /Consumer products 1,308.1 105.5 1.3 1,412.3
Natural resources 741.5 68.0 2.7 806.8
Other corporate securities 1,297.7 138.2 2.2 1,433.7
Total U.S. corporate securities 6,584.8 545.4 13.4 7,116.8
Foreign:
Government, including political subdivisions 602.4 38.3 1.7 . 639.0
Utilities 35.7 1.7 — 37.4
Other - 1,362.1 132.8 4.6 1,490.3
Total foreign securities 2,000.2 1728 6.3 2,166.7
Residential mortgage-backed securities: '
Pass-throughs ’ 1,684.6 34.9 5.8 1,713.7
Collateralized mortgage obligations 3.2 — . 3.2
Total residential mortgage-backed securities 1,687.8 34.9 5.8 1,716.9
Commercial /Multifamily mortgage-backed
securities (1) (2) ' 1,220.2 107.5 10.9 1,316.8
Other asset-backed securities 450.7 6.5 9 456.3
Total bonds 14,087.6 917.5 39.4 14,965.7
Redeemable preferred stocks 251.0 40.5 — - 2915
Total available-for-sale debt securities (3) ’ $14,338.6 $958.0 $39.4 $15,257.2

(1) Includes approximately $145.5 million of subordinate and residual certificates at December 31,
2003 from a 1997 commercial mortgage loan securitization which were retained by the Company.

(2) Includes approximately $88.8 million of subordinate and residual certificates 'at‘ December 31, 2003
from a 1995 commercial mortgage loan securitization which were retained by the Company.

(3) Includes approximately $810.6 million of loaned securities at December 31, 2003.
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Gross Gross

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
2002 (Millions) Cost Gains Losses Value
Bonds:
U.S. government and government agencies and authorities $ 991.7 8 13.9 $ — $ 1,005.6
States, municipalities and political subdivisions 1,033.5 44.7 4 1,077.8
U.S. corporate securities:
Utilities : 610.0 35.8 18.8 627.0
Financial 1,697.5 118.6 6.7 1,809.4
Transportation /Capital goods 835.6 82.7 15.5 902.8
Health care/Consumer products 808.1 63.3 10.8 860.6
Natural resources 851.6 87.5 1.2 937.9
Other corporate securities 1,463.3 130.4 8.9 1,584.8
Total U.S. corporate securities 6,266.1 518.3 61.9 6,722.5
Foreign: )
Government, including political subdivisions 609.4 30.3 4.8 634.9
Utilities 28.2 i .6 28.3
Other 1,281.5 122.2 5.7 1,398.0
Total foreign securities 1,919.1 153.2 11.1 2,061.2
Residential mortgage-backed securities:
Pass-throughs : 1,572.5 64.0 = 1,636.5
Collateralized morigage obligations 20.8 2 — 21.0
Total residential mortgage-backed securities 1,593.3 64.2 — 1,657.5
Commercial /Multifamily mortgage-backed
securities (1) (2) 1,199.5 127.8 11.1 1,316.2
Other asset-backed securities 309.8 10.9 3.3 317.4
Total bonds 13,313.0 933.0 87.8 14,158.2
Redeemable preferred stocks 154.9 16.5 2.3 169.1
Total available-for-sale debt securities (3) $13,467.9 $949.5 $90.1 $14,327.3

(1) Includes approximately $154.2 million of subordinate and residual certificates at December 31,
2002 from a 1997 commercial mortgage loan securitization which were retained by the Company.

(2) Includes approxirﬁately $89.8 million of subordinate and residual certificates at December 31, 2002
from a 1995 commercial mortgage loan securitization which were retained by the Company.

(3) Includes approximately $948.2 million of Iloaned securities at December 31, 2002.

Debt securities available for sale (including loaned securities) supporting discontinued, experience-rated and
remaining products at December 31 were as follows:

Gross Gross

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
2003 (Millions) Cost Gains Losses Value
Supporting discontinued products $ 3,281.8 $334.8 $ 93 % 3,607.3
Supporting experience-rated products 2,060.0 182.3 5.9 2,236.4
Supporting remaining products 8,996.8 440.9 24.2 9,413.5
Total available-for-sale debt securities $14,338.6 $958.0 839.4 $15,257.2
2002
Supporting discontinued products $ 3,353.5 $333.3 $38.7 $ 3,648.1
Supporting experience-rated products 2,144.7 174.1 15.6 2,303.2
Supporting remaining products 7,969.7 442.1 35.8 8,376.0
Total available-for-sale debt securities $13,467.9 $949.5 890.1 $14,327.3
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The carrying and fair value of debt securities is shown below by contractual maturity. Actual maturities may
differ from contractual maturities because securities may be restructured, called or prepaid.

: Amortized Fair
2003 (Millions) Cost Value
Due to mature:
One year or less $ 7303 $§ 764.0
After one year through five years 2,668.9 2,776.1
After five years through ten years 3.485.0 3,695.1
After ten years . 4,095.6 4,532.0
Mortgage-backed securities 2,908.1 3,033.7
Other asset-backed securities 450.7 456.3
Total $14,338.6 $15,257.2

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, debt securities carried at $637 million and $748 million, respectively,
were on deposit as required by regulatory authorities. These securities are considered restricted assets and
were included in long-term investments on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, net unrealized gains on debt securities included $326 million and
$295 million, respectively, related to discontinued products (refer to Note 12 for additional information )
and $176 million and $159 million, respectively, related to experience-rated contracts, which were not
reflected in accumulated other comprehensive loss in shareholders’ equity.

Investments in equity securities at December 31 were as follows:

(Millions) 2003 2002
Cost 8649 $91.3
Gross unrealized capital gains 20.1 6.5
Gross unrealized capital losses (.2) (4.6)
Fair value 84.8 93.2
Less: amount included in long-term investments 27.0 64.1
Equity securities (included in investment securities) $57.8 $29.1
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As of December 31, 2003, the amount of ;gross unrealized losses and related fair value for debt and equity
securities were as follows:

Less than 12 months Greater than 12 months Total
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
(Millions) Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
Supporting discontinued and experienced-
rated products:
Debt securities: ‘
U.S. treasury obligations $ 254 8 (1) 8 44.7 8 (6) 8 701 % (.7)
States and political subdivisions — — — — — —
Foreign governments 37.2 (.5) — — 37.2 (.5)
Corporate 359.2 (11.5) 49.5 (1.9) 408.7 (13.4)
Federal agency mortgage-backed
securities 22.4 (.2) — — 22.4 (.2)
Other 24.9 (.4) — — 24.9 (.4)
Total debt securities . 469.1 (12.7) 94.2 (2.5) 563.3 (15.2)
Equity securities 4.3 (.1) — — 4.3 (.1)

Total supporting discontinued and

experience-rated products 473.4 (12.8) 94.2 (2.5) 567.6 (15.3)

Supporting remaining products:
Debt securities:

U.S. treasury obligations 473.1 (1.2) — — 473.1 (1.2)
States and political subdivisions 37.9 (:2) — — 37.9 (.2)
Foreign governments 91.3 (1.2) 4 (.1) 91.7 (1.3)
Corporate 326.9 (4.3) 5 (.1) 327.4 (4.4)
Federal agency mortgage-backed
securities 362.4 (5.6) — — 362.4 (5.6)
Other 161.1 (3.5) 43.6 (8.0) 204.7 (11.5)
Total debt securities 1,452.7 (16.0) 44.5 (8.2) 11,4972 (24.2)
Equity securities A (1ly  — — a1 (.1)
Total supporting remaining products 1,452.8 (16.1) 44.5 (8.2) 1,497.3 (24.3)
Total debt and equity securities $1,926.2  $(28.9) $138.7 $(10.7) $2,064.9 $(39.6)

Unrealized losses greater than twelve months relate primarily to investments in commercial mortgage-backed
securities. Based on the Company’s evaluation, there has not been an adverse change in the expected cash
flows for these investments and therefore, no other-than-temporary impairment was determined to have
occurred during 2003.

Investment real estate holdings at December 31 were as follows:

(Millions) 2003 2002
Properties held for sale . $ 279 $ 259
Investment real estate 257.9 356.2
Gross carrying value of real estate 285.8 382.1
Valuation reserve (15.4) (73.3)
Investment real estate $270.4  $308.8

Accumulated depreciation for investment real estate was $47 million and $67 million at December 31, 2003
and 2002, respectively.

Total real estate write-downs included in the net carrying value of the Company’s real estate holdings at
December 31, 2003 and 2002 were $8 million and $117 million, respectively (including $100 million
attributable to assets supporting discontinued products for 2002. There were no real estate write-downs
attributable to assets supporting discontinued products for 2003.)
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At December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company’s morigage loan balances, net of specific impairment
reserves, by geographic region and property type were as follows:

{ Millions ) 2003 2002
South Atlantic $ 365.0 $ 456.0
Middle Atlantic 356.4 601.6
New England 51.0 91.1
South Central 53.0 64.8
North Central - 276.1 - 247.4
Pacific and Mountain- 349.5 “311.9
Non-U.S. 2 A4
Total _ 1,451.2 1,77 3.2
Less: amount included in Other investments " 98.1 258.3
Mortgage loans $1,353.1  81,514.9
(Millions) 2003 2002
Office $ 5498 . § 673.6
Retail 2047 382.9
Apartment 268.8 1 205.3
Hotel /Motel 35.0 151.3
Industrial 339.0 315.7
Mixed Use 42.0 32.3
Other 11.9 121
Total 1,451.2 1,773.2
Less: amount included in Other investments 98.1 258.3
$1,353.1 $1,514.9

- Mortgage loans

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, the total recorded investment in mortgage loans that are considered to be
impaired (including problem, restructured and potential problem loans) and related specific reserves were

as follows:
2003 2002
Total Total
. Recorded Specific Recorded Specific .
(Millions ) - - Investment Reserves . Investment. Reserves
Supporting discontinued products $38.3 $ 4.5 818.3 3 —
Supporting experience-rated products 36.8 5.5 23.4 6.9
Supporting remaining products 9.6 8.9 9.2 4.5
- Total impaired loans(1) $84.7 $18.9 $50.9 $11.4

(1) Includes impaired loans at December 31, 2003 and 2002 of $30.1 million and $31.3 million, respectively, for

which no specific reserves are considered necessary. .
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_The activity in the specific and general mortgage loan impairment reserves for-the periods indicated is
summarized below:

Supporting
Supporting Experience- Supporting
Discontinued Rated Remaining
(Millions) Products Products Products -, Total
“Balance at December 31, 2000 $ 28.4 $12.8 $ 2.8 $ 44.0
Provision (charged to realized capital loss) 2 — 5.4 5.6
Principal write-offs (13.7) (.4) (2.9) (17.0)
Balance at December 31, 2001 (1) $ 14.9 $12.4 $ 5.3 $ 32.6
Provision (charged to realized capital loss ) — 3 ’ .3 ‘ .6
Recoveries of previously charged off amounts (6.2) (4.5) (.7) (11.4)
Principal write-offs - - (8.7) (1.3) (.4) (10.4)
Balance at December 31, 2002 (1) : - $ — $ 6.9 $. 4.5 $ 11.4
Provision (charged to realized capital loss) 4.5 1.3 4.4 10.2
Recoveries of previously charged off amounts — (1.6) — . (1.6)
Principal write-offs — (1.1) — (1.1)
Balance at December 31, 2003 (1) $ 45 $ 5.5 % 8.9 $ 18.9

(1) Total reserves at December 31, 2001 include $25.5 million of specific reserves and $7.1 million of general
- reserves. There were no general reserves at December 31, 2003 or 2002.

Income earned (pretax) and cash received on the average recorded investment in impaired loans for the
years ended December 31 were as follows: ’ o '

2003 2002 - 2001-
Average ' Average Average
B Impaired Income Cash Impaired Income Cash . Impaired . Income . Cash

(Millions) Loans Earned Received Loans Earned Received Loans Earned Received
Supporting discontinued :

products - $23.1 1.6 $1.6 ©  $20.4 1.6 $1.6- $118.1 10.6 12.2
Supporting experience-rated :

products 25.9 1.6 1.8 41.1 2.9 2.6 44.7 3.9 4.3
Supporting remaining . .

products - 9.1 .8 .5 13.4 .8 .6 29.6 1.6 3.0

Total $58.1 $4.0 $3.9 §74.9 $5.3 $4.8 $192.4  316.1 $19.5

Significant non-cash investing and financing activities include the acquisition of real estate through
foreclosures of mortgage loans amounting to $7 million and $20 million for 2002 and 2001, respectively.
There were no such acquisitions in 2003. ‘
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8. Financial Instruments
Estimated Fair Value

The carrying values and estimated fair values of certain of the Company’s financial instruments at

December 31, 2003 and 2002 were as follows:

2003 2002
Cost Basis/ Cost Basis/
Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated
(Millions ) Value Fair Value Value Fair Value
Assets;
Debt securities : $14,945.5 $15,893.9 $14,170.9 $15,074.8
Equity securities 64.9 84.8 91.3 93.2
Mortgage loans 1,451.2 1,505.6 1,773.2 1,806.2
Derivatives 26.2 26.2 82.9 82.9
Liabilities:
Investment contract liabilities:
With a fixed maturity 519.3 520.3 887.4 904.5
Without a fixed maturity 678.8. 618.9 765.5 675.0
Derivatives 3.6 3.6 —_ L —
Long-term debt . 1,613.7 1,791.0 = 1,633.2 1,769.0

Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time, based on available market information and
judgments about a given financial instrument, such as estimates of timing and amount of future cash flows.
Such estimates do not reflect any premium or discount that could result from offering for sale at one time the
Company’s entire holdings of a particular financial instrument, and do not consider the tax impact of the
realization of unrealized capital gains or losses. In many cases, the fair value estimates cannot be
substantiated by comparison to independent markets, and the disclosed value cannot be realized upon
immediate settlement of the instrument. In evaluating the Company’s management of interest rate, price and
liquidity risks, the fair values of all financial instruments are taken into consideration.

The following valuation methods and assumptions were used by the Company in estimating the fair value of
the financial instruments included in the table above:

Debt and equity securities:  Fair values are based on quoted market prices or dealer quotes. Non-traded debt
securities are priced independently by a third party vendor and non-traded equity securities are priced based
on an internal analysis of the investment’s financial statements and cash flow projections. Cost for mortgage-
backed securities is adjusted for unamortized premiums and discounts, which are amortized using the interest
method over the estimated remaining term of the securities, adjusted for anticipated prepayments and any
collateral shortfall issues. :

Mortgage loans:  Fair values are estimated by discounting expected mortgage loan cash flows at market rates
that reflect the rates at which similar loans would be made to similar borrowers. These rates reflect
management’s assessment of the credit quality and the remaining duration of the loans. The fair value
estimates of mortgage loans of lower credit quality, including problem and restructured loans, are based on
the estimated fair value of the underlying collateral.

Derivatives: Fair values are estimated based on quoted market prices, dealer quotes or internal price
estimates believed to be comparable to dealer quotes.

Investment contract liabilities:

¢ With a fixed maturity: Fair value is estimated by discounting cash flows at interest rates currently being
offered by, or available to, the Company for similar contracts.

* Without a fixed maturity: Fair value is estimated as the amount payable to the contractholder upon
demand. However, the Company has the right under such contracts to delay payment of withdrawals that
may ultimately result in paying an amount different than that determined to be payable on demand.
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Long-term debt:  Fair values are based on quoted market prices for the same or similar issued debt or, if no
quoted market prices were available, on the current rates estimated to be available to the Company for debt
of similar terms and remaining maturities. '

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company is using interest rate swap agreements to manage certain exposures related to changes in
interest rates on investments supporting experience-rated and discontinued products in the Large Case
Pensions business. The use of these derivatives does not impact the Company’s resulis of operations.

In December 2002, the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement to convert the fixed rate of
8.5% on $200 million of its senior notes to a variable rate of three-month LIBOR plus 254.0 basis points
(approximately 3.71% at December 31, 2003). In December 2001, the Company entered into an interest
rate swap agreement to convert the fixed rate of 8.5% on $350 million of its senior notes to a variable rate of
three-month LIBOR plus 159.5 basis points (approximately 2.77% at December 31, 2003 ). As a result of
these swap agreements, the Company’s effective interest rate on its long-term debt was 6.28% during 2003.
The change in the fair value of the interest rate swaps and the loss or gain on the hedged senior notes
attributable to the hedged interest rate risk are recorded in current period earnings. Because the terms of the
interest rate swap agreements match the terms of the senior notes, the gain or loss on the swaps and the
senior notes will generally be offseiting (no material change in value occurred during the periods ended
December 31, 2003 or 2002}. The swap agreements contain bilateral credit protection covenants which,
depending on credit ratings, obligate each party to post collateral equal to the fair value of the swap. As of
February 25, 2004, the Company was not required to post collateral for either interest rate swap.

9. Net Investment Income

Sources of net investment income were as follows:

(Millions) 2003 2002 2001

Debt securities $ 856.3 § 954.4 $1,104.8
Mortgage loans 129.5 224.0 184.9
Other 176.8 1154 147.8
Investment real estate © 36.0 66.6 62.8
Cash equivalents 17.9 28.3 26.2
Equity securities 2 14.6 2.3
Other investment securities ' 10.7 14.6 69.9
Gross investment income ' ' 1,227.4  1,417.9  1,598.7
Less: investment expenses 132.4 167.2 187.1
Net investment income (1) $1,095.0  $1,250.7 $1.,411.6

(1) Includes amounts related to experience-rated contract holders of $167.5 million, $221.5 million and $237.5 mil-
lion during 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Interest credited to contract holders is included in current and
future benefits.
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10. Capital Gains and Losses on Investments and Other

Net realized capital gains (losses), excluding amounts related to experience-rated contract holders and
discontinued products, on investments were as follows:

(Millions) 2003 2002 2001
Debt securities $8l1.7 $ 25.6 &% 30.6
Equity securities (.5) (15.1) (.6)
Mortgage loans (4.4) 4.8 29.8
Investment real estate (5.8) (10.5) (4.7)
Sales of subsidiaries{1) — 46.0 59.0
Other B (5.8) (16.5) (18.0)
Pretax realized capital gains ' _ . 8652 § 343 8 96.1
After-tax realized capital gains $42.0 $ 223 8 73.6

(1) Includes a pretax realized capital gain of approximately $60.0 million in 2002 and 2001 related to contingent
consideration earned by the Company following the sale of its behavioral health subsidiary, Human Affairs
International, in 1997.

Net realized capital gains of $45 million, $8 million and $11 million for 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively, related to expérience-rated contract holders were deducted from net realized capital gains and
an offsetting amount was reflected in policyholders’ funds. Net realized capital gains (losses) of $111 mil-
lion, $(58) million and $19 million for 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, related to discontinued
products were deducted from net realized capital gains and an offsetting amount was reflected in the reserve
for anticipated future losses on discontinued products.

Proceeds from the sale of debt securities and the related gross gains and losses were as follows (excludes
experience-rated contract holders and discontinued products):

(Millions) 2003 2002 2001

Proceeds on sales $12,623.6 $15,679.9 $17,561.8
Gross gains ’ 139.2 225.2 225.6
Gross losses 53.5 133.0 145.8

Changes in shareholders’ equity related to changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
(excluding those related to experience-rated contract holders and discontinued products) were as follows:

'(Millions) : : 2003 2002 2001
Net unrealized (losses) gains on debt securities $(10.4) 8 339.0 $109.3
Net unrealized gains (losses) on equity securities and other 19.1 (7.6) (52.1)
Foreign currency : 6.7 N (L.1)
Derivatives L 1.1 .6 (4.8)
Minimum pension liability ‘ : . 19.6 {1,161.8) —
Subtotal 96.1 (829.1) 51.3
Less: changes in deferred income taxes (33.7) 290.2 (17.9)
Net changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) % 624 $ (538.9) 8 33.4
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Shareholders’ equity included the following accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (excluding
amounts related to experience-rated contract holders and discontinued products) at December 31:

(Millions) ‘ 2003 2002
Debt securities:

Gross unrealized capital gains ’ $ 4552 % 4773

Gross unrealized capital losses (24.1) (35.8)
Net unrealized capital gains on debt securities 431.1 441.5
Equity securities and other:

Gross unrealized capital gains 31.8 12.3

Gross unrealized capital losses (20.4) (20.0)
Net unrealized capital gains (losses) on equity securities and other 11.4 (7.7)
Foreign currency 15.2 8.5
Derivatives - (3.1) (4.2)
Minimum pension liability , (1,082.2) (1,161.8)
Deferred income taxes ‘ 219.6 253.3
Net accumulated other comprehensive loss ‘ 8 (408.0) 8§ (470.4)

Changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) related to changes in unrealized gains
(losses) on securities (excluding those related to experience-rated contract holders and discontinued
products} were as follows:

(Millions) 2003 2002 2001
Net unrealized holding gains arising during the period (1) $23.2  $2149 $76.7
Less: reclassification adjustment for gains (losses) and other items included in net

income (loss){2) 17.6 (.5) 395
Net unrealized gains on securities $ 5.6 82154 $37.2

(1) Pretax net unrealized holding gains arising during the period were $35.7 million, $330.6 million and
$118.0 million for 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

(2) Pretax reclassification adjustments for gains (losses) and other items included in net income were $27.0 million,
$(.8) million and $60.8 million for 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

11. Severance and Facilities Charges

In the third quarter of 2002, the Company recorded an after-tax severance and facilities charge of
$58 million ($89 million pretax ) related to the implementation of ongoing initiatives intended to improve the
Company’s overall future performance (the “Third Quarter 2002 Charge”). These initiatives included
further reductions to operating expenses and the continued reorganization and realignment of Health Care
and Group Insurance operations. This charge consisted of two types of costs: those that related to actions
under a plan for the involuntary termination of approximately 2,750 employee positions (primarily customer
service, plan sponsor services, patient management, sales, network management and certain Group Insurance
related positions ) representing approximately $81 million pretax of this charge and those actions that related
to an exit plan with respect to certain leased facilities representing approximately $8 million pretax of this
charge. The facilities portion represented the present value of the difference between rent required to be paid
by the Company and future sublease rentals expected to be received by the Company related to certain leased
facilities, or portions of such facilities, that will be vacated. Severance actions and the vacating of leased
facilities relating to the Third Quarter 2002 Charge were completed by September 30, 2003. The remaining
lease payments (net of expected sublease rentals) on these vacated facilities are payable over approximately
the next seven years.

In the fourth quarter of 2002, the Company recorded an after-tax severance and facilities charge of
$29 million ($45 million pretax) related to the implementation of ongoing initiatives intended to improve the
Company’s overall future performance (the “Fourth Quarter 2002 Charge™). These initiatives included
further reductions 1o operaling expenses and the continued reorganization and realignment of Health Care
and Group Insurance operations. This charge consisted of two types of costs: those that related to actions
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under a plan for the involuntary termination of apprc;ximately 680 employee positions (primarily customer
service, information technology and certain Group Insurance related positions) representing approximately
$31 million pretax of this charge and those actions that related. to an exit plan with respect to certain leased
facilities representing approximately $14 million pretax of this charge. The facilities portion represents the
present value of the difference between rent required to be paid by the Company and future sublease rentals
expected to be teceived by the Company related to certain leased facilities or portions of such facilities, that
will be vacated. Severance actions and the vacating of leased facilities relating to the Fourth Quarter 2002
Charge were completed by December 31, 2003. The remaining lease payments (net of expected sublease
rentals) on these vacated facilities are payable over approximately the next seven years.

The activity within the severance and facilities reserves and the related number of positions eliminated were
as follows: ’

Third Quarter Fourth Quarter

2002 Charge 2002 Charge
(Millions, pretax) : ‘ Reserve (1) Positions Reserve(2) Positions
Balance at December 31, 2001 8 — — 3 — —
Reserve additions ] _ ~ 89.0 2,744 45.0 678
Actions taken(1) (72.8) (1,805) (21.6) (321)
Balance at December 31, 2002 8§ 16.2 939 $ 23.4 357
Actions taken(2) - : (16.2) (718) (23.4) (355)
Balance at December 31, 2003 % = 221(3) 8 — 2(3)

(1) Actions taken relating to the Third Quarter 2002 Charge include $70.6 million of severance-related actions and
$2.2 million related to vacating certain leased facilities. Actions related to the Fourth Quarter 2002 Charge were
all severance related.

(2) Actions taken relating to the Third Quarter 2002 Charge include $10.4 million of severance-related actions and
$5.8 million related-to vacating certain leased facilities. Actions taken relating to the Fourth Quarter 2002 Charge
include $8.9 million of severance-related actions and $14.5 million related to vacating certain leased facilities.

(3) The Company has eliminated substantially all of the positions expected under the Company’s plans for involuntary
termination related to the Third Quarter 2002 Charge and the Fourth Quarter 2002 Charge and considers these
plans complete, » :

12 Disconﬁhued Products |

The Company discontinued ‘the sale of its fully guaranteed large case pension products (single-premium
annuities (““SPAs”) and guaranteed investment contracts (““GICs”)) in 1993. Under the Company’s
accounting for these discontinued products, a reserve for anticipated future losses from these products was
established and is reviewed by management quarterly. As long as the reserve continues to represent
management’s then best estimate of expected future losses, results of operations of the discontinued
products, including net realized capital gains and losses, are credited /charged to the reserve and do not affect
the Company’s results of operations. The Company’s results of operations would be adversely affected to the
extent that future losses on the products are greater than anticipated and positively affected to the extent
future losses are less than anticipated. The current reserve reflects management’s best estimate of anticipated
future losses. )

The factors contributing to changes in the reserve for anticipated future losses are: operating income or loss,
realized capital gains or losses and mortality gains or losses. Operating income or loss is equal to revenue less
expenses. Realized capital gains or losses reflect the excess (deficit) of sales price over (below) the carrying
value of assets sold. Mortality gains or losses reflect the mortality and retirement experience related to SPAs.
A mortality gain (loss) occurs when an annuitant or a beneficiary dies sooner (later) than expected. A
retirement gain (loss) occurs when an annuitant retires later (earlier) than expected.

At the time of discontinuance, a receivable from Large Case Pensions’ continuing products equivalent to the
net present value of the anticipated cash flow shortfalls was established for the discontinued products. Interest
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on the receivable is accrued at the discount rate that was used to calculate the reserve. The offsetting payable,
on which interest is similarly accrued, is reflected in continuing products. Interest on the payable generally
offsets the investment income on the assets available to fund the shortfall. At December 31, 2003, the
receivable from continuing products, net of related deferred taxes payable of $106 million on the accrued
interest income, was $375 million. At December 31, 2002, the receivable from continuing products, net of
the related deferred taxes payable of $96 million on the accrued interest income, was $357 million. These
amounts were eliminated in consolidation.

Results of discontinued products were as follows (pretax):

Charged
(Credited)
to Reserve for

(Millions ) Results Future Losses Net(1)
2003
Net investment income $334.6 $ — $334.6
Net realized capital gains 111.3 (111.3) —
Interest earned on receivable from continuing products 28.3 — 28.3
Other income 36.9 — 36.9

Total revenue 511.1 (111.3) 399.8
Current and future benefits 373.1 21.6 394.7
Operating expenses 5.1 — 5.1

Total benefits and expenses 378.2 21.6 399.8
Results of discontinued products $132.9 $(132.9) § —
2002
Net investment income , $375.2 8 — $375.2
Net realized capital losses (57.5) 57.5 —
Interest earned on receivable from continuing products 26.8 — 26.8
Other income 28.4 — 28.4

Total revenue ‘ 3729 57.5 430.4
Current and future benefits 393.9 23.8 417.7
Operating expenses 12.7 — 12.7

Total benefits and expenses 406.6 23.8 430.4
Results of discontinued products $(33.7) $ 337 8 —
2001 .
Net investment income $397.6 $ — $397.6
Net realized capital gains : 18.9 (18.9) —_
Interest earned on receivable from continuing products 27.2 —_ 27.2
Other income 32.2 — 32.2

Total revenue : 475.9 (18.9) 457.0
Current and future benefits 423.7 21.1 444.8
Operating expenses 12.2 — 12.2

Total benefits and expenses . 435.9 21.1 457.0
Results of discontinued products , $ 40.0 $ (40.0) § —

(1) Amounts are reflected in the 2003, 2002 and 2001 Consolidated Statements of Income, except for interest
earned on the receivable from continuing products, which was eliminated in consolidation.

Net realized capital gains (losses) from the sale of bonds supporting discontinued products were
$83 million, $(82) million and $46 million (pretax) for 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
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Assets and liabilities supporting discontinued* product.s at December 31 were as follows: (1)

(Millions) . 2003 2002
Assets: - - . :
Debt securities available for sale $3,427.1 $3,481.0
- Equity securities SR - ‘ 49.9 73.4
Mortgage loans 626.7 763.2
- Investment real estate 75.2 95.0
Loaned securities ‘ 180.2 167.1
Other investments (2) 553.7 505.7
Total investments . 4,912.8 5,085.4
Collateral received under securities loan agreements 184.0 170.8
Current and deferred income taxes 150.6 94.4
Receivable from continuing products (3) 481.4 453.1
Total assets $5,728.8  $5,803.7
Liabilities: . . - »
Future policy benefits $4,217.9 . $4,361.1
Policyholders’ funds 35.2 82.9
Reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products 1,035.8 902.9
Collateral payable under securities loan agreements 184.0 170.8
Other liabilities 255.9 286.0
Total liabilities | ' $5,728.8  $5,803.7

(1) Assets supporting the discontinued products are distinguished from assets supporting continuing products.

(2) Includes debt securities on deposit as required by regulatory authorities of $121.8 million and $68.3 million at
December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. These securities are considered restricted assets and were included
in long-term investments on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. |

{3) The receivable from continuing products is eliminated in consolidation.

At December 31,‘ 2003 and 2002, net unrealized capital gains on available-for-sale debt securities are
included above in other liabilities and are not reflected in consolidated shareholders’ equity. The reserve for
anticipated future losses is included in future policy benefits on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products represents the present value (at the risk-
free rate at the time of discontinuance, consistent with the duration of the liabilities ) of the difference between
the expected cash flows from the assets supporting discontinued products and the cash flows expected to be
required to meet the obligations of the outstanding contracts. Calculation of the reserve for anticipated future
losses requires projection of both the amount and the timing of cash flows over approximately the next
30 years, including consideration of, among other things, future investment results, participant withdrawal
and mortality rates and the cost of asset management and customer service. Since 1993, there have been no
significant changes to the assumptions underlying the calculation of the reserve related to the projection of the
amount and timing of cash flows.

The projection of future investment results considers assumptions for interest rates, bond discount rates and
performance of mortgage loans and real estate. Morigage loan assumptions represent management’s best
estimate of current and future levels of rent growth, vacancy and expenses based upon market conditions at
each reporting date. The performance of real estate assets has been consistently estimated using the most
recent forecasts available. Since 1997, a bond default assumption has been included to reflect historical
default experience, since the bond portfolio increased as a percentage of the overall investment portfolio and
reflected more bond credit risk, concurrent with the decline in the commercial mortgage loan and real estate
portfolios.

The previous years’ actual parficipant withdrawal experience is used for the current year assumption. Prior to
1995, the Company used the 1983 Group Annuitant Mortality table published by the Society of Actuaries
(the “Society” ). In 1995, the Society published the 1994 Uninsured Pensioner’s Mortality table which the
Company has used since then.
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The Company’s assumptions about the cost of asset management and customer service reflect actual
investment and general expenses allocated over invested assets.

The activity in the reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products was as follows (pretax):

(Millions)

Reserve at December 31, 2000 $ 999.4
Operating income 3.2
Net realized capital gains 18.9
Mortality and other 17.9
Reserve reduction (94.5)
Reserve at December 31, 2001 944.9
Operating income 8.2
Net realized capital losses (57.5)
Mortality and other 15.6
Reserve reduction . (8.3)
Reserve at December 31, 2002 902.9
Operating loss (3.3)
Net realized capital gains 111.3
Mortality and other 24.9
Reserve reduction -

Reserve at December 31, 2003 $1,035.8

Management reviews the adequacy of the reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products
quarterly. The reserve was found to be adequate, and no release or charge was required during 2003. A
review in the second quarter of 2002 resulted in the release of $8 million ($5 million after tax) of the
reserve primarily due to favorable mortality and retirement experience and certain reductions in administra-
tive expenses, parlially offset by lower portfolio returns. For 2001, $95 million (861 million after tax) of
the reserve was released primarily due to favorable investment performance that included equity gains and
mortgage loan prepayment penalty income, as well as favorable mortality and retirement experience. The
current reserve reflects management’s best estimate of anticipated future losses.

The anticipated run off of the December 31, 2003 reserve balance (assuming that assets are held until
maturity and that the reserve run off is proportional to the liability run off) is as follows:

(Millions )

2004 $ 36.7
2005 37.3
2006 - 37.3
2007 37.4
2008 37.9
2009 - 2013 192.0
2014 - 2018 179.2
2019 - 2023 _ 151.3
2024 - 2028 117.3
Thereafter 209.4

The expected (as of December 31, 1993) and actual liability balances for the GIC and SPA liabilities at
December 31 are as follows:

: Expected Actual
(Millions) GIC SPA GIC SPA
2001 $352.9 $4,238.9 $261.5 $4,512.6
2002 169.5 4,114.6 82.9 4,361.1
2003 51.7 3,984.7 35.2 4,217.9

76




The GIC balances were lower than expected in each period as several contract holders redeemed their
contracts prior to contract maturity. The SPA balances in each period were higher than expected because of

additional amounts received under existing contracts.

13. Income Taxes

Income taxes (benefits) consist of the following:

(Millions) 2003 2002 2001
Current taxes (benefits):

Federal $352.4 $216.6 "$(43.9)
State 44.6 (22.8) 30.3
Total current taxes {benefits) 397.0 193.8 (13.6)

Deferred taxes (benefits):

Federal 94.6 (43.1y  (74.7)
State 16.2 9 1.1
Total deferred income taxes (benefits) 110.8 (42.2) (73.6)
Total income taxes (benefits) $507.8 $151.6 - $(87.2)

Income taxes were different from the amount computed by applying the federal income tax rate to income

before income taxes as follows:

(Millions) 2003 2002 2001
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes $1,441.6  $544.8 $(378.7)
Tax rate : - 35% 35% 35%
Application of the tax rate 504.6 190.7 (132.5)
Tax effect of:
Tax-exempt interest (10.1) (10.5) (10.3)
Goodwill amortization and write-off —_ — 66.9
State income taxes 39.5 (14.2) 20.4
Sale of subsidiaries — — (11.6)
Tax credits (22.5) (18.5) (17.1)
Other, net (3.7) 4.1 (3.0)
Income taxes (benefits) $ 507.8 $151.6 § (87.2)
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The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to deférred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities at
December 31 are as follows:

(Millions) ) 2003 2002
Deferred tax assets:
Reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products $190.7 $ 176.2
Employee and post-retirement benefits (including minimum pension liability) 381.0 552.4
Severance and facilities reserve 9.8 54.4
Deferred income 36.8 20.5
Expenses not currently deductible 1.7 21.0
Allowance for doubtful accounts 9.5 6.4
Deferred policy costs 39.6 37.4
Investments, net : 107.6 97.1
Net operating loss carry forwards 34.2 33.9
Insurance reserves 80.0 86.7
Physician Class Action Settlement 40.4 —_
Other .2 18.8
Total gross assets 931.5 1,104.8
Less: valuation allowance 34.2 33.9
Assets, net of valuation allowance 897.3 1,070.9
Deferred tax liabilities:
Amortization of goodwill and other acquired intangible assets 74.0 103.0
Accumulated other comprehensive income 159.1 153.4
Depreciation and amortization 49.8 2.6
Other .8 28.1
Total gross liabilities ‘ 283.7 287.1
Net deferred tax asset $613.6(1) & 783.8(1)

(1) Includes $217.6 million and $311.3 million classified as current assets in 2003 and 2002, respectively, and
$396.0 million and $472.5 million classified as noncurrent assets in 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Valuation allowances are provided when it is considered unlikely that deferred tax assets will be realized.
Management believes that it is more likely than not that the Company will realize its net deferred tax asset of
$614 million, net of a valuation allowance of $34 million. The valuation allowance is principally on acquired
net operating losses and state net operating losses, which are subject to limitations as to future utilization. The
Company has recognized $454 million of net deferred tax assets on Aetna Life Insurance Company (which is
not consolidated for tax purposes) and $160 million on the remaining consolidated group. Management’s
beliefs are based on historic and anticipated taxable income for each group. However, the amount of the
deferred tax asset considered realizable could be adjusted in the future if estimates of taxable income are
revised.

The ‘““Policyholders’ Surplus Account’™, which arose under prior tax law, is generally that portion of a life
insurance company’s statutory income that has not been subject to taxation. As of December 31, 1983, no
further additions could be made to the Policyholders’ Surplus Account for tax return purposes under the
Deficit Reduction Act of 1984. The balance in such account was $918 million at December 31, 2003,
adjusted for Internal Revenue Service (the ““Service” ) audits finalized to date. This amount would be taxed
only under certain conditions. No income taxes have been provided on this amount, since management
believes under current tax law the conditions under which such taxes would become payable are remote.

In 2003, the Service completed its fieldwork for the audit of the Company’s predecessor’s (“‘former
Aetna”) 1998 through 2000 (prior to December 13, 2000) and the Company’s 2000 (subsequent to
December 13, 2000) through 2001 returns. The Company has received proposed adjustments for these
years and has reached tentative agreement on various issues. The Company continues to work with the
Service to resolve remaining issues related to such proposed adjustments.




In 2002, the Service completed its audit of the consolidated federal incorr;e tax returns of former Aetna and
its affiliates for the years 1979 through 1983. The Service is presently completing its audit of former Aetna’s
1984 through 1997 returns. As a result of these audits, the Service proposed certain adjustments. The
majority of these adjustments were agreed to by the Company, and as a result, in 2002 the Company reduced
liabilities held for potential tax exposure by $50 million for federal taxes associated with the discontinued
Property and Casualty insurance operations and by $25 million related to its acquisition of U.S. Healthcare,
Inc. in 1996, which was credited to goodwill. In addition, several state audits were also completed during
2001, resulting in the reduction of related liabilities by $20 million.

The Company believes that it has established adeéquate reserves for additional taxes and interest that may
result from the ultimate resolution of the audits noted above. These reserves will be reduced as necessary
upon final resolution of agreements tentatively reached with the Service.

The Company paid (received refunds of) net income taxes of $488 million, $(65) million and
$106 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

14. Benefit Plans
Defined Benefit Pension Plans

The Company’s noncontributory defined benefit pension plans cover substantially all of its employees.
Effective January 1, 1999, the Company, in conjunction with former Aetna, changed the formula from the
previous final average pay formula to a cash balance formula, which will credit-employees annually with an
amount equal to a percentage of eligible pay based on age and years of service, as well as an interest credit
based on individual account balances. The formula also provides for a transition period until December 31,
2006, which allows certain employees to receive vested benefits at the higher of the previous final average
pay or cash balance formula. For employees hired after January 1, 2002, the Company changed the cash
balance formula to provide greater initial credits and make the benefit less dependent on length of service.
Existing employees will receive the larger of the pension credit under the previous formula or this new
formula. These changes did not have a material effect on the Company’s results  of operations, liquidity or
financial condition.

Components ‘of the net periodic benefit income (cost) of the Company’s noncontributory defined benefit
pension plan for the years ended December 31, were as follows: ‘ ' ‘

(Millions) _ _ 2003 2002 2001
Service cost . , $ (74.8) 8§ (74.3) 8§ (82.0)
Interest cost ‘ (258.5)  (259.9) (263.8)
Expected return on plan assets 255.4 295.6 375.4
Amortization of prior service cost ) (4.6) © (4.0) (4.5)
Recognized net actuarial gain (loss) (76.0) (6.9) 11.9
Net periodic benefit income (cost $(158.5) & (49.5) 8§ 37.0

Weighted average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost for the years ended December 31,
were as follows:

2003 2002 2001

Weighted average discount rate 6.75% 7.50% 71.75%
Expected return on plan assets . : 9.00% 9.25% 9.25%
Rate of compensation increase , . 3.75% 4.50% 4.75%
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As of the measurement date (September 30 ), the status of the ‘Company’s defined benefit pension plans was
as follows:

(Millions) 2003 2002
Projected benefit obligation, beginning of year $3,945.7 $§ 3,580.6
Service cost ‘ 74.8 74.3
Interest cost 258.6 259.9
Actuarial loss 268.0 261.2
Benefits paid (244.2) (230.3)
Projected benefit obligation, end of year $4,302.9 § 3,945.7
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year $2,943.2 $ 3,301.5
Actual return on plan assets 534.5 (246.3)
Employer contributions 261.0 118.3
Benefits paid (244.2) (230.3)
Fair value of plan assets, end of year , $3,494.5 § 2,943.2
Fair value of plan assets less than projected benefit obligation $ (808.4) $(1,002.5)
Unrecognized net loss 1,136.5 1,230.7
Unrecognized prior service cost 40.8 41.5
Net amount recognized $ 3689 § 269.7
Amounts recognized in the statement of financial position consist of:

Accrued pension liability $(751.2) $ (934.5)
Intangible asset 37.9 42.4
Accumulated other comprehensive income 1,082.2 1,161.8
Net amount recognized $ 3689 § 269.7

Weighted average assumptions used to determine projected benefit obligations at September 30, were as
follows:

2003 2002
Weighted average discount rate 6.25% 6.75%
Rate of compensation increase 3.25% 3.75%

For 2003 and 2002, the Company’s defined benefit plans had accumulated benefit obligations of
approximately $4.3 billion and $3.9 billion, respectively.

The defined benefit pension plan asset allocation as of the measurement date (September 30) and the target
asset allocation, presented as a percentage of total plan assets, were as follows:

Target
2003 2002 Allocation
Debt securities 26%  34% 20%-30%
Equity securities 66 56 60%-70%
Real estate/other 8 10 6%-15%

Total 100% 100%

The Company’s defined benefit plan invests in a diversified mix of traditional asset classes. Investments in
U.S. and foreign equity securities, fixed income securities, real estate and cash are made to maximize long-
term returns while recognizing the need for adequate liquidity to meet on-going benefit and administrative
obligations. Risk tolerance of unexpected investment and actuarial outcomes is continually evaluated by
understanding the pension plan’s liability characteristics. This is performed through forecasting and assessing
ranges of investment outcomes over short and long-term horizons, and by assessing the Company’s financial
condition and its future potential obligations from both the pension and general corporate requirements.
Complementary investment styles, such as growth and value equity invesling techniques, are utilized by
multiple investment advisors to further improve portfolio and operational risk characteristics. Equity
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investments, both active and passively managed, are used primarily to increase overall plan returns. Real
estate investments are viewed favorably for their diversification benefits and above-average dividend
generation. Fixed income investments provide diversification benefits and liability hedging attributes that are
desirable, especially in falling interest rate environments.

Asset allocations and investment performance is formally reviewed quarterly by the plan’s Investment
Oversight Committee. Forecasting of asset and liability growth is performed at least annually. More thorough
analysis of assels and liabilities are also performed periodically.

The expected long-term rate of return is estimated based on many factors including the expected forecast for
inflation, risk premiums for each asset class, expected asset allocation, current and future financial market
conditions, and diversification and rebalancing strategies. Historical return patterns and correlations,
consensus return forecasts and other relevant financial factors are analyzed to check for reasonability and
appropriateness.

The Company does not have any regulatory contribution requirements for 2004, however the Company

currently intends to make voluntary contributions to the defined benefit pension plan of $245 million in
2004. '

Other Post-Retirement Benefit Plans

In addition to providing pension benefits, the Company currently provides certain health care, dental and life
insurance benefits for retired employees, including those of former Aetna. A comprehensive medical plan is
offered to all full-time employees, who terminate employment at age 45 or later with 10 or more years of
service. The Company provides subsidized benefits to certain employees as of December 31, 2002 whose
sum of age and service is at least equal to 65 (due to a plan amendment, employees hired after January 1,
2002 and all employees under the age of 35 at that date are not eligible for subsidized retiree health
benefits). There is a cap on the portion of the cost paid by the Company relating to medical and dental
benefits. The plan assets are held in trust and the plan is administered by ALIC.

In January 2003, the Company amended the post-retirement medical and dental plans. Beginning January 1,
2004, the Company has begun to phase-out the retiree medical subsidy for active employees (and eligible
dependents) who terminate employment after December 31, 2003, The subsidy will decrease 25% each
year until it is eliminated for employees terminating employment on or after January 1, 2007. The 2003
amendment also included the elimination of the retiree dental subsidy for active employees who terminate
employment on or after January 1, 2003. As a result of these plan amendments announced in January of
2003, the Company recorded a curtailment benefit of approximately $34 million pretax in 2003. In January
2004, the Company made an additional plan amendment to eliminate the dental subsidy for all retirees. As a
result of this 2004 amendment, the Company expects to record a curtailment benefit of approximately
$32 million pretax in the first quarter of 2004. Current retirees and employees who terminate employment at
age 45 or later with at least 10 years of service are eligible to participate in the Company’s group health plans
at their own cost.

On December 8, 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (the
“Act”) was signed into law. The Act expands Medicare, primarily by adding a voluntary prescription drug
benefit for Medicare eligible individuals starting in 2006. The Act provides employers currently sponsoring
prescription drug programs for Medicare eligible individuals with a range of options for coordinating with the
new government-sponsored program to potentially reduce program cost. These options include supplement-
ing the government program on a secondary payer basis or accepting a direct subsidy from the government to
support a portion of the cost of the employer’s program.

As the Act was signed into law after the Company’s measurement date (September 30, 2003), any potential
financial impact of the Act is not reflected in 2003 results of operations. FASB Staff Position 106-1 allows
the Company to begin recognizing any potential impact of the Act in the first quarter 2004 financial
statements or to defer recognizing the potential impact until more definitive accounting guidance is provided.
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The Company is currently reviewing this matter and has not yet decided whether or not it will defer
recognition.

Components of the net periodic benefit cost of the Company’s other post-retirement plans for the years ended
December 31, were as follows:

(Millions) 20063 2002 2001
Service cost ’ 8 (3) % (7.8) % (6.7)
Interest cost (28.2) (31.8) (31.7)
Expected return on plan assets 3.6 4.8 4.8
Curtailment benefit ' 34.0(1) 11.8(2) —
Amortization of prior service cost 1.5 4.4 15.7
Recognized net actuarial gain — — 3
Net periodic benefit income {cost) $ 10.6 $(18.6) $(17.6)

(1) Reflects plan amendments related to the phase-out of the retiree medical subsidy for certain employees and
elimination of the retiree dental subsidy for certain employees as discussed in more detail above.

(2) Reflects a plan amendment, effective January 1, 2002, whereby the Company no longer provides subsidized
benefits to employees who had not reached age 35 by this date.

Weighted average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost of the Company’s other post-
retirement plans for the years ended December 31, are as follows:

2003 2002 2001

Weighted average discount rate 6.75% 7.50% 7.75%
Expected return on plan assets 7.00% 7.00%  7.00%

As of the measurement date (September 30), the status of the Company’s post-retirement benefit plans
{ other than pensions) was as follows:

(Millions) 2003 2002
Accumulated benefit obligation, beginning of year $541.2 84699
Service cost 3 7.8
Interest cost 28.1 31.8
Actuarial loss 50.8 71.8
Curtailment benefit (98.4) (1.4)
Benefits paid (44.2) (38.7)
Accumulated benefit obligation, end of year $477.8 8541.2
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year $ 76.8 § 78.2
Actual return on plan assets 3.6 —
Employer contribution - 43.7 37.3
Benefits paid (44.2) (38.7)
Fair value of plan assets, end of year $ 79.9 § 76.8
Accumulated benefit obligation in excess of fair value of plan assets $397.9  $464.4
Unrecognized net gain (loss) (65.7)  (96.6)
Prior service cost 10.2 29.0
Accrued post-retirement benefit costs $342.4  $396.8

Weighted average discount rate assumptions used to determine accumulated benefit obligations at Septem-

ber 30, 2003 and 2002 were 6.25% and 6.75%, respectively.

The health care cost trend rate for the 2003 valuation decreased gradually from 8.0% for pre-65 and 10.0%
for post-65 for 2004 to 5.0% by the year 2007 for pre-65 and 5.0% by the year 2009 for post-65. For the
2002 valuation, the rates decreased gradually from 9.0% for pre-65 and 11.0% for post-65 for 2003 to
5.0% by the year 2007 for pre-65 and 2009 for post-65. This assumption reflects the Company’s historical
as well as expected future trend rates. In addition, trend assumption reflects factors specific to the Company’s
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retiree medical plan, such as plan design, cost-sharing provisions, benefits covered, and the presence of
subsidy caps.

A one-percentage-point change (increase or decrease) in assumed health care cost trend rates would have
the following effects:

(Millions) . Increase Decrease
Effect on total of service and interest cost components $ 9 $ (.8)
Effect on post-retirement benefit obligation 14.7 (13.0)

The asset allocation of the other post-retirement benefit plan as of the measurement date {September 30)
and the target asset allocation, presented as a percentage of total plan assets, were as follows:

Target
2003 2002 Allocation
Debt securities . : 88% 89% 85% -95%
Fquity securities ' 9 7 5% - 15%
Real estate /other ' ) 3 4 2% - 10%

Total , - 100% 100%

The Company has several benefit plans for retired employees currently supported by these plan assets.
Investments are directly and indirectly invested in a diversified mix of traditional assets classes, primarily
high-quality fixed income securities.

The expected long-term rate of return for post-retirement plan assets is estimated based on many factors
including the expected forecast for inflation, risk premiums for each asset class, expected asset allocation,
current and future financial market conditions, and diversification and rebalancing strategies. Historical
return patterns and correlations, consensus return forecasts and other relevant financial factors are analyzed
to check for reasonability and appropriateness.

Incentive Savings Plans — Substantially all of the Company’s employees are eligible to participate in a
savings plan under which designated contributions, which may be invested in common stock of the Company
or certain other investments, are matched by the Company. On January 1, 2002, the Company changed its
match to 50% of the first 6% of eligible pay contributed to the plan. Prior to January 1, 2002, the Company
provided for a match of up to 100% on the first 5% of eligible pay contributed. Effective January 2003,
matching contributions by the Company are made in cash and invested according to each participant’s
investment elections. For the period August 2001 through December 2002, matching contributions by the
Company were made in Aetna Common Stock instead of being contributed in cash. In addition, the plan
provides for an annual performance-based contribution by the Company of up to 3% of eligible pay (up to a
maximum of $6,000), provided the Company exceeds specified performance targets for the year. The
performance-based contribution may be made in cash, stock, or a combination of both at the election of the
Company. Based on the Company’s results for 2003 and 2002, performance-based contributions of 3% of
eligible pay (up to a maximum of $6,000) were contributed by the Company for 2003 and 2002. The costs
to the Company associated with these plans, including the performance-based contributions for 2003 and
2002, were $75 million, $79 million and $65 million for 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The plan
trustee held 5.0 million, 5.4 million and 5.2 million shares of the Company’s common stock for plan
participants at December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Stock-Based Employee Incentive Plans

Stock-based Employee Incentive Plans — The Company’s Stock-based Employee Incentive Plans (the
“Plans’) provide for stock option awards (see ‘‘Stock Options™ below), deferred contingent common stock
(see “‘Performance Units” below), resiricted stock awards to employees and the ability for employees to
purchase common stock at a discount. At December 31, 2003, 17.3 million shares were available for grant
under the Plans. '
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Stock Options — Executive, middle management and non-management employees may be granted options to
purchase common stock of the Company at or above the market price on the date of grant. Options generally
become 100% vested three years after the grant is made, with one-third of the options vesting each year.
From time to time, the Company has issued options with different vesting provisions (Refer to Note 16).
Vested options may be exercised at any time during the 10 years after grant, except in certain circumstances,
generally related to employment termination or retirement. At the end of the 10-year period, any unexercised
options expire. '

The Company’s stock option transactions are as follows:

2003 2002 2001

Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Number Exeércise Number Exercise Number Exercise

of Shares Price of Shares Price of Shares Price
Ouistanding, beginning of year 28,277,951 $32.55 32,256,675 $30.72 31,709,870 $30.42
Granted 5,310,121 $42.42 5,280,044 $36.28 5,299,825 $28.21
Exercised . (9.595,970) $31.58 (8,393,059) $27.82 (3,558,748) $22.90
Expired or forfeited (1,162,245) $38.21 (865,709) $31.77 (1,194,272) $34.91
Qutstanding, end of year 22,829,857 $34.96 28,277,951 $32.55 32,256,675 $30.72

Options exercisable, end of

year 14,994,262 832.40 20,535,382 832.21 26,126,828 $31.23

The following is a summary of information regarding options outstanding and options exercisable at

December 31, 2003:

Options OQutstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted

Average Weighted Weighted
Remaining Average Average
Range of Exercise Number Contractual Exercise Number Exercise

Prices Outstanding Life (Years) Price Exercisable Price
$13.70 - $20.55 1,163,707 5.5 $19.73 1,163,707 $19.73
$20.55 - $27.40 5,705,461 5.9 $25.17 5,688,794 825.17
$27.40 - 834.25 1,345,438 4.5 $32.00 1,148,601 $32.40
$34.25 - 841.10 5,681,250 7.0 $35.94 2,861,110 $35.99
$41.10 - 847.94 8,302,512 6.8 $42.24 3,765,492 $42.60
$47.94 - $54.79 495,439 4.8 $51.18 366,558 $52.07
$54.79 - $61.64 100,000 9.5 $59.24 — $ —
$61.64 - $68.49 36,050 9.6 $63.55 — 8 —
22,829,857 6.4 $34.96 14,994,262 $32.40

Performance Units — During 2002 and 2001, the Company granted performance stock units to certain
executives as part of a long-term incentive program. The value of the performance stock units is equal to the
Company’s stock price, although the units are not actual shares of stock and do not pay dividends (but may
be paid in shares of stock or cash, except as discussed below). The performance stock units granted in 2002
and 2001 were established with the ability to vest as early as December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002,
respectively, (‘“‘accelerated vesting”’) if the Company met or exceeded performance goals set by the Board of
Directors. The determination of whether or not performance goals were achieved was made by the Board of
Director’s Committee on Compensation and Organization. The number of vested performance stock units at
the end of each performance measurement period was dependent upon the degree to which the Company
achieved the performance goals. The vesting could go as high as 200% of target for 2002 and 2001 grants,
if operating earnings, as defined, were 25% above performance goals, In 2003 and 2002, the Board of
Director’s Committee on Compensation and Organization determined that accelerated vesting at 200% of
target applied to grants made in 2002 and 2001 respectively, as the Company exceeded performance goals
set by the Board of Directors. Accordingly, the Company recognized all remaining compensation expense
associated with these grants in 2003 and 2002, respectively. Distributions to participants occurred after
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approval by the Board of Director’s Committee on Compensation and O;ganization in the first quarter of
2004, for 2002 grants, and in the first quarter of 2003, for 2001 grants. ’

The Company’s performance and incentive unit transactions are as follows:

Number of Incentive Units

2003 2002 2001
Outstanding, beginning of year 466,400 442,325 —
Granted —_— 531,140 444,250
Vested (463,400) (482,665) —
Expired or forfeited (3,000) (24,400) (1,925)
Outstanding, end of year — 466,400 442,325

The weighted-average grant date fair values for incentive units granted in 2002 and 2001 were $46.48 and
$26.55, respectively.

The costs to the Company associated with the Company’s performance and incentive units for 2003, 2002
and 2001 were $60 million, $39 million and $2 million, respectively.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan — The Company’s shareholders approved the Aetna Inc. Employee Stock
Purchase Plan (the “ESPP’’) at the Company’s Annual Meeting on April 26, 2002. At December 31,
2003, 6.2 million of the Company’s common shares were reserved for issuance in accordance with the
ESPP’s provisions. All employees of the Company are eligible to participate in the ESPP if employed
immediately prior to the first day of the offering period. Employees may contribute a percentage of their base
salary through payroll deductions. Contributions are accumulated for a six-month period and used to
purchase stock at the end of the offering period (the ““Purchase Date”). On the Purchase Date, stock is
purchased for all participating employees based on the contributions accumulated (subject to a $25,000
annual limit per employee). The purchase price of the stock is based on a discounted percentage (such
discount may not exceed 15%) of the lesser of the stock price at the beginning or the end of the offering
period. A six-month accumulation period commenced on January 3, 2003 and ended on June 20, 2003.
The purchase price for this offering was at a 10% discount from the lesser of the stock’s fair market value on
January 3, 2003 or June 20, 2003. In June 2003, approximately 97,000 shares of common stock were
purchased under the ESPP at the purchase price of $38.10 per share. On July 3, 2003, another six-month
accumulation period commenced. This accumulation period ended on December 19, 2003 and the purchase
price for this offering was at a 10% discount from the lesser of the stock’s fair market value on July 3, 2003
or December 19, 2003. In December 2003, approximately 112,000 shares of common stock were
purchased under the ESPP at the purchase price of $55.77 per share.

15. Debt
The carrying value of long-term debt at December 31, was as follows:
(Millions) 2003 2002
Long-term debt:
Senior notes, 7.375% due 2006 $ 4494 § 449.1
Senior notes, 7.875% due 2011 447.3 446.9
Senior notes, 8.50% due 2041 717.0 737.2
Total $1,613.7 $1,633.2

In February 2001, the Company filed a shelf registration statement with the Securities and Exchange
Commission to sell debt securities, from time to time, up to a total of $2 billion, with the amount, price and
terms to he determined at the time of the sale. In March 2001, the Company issued $900 million of senior
notes under this shelf registration statement consisting of $450 million of 7.375% senior notes due in 2006
and $450 million of 7.875% senior notes due in 201 1. In June 2001, the Company issued, under this shelf
registration statement, an additional $700 million of 8.5% senior notes due in 2041 (Refer to Note 8 for
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information on the Company’s interest rate swap agreements dnd effective interest rate for 2003 relating to
these senior notes).

During 2003, there were no short-term borrowings outstanding. The Company’s short-term borrowings
consist of a commercial paper program that relies on backup revolving credit facilities, which together provide
for an aggregate borrowing capacity of $800 million. The Company’s credit facilities consist of a
$300 million credit facility which terminates in November 2004 and a $500 million credit facility which
terminates in November 2005. Various interest rate options are available under these facilities. Any revolving
borrowings mature on the termination date of the applicable credit facility, however the Company may
convert any amounts oulstanding under the $300 million facility when it terminates into a term loan that
matures in November 2005 upon the satisfaction of certain conditions. The Company pays facility fees on
each facility ranging from .08% to .5% per annum, depending upon iis long-term senior unsecured debt
rating. The facility fee at December 31, 2003 is at an annual rate of .15% for the credit facility terminaling
in 2004 and .23% for the credit facility terminating in 2005.

The Company’s revolving credit iacilities contain financial covenants. Under the terms of these facilities, the
Company is required to maintain a minimum level of shareholders’ equity, excluding net unrealized capital
gains and losses, as of each fiscal quarter end. The required minimum level is increased by 50% of the
Company’s consolidated net income each quarter beginning with the quarter ending March 31, 2003, and is
decreased by up to $150 million for certain non-recurring after-tax charges (“‘excluded charges ) taken
after September 30, 2002 and on or before December 31, 2003. At December 31, 2003 and 2002, the
Company met its required minimum level of approximately $5.4 billion and $5.0 billion, respectively. The
Company is also required to maintain its ratio of total debt to consolidated earnings as of each fiscal quarter
end at or below 3.0. For this purpose, consolidated earnings equals, for the period of four consecutive
quarters, net income plus interest expense, income tax expense, depreciation expense, amortization expense,
certain excluded charges taken on or before December 31, 2003 and any extraordinary gains or losses. The
Company met this requirement at December 31, 2003.

Total interest paid by the Company was $104 million, $119 millica and $118 million in 2003, 2002 and
2001, respectively.

16. Capital Stock

On January 30, 2004, the Board of Directors’ Committee on Compensation and Organization approved a
grant to employees of approximately 3.6 million stock options to purchase common shares of the Company at
877.50. The January 30, 2004 grants will be 100% vested by December 31, 2004. On February 27,
2003, the Board of Directors’ Committee on Compensation and Organization approved a grant to employees
of approximately 5 million stock options to purchase common shares of the Company at $41.88 per share.
The February 27, 2003 grants will become 100% vested three years from the grant date, with one-third of
the options vesting each vear. During 2003, the Company issued approximately 10.2 million shares of
common stock for benefit plans, including approximately 9.6 million shares related to stock option exercises.

On September 26, 2003, the Board declared an annual cash dividend of $.04 per common share to
shareholders of record at the close of business on November 14, 2003. The dividend was paid on
December 1, 2003.

On June 28, 2002, the Board authorized a share repurchase program for the repurchase of up to 5 million
shares of common stock (not to exceed an aggregate purchase price of $250 million). Under this
authorization, the Company repurchased 4.8 million shares of common stock at a cost of $250 million
(3.3 million shares of common stock at a cost of $189 million were repurchased during the first six months
of 2003), completing this share repurchase program. On June 27, 2003, the Board authorized a new share
repurchase program for the repurchase of up to 7.5 million shares of common stock (not to exceed an
aggregate purchase price of $500 million). During the third and fourth quarters of 2003, the Company
repurchased 4.2 million shares of common stock at a cost of $249 million under this authorization. On
December 5, 2003, the Board authorized a new share repurchase program for the repurchase of up to

86




10 million shares of common stock (not to exceed an aggregate purchase price of $750 million), replacing
the June 27, 2003 authorization. During the fourth quarter of 2003, the Company repurchased .1 million
shares of common stock at a cost of $7 million under this authorization.

In addition to the capital stock disclosed on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, Aetna has authorized
7,625,000 shares of Class A voting preferred stock, $.01 par value per share. There are alse 68,875,839
undesignated shares that the Board has the power to divide into such classes and series, with such voting
rights, designations, preferences, limitations and special rights as the Board determines. At December 31,
2003, 34,519,478 common shares of Aetna were reserved for issuance under its stock option plans and
8,542,369 common shares were reserved for issuance under its incentive savings plan.

17. Dividend Restrictions and Shareholders® Equity

The Company’s business operations are conducted through subsidiaries that principally consist of HMOs and
insurance companies. In addition to general state law restrictions on payments of dividends and other
distributions to shareholders applicable to all corporations, HMOs and insurance companies are subject to
further state regulations that, among other things, may require such companies to maintain certain levels of
equity, and restrict the amount of dividends and other distributions that may be paid to their parent
corporations. These regulations generally are not directly applicable to Aetna, as a holding company, since it
is not an HMO or insurance company. The additional regulations applicable to Aetna’s HMO and insurance
company subsidiaries are not expected to affect Aetna’s ability to service its debt or to pay dividends or the
ability of any of Aetna’s subsidiaries to service its debt or other financing obligations, if any.

Under regulatory requirements, the amount of dividends that may be paid during 2004 to Aetna by its
domestic insurance and HMO subsidiaries without prior approval by state regulatory authorities as calculated
at December 31, 2003 is approximately $480 million in the aggregate. There are no such restrictions on
distributions from Aetna to its shareholders.

The combined statutory net income for the years ended and statutory surplus as of December 31 for the
domestic insurance and HMO subsidiaries of the Company, reflecting intercompany eliminations, were as
follows: ‘

(Millions) 2003 2002 2001

Statutory net income ‘ $1,047.3 ¢ 6892 & 209
Statutory surplus ' 3,806.0 3,606.7 3,598.6

18. Reinsurance

The Company utilizes. reinsurance agreements primarily to reduce its exposure to large losses in certain
aspects of its insurance business. These reinsurance agreements permit recovery of a portion of losses from
reinsurers, although they do not discharge the Company’s primary liability as direct insurer of the risks
reinsured. Failure of reinsurers to indemnify the Company could result in losses, however, management does
not expect charges for unrecoverable reinsurance to have a material effect on the Company’s results of
operations or financial position. The Company evaluates the financial condition of its reinsurers and monitors
concentrations of credit risk arising from similar geographic regions, activities or economic characteristics of
its reinsurers. As of December 31, 2003, reinsurance recoverables consisted primarily of amounts due from
third parties that maintain independent agency ratings that are consistent with those companies that are
considered to have a strong ability to meet their obligations.
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Earned premiums for the years ended December 31 were as*follows:

: Percentage
Ceded to Assumed of Amount
Direct Other from Other Net Assumed
(Millions) Amount Companies Companies Amount to Net
2003(1)
Accident and Health Insurance — HMO{(2) $10,053.2 8 — $ 1 $10,053.3 —%
Accident and Health Insurance — Other (3) 3,519.3 14.1 374 3.542.6 1.1%
Life Insurance 1,315.4 70.2 62.9 1,308.1 4.8%
Total premiums $14,887.9 $ 84.3 $ 100.4 $14,904.0 6%
2002 (1)
Accident and Health Insurance — HMO(2) $11.876.5 $ — 8 3.6 $11,880.1 —%
Accident and Health Insurance — Other(3) 3,482.3 28.8 67.0 3,520.5 1.9%
Life Insurance 1,318.7 68.7 62.1 1,312.1 4.7%
Total premiums $16,677.5 $ 97.5 8 132.7 $16,712.7 8%
2001(1)
Accident and Health Insurance — HMO(2) $16,210.6 g8 — $ 276.1 $16,486.7 1.7%
Accident and Health Insurance — Other(3) 3,121.3 43.7 702.6 3,780.2 18.6%
Life Insurance 1,547.6 98.9 56.4 1,505.1 3.7%
Total premiums $20,879.5 $142.6 $1,035.1 $21,772.0 4.8%

(1) Excludes intercompany transactions.
(2) Includes Commercial HMO (includes premiums related to POS members who access primary care physicians and
referred care through an HMO Network ), Medicare HMO and Medicaid HMO business.

(3) Includes all other Medical, Dental and Group Insurance products offered by the Company.

Prior to the Company’s 1999 acquisition of the Prudential health care business (*“PHC”) from The
Prudential Insurance Company of America (‘“‘Prudential”}, certain of PHC’s medical and dental contracts
were underwritten directly by Prudential and HMO coniracts were underwritten by Prudential’s HMO legal
entities. The Company acquired Prudential’s HMO legal entities, but did not acquire Prudential, the legal
entity that wrote certain of PHC’s medical and dental business. Concurrent with the acquisition, Aetna Life
Insurance Company entered into a reinsurance agreement (in the form of a coinsurance agreement) in order
to assume the business underwritten by Prudential (the “‘Coinsured Business™). In order to provide for an
orderly transition of the Coinsured Business to products underwritten by legal entities of the Company, the
terms of the coinsurance agreement permitted the Company to renew such business in Prudential’s name

until August 2001.

Effective November 1, 1999, the Company reinsured certain policyholder liabilities and obligations related to
paid-up group life insurance. Effective October 1, 1998, the Company reinsured certain policyholder
liabilities and obligations related to individual life insurance (in conjunction with former Aetna’s sale of this
business). These transactions were in the form of indemnity reinsurance arrangements, whereby the
assuming companies contractually assumed certain policyholder liabilities and obligations, although the
Company remains directly obligated o policyholders. The liability related to the Company’s obligation is
recorded in future policy benefits. Assets related to and supporting these policies were transferred to the
assuming companies, and the Company recorded a reinsurance recoverable. Reinsurance recoverables
related to these obligations were approximately $1.1 billion at December 31, 2003 and 2002 and
approximately $1.2 billion at December 31, 2001.

There is not a material difference between premiums on a written basis versus an earned basis. Reinsurance
recoveries were approximately $96 million, $120 million and $154 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively. At December 31, 2003, reinsurance recoverables with a carrying value of approximately
$1.1 billion were associated with three reinsurers.




19, Segment Information

Summarized financial information for the Company’s principal operations was as follows:

i Group Large Case  Corporate Total
2003 (Millions) Health Care Insurance  Pensions  Interest  Company
Revenues from external customers (1)} $15,098.1 ¢1,541.6 § 1765 $ — $16,816.2
Net investment income 244.6 268.7 581.7 . —  1,095.0
Total revenue excluding realized capital gains $15,342.7 $1,810.3 & 7582 & — $17,911.2
Interest expense $ — 8 — § — $1029 ¢ 1029
Amortization of other intangible assets b 50.8 & — 8 — % — 3 50.8
Income taxes (benefits) $§ 4615 % 612 § 21.1 §(36.0) $ 507.8
Operating earnings (losses) (2) % 8624 % 1348 3B 36.5 $(66.9) 8 966.8
Other item(3) (75.0) — C— — (75.0)
Realized capital. gains, net of tax ) 22.2 14.5 5.3 — 42.0
Net income (loss) $ 8096 $ 1493 $ 41.8 $(66.9) § 9338
Segment assets (4) $14,302.9 85,251.5 $21,3958 8 — $40,950.2
Eg)enditures for long-lived assets $ 1450 % — 8 — $ — 8 145.0

(1) Revenues from external customers include revenues earned from one major customer (the federal government )
amounting to 9.5% of total revenue from external customers.

(2) Operating earnings (loss) excludes net realized capital gains or losses and any other items as described below.
While operating earnings is the measure of profit or loss used by the Company s management when assessing
performance or making operating decisions, it does not replace net income (loss) as a measure of profitability.

(3) The other item excluded from operating earnings is the $75 million after-tax charge in the Health Care segment
related to the Physician Class Action Settlement (refer to Note 20 for additional information}).

(4) Large Case Pensions assets include $5.2 billion atiributable to discontinued products (excludes the receivable
from Large Case Pensions’ continuing products which is eliminated in consolidation).
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Grt;up Large Case Corporate Discontinued Total
2002 (Millions) Health Care Insurance Pensions Interest Operations Company

Revenues from external

customers (1) $16,858.3 $1,497.4 $ 2380 % — 8 — $18,593.7

Net investment income 295.7 269.5 685.5 — — 1,250.7
Total revenue excluding realized ' )

capital gains (losses) $17,154.0 81,7669 $ 9235 % — & — $19,844.4
Interest expense 8 — 8 — § —  $1195 3 — $ 1195
Amortization of other S : ‘

intangible assets $ 1308 § — 8 — % — 3 — $ .130.8
Income taxes (benefits) $ 1195 8 576 § 163 $(41.8) 8 — $ 151.6
Operating earnings (losses) from ’

continuing operations (2) $ - 3616 § 1422 § 242  $(77.7) $ — $ 450.3
Other items (3) (8l.6) = (3.2) 5.4 — —_ (79.4)
Realized capital gains (losses), ‘

net of tax 36.4 (14.0) (.1) — — 22.3
Income (loss) from continuing ’

operations 316.4 125.0 29.5 (77.7) . . — 393.2
Discontinued operations,

net of tax(4) o — — — — 50.0 50.0
Cumulative effect adjustment, :

net of tax (2,965.7) — — — — (2,965.7)
Net income (loss) $(2,649.3) § 1250 § 295 $(77.7) $50.0 $(2,522.5)
Segment assets (5) $13,805.6 $5,409.0 $20,832.9 § — & — $40,047.5
Expenditures for long-lived assets 8 396 § — 8 29 8§ — 5 — 5 42.5

(1) Revenues from external customers include revenues earned from one major customer (the federal government)
amounting to 9.4% of total revenue from external customers.

(2) Operating earnings (loss) from continuing operations is comprised of income (loss) from continuing operations
excluding net realized capital gains or losses, any other items described below and the cumulative effect
adjustment. While operating earnings is the measure of profit or loss used by the Company’s management when
assessing performance or making operating decisions, it does not replace net income (loss) as a measure of
profitability.

(3) The following other items were excluded from operating earnings (losses) from continuing operations: a
$19.8 million income tax benefit resulting from the release of state income tax related reserves in connection with
the favorable conclusion of several state tax audits in the Health Care segment, severance and facilities charges of
$104.6 million after tax consisting of $101.4 million after tax in the Health Care segment and $3.2 million after
tax in the Group Insurance segment and $5.4 million after tax from reductions of the reserve for anticipated future
losses on discontinued products in the Large Case Pensions segment.

(4) As discussed in more detail in Note 21, the Company released $50.0 million of federal income tax reserves
resulting from the resolution of several Internal Revenue Service audit issues during the first quarter of 2002 that
related to the property and casualty insurance business of one of Aetna’s predecessors, which was sold in 1996.

(5) Large Case Pensions assets include $5.4 billion attributable to discontinued products (excludes the receivable
from Large Case Pensions’ continuing products which is eliminated in consolidation).
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. Group Large Case Coiporate Discontinued Total

2001 (Millions) Health Care  Insurance Pensions Interest Operations Company

Revenues from external

customers (1) . $21,793.9 $1,4149 § 4743 § — $ —  $23,683.1
Net investment income 373.9 286.0 751.7 — — 1,411.6
Total revenue excluding realized

capital gains (losses) $22,167.8 $1,700.9 § 1,226.0 § — $ —  $25,094.7
Interest expense - 8 — % — % — $ 1428 8 — § 1428

Amortization of goodwill and other

intangible assets 3 4166 § — B — % — 8 — 8 -416.6
Income taxes (benefits) $ (1573)8 712 -8 489 § (50.0) % — 8§ (871.2)
Operating earnings (losses)

from continuing operations(2) 8§ (365.3) $ 160.1 § 316 $% (92.8) 8 — § (266.4)
Other items (3) (151.1) (9.0) - 61.4 — — - (98.7)
Realized capital gains (losses),

net of tax 77.4 3 (4.1) — — 73.6
Income (loss) from continuing

operations (439.0) 151.4 88.9 (92.8) — (291.5)
Discontinued operations, ‘

net of tax: ’

Reduction of the reserve for

sale and spin-off related . ‘

costs (4} —_ — — — 11.4 11.4
Cumulative effect adjustment,

net of tax D — — — — .5
Net income (loss) $ (4385) 8 151.4 & 889 § (928) % 114 8§ (279.6)
Segment assets(5) $16,593.4 $4,683.5 $21,919.8 8 — $ —  843,196.7
Expenditures for long-lived assets  $ 29.1 % — § 33.7 8 — $ — 8 62.8
(1) Revenues from external customers include revenues earned from one major customer (the federal government)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

amounting to 12.6% of total revenue from external customers.

Operating earnings (loss) from continuing operations is comprised of income (loss) from continuing operations
excluding net realized capital gains or losses, any other items described below and the cumulative effect
adjustment. While operating earnings is the measure of profit or loss used by the Company’s management when
assessing performance or making operating decisions, it does not replace net income (loss) as a measure of
profitability.

The following other items were excluded from operating earnings (losses) from continuing operations: a
$125.1 million afier-tax severance and facilities charge, $26.0 million after-tax charge for unfavorable reserve
developments related to exited Medicare markets in the Health Care segment, an after-tax charge of $9.0 million
for events of September 11, 2001 in the Group Insurance segment; and a $61.4 million after-tax benefit from
reductions of the reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products in the Large Case Pensions
segment.

As more fully described in Note 21, the Company recorded a reserve of approximately $174 million in 2000 for
net costs associated with the Company’s predecessor’s sale of certain businesses. In the fourth quarter of 2001,
the Company reduced the reserve for such costs by approximately $11 million.

Large Case Pensions assets include $5.6 billion attributable to discontinued products (excludes the receivable
from Large Case Pensions’ continuing products which is eliminated in consolidation).
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ol ' a
Revenues from external customers (all within the United States) by product were as follows:

(Millions) 2003 2002 2001

Health risk ‘ $13,236.8 $15,039.4  $19,972.5
Health ASC 1,861.3 1,818.9 1,821.4
Group life 1,150.3 1,097.0 1,056.1
Group disability 318.1 336.0 299.7
Group long-term care 73.2 64.4 59.1
Large case pensions 176.5 238.0 474.3
Total revenue from external customers $16,816.2 $18,593.7 $23,683.1

Long-lived assets, all within the United States, were $268 million and $245 million at December 31, 2003
and 2002, respectively.

20. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities

Guarantees
The Company has the following guarantee arrangements as of December 31, 2003.

Mortgage-Backed Securities Obligation — In June of 1992, the Company securitized 98 apartment mortgage
loans totaling $325 million into 21 FNMA (“Fannie Mae”) mortgage-backed securities (“MBS”’). The
Company subsequently sold those MBSs for cash. Fannie Mae required that the Company continue to retain a
portion of the risk of default of the underlying loans, and therefore the Company guaranteed the first
$59 million of such losses. As of December 2003, $48 million of the original mortgage loans were
outstanding. Therefore, the maximum exposure the Company had on its guarantee to Fannie Mae for loans
default, as of December 31, 2003 was $48 million. The Company has no recourse for this guarantee.

ASC Claim Funding Accounts — The Company has arrangements with certain banks for the processing of
claim payments for its ASC customers. The banks maintain accounts to fund ASC customer’s claims. The
customer is responsible to fund the amount paid by the bank each day. In these arrangeme'nts, the Company
guarantees that the banks will not sustain losses if the responsible ASC customer does not properly fund their
account. The aggregate maximum exposure under these arrangements is $258 million. The Company could
limit its exposure to this guarantee by suspending the payment of claims for ASC customers that have not
adequately funded the amount paid by the bank.

Indemnification Agreements — In connection with certain acquisitions and dispositions of assets and/or
businesses, the Company has incurred certain customary indemnification obligations to the applicable seller
or purchaser, respectively, In general, the Company has agreed to indemnify the other party for certain losses
relating to the assets or business that the Company purchased or sold. Certain portions of the Company’s
indemnification obligations are capped at the applicable purchase price, while other arrangements are not
subject to such a limit. As of December 31, 2003, the Company believes it has established reserves and /or
obtained insurance sufficient to cover such potential losses,

Guaranty Fund Assessments, Market Stabilization and Other Non-voluntary Risk Sharing
Pools .

Under guaranty fund laws existing in all states, insurers doing business in those states can be assessed (up to
prescribed limits) for certain obligations of insolvent insurance companies to policyholders and claimants.
Assessments generally are based on a formula relating to the Company’s premiums in the state compared to
the premiums of other insurers. While we historically have recovered more than half of guaranty fund
assessments through statutorily permitted premium tax offsets, significant increases in assessments could
jeopardize future recovery of these assessments. Some states have similar laws relating to HMOs. HMOs in
certain states in which the Company does business are subject to assessments, including market stabilization
and other risk sharing pools for which the Company is assessed charges based on incurred claims,
demographic membership mix and other factors. The Company establishes liabilities for these assessments
based on applicable laws and regulations. In certain states, the ultimate assessments to be paid by the
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Company are dependent upon the Company’s-experience relative to other entities subject to the assessment
and the ultimate liability is not known at the balance sheet date. While the ultimate amount of the assessment
is dependent upon the experience of all pool participants, the Company believes it has adequate reserves 1o

cover such assessments. There were no material charges to earnings for guaranty fund and other assessments
during 2003 or 2002. :

Litigation
Managed Care Class Action Litigation

Since 1999, the Company has been involved in purported class action lawsuits that are part of a wave of
similar actions targeting the health care payor industry and, in particular, the conduct of business by managed
care companies (the ‘“Managed Care Class Action Litigation™ ).

The Judicial Panel on Multi-district Litigation transferred all of the federal actions, including several actions
originally filed in state courts, to the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida (the
“Florida Federal Court™) for consolidated pretrial proceedings. The Florida Federal Court created a
separate track for all cases brought on behalf of health care providers (the ““Provider Cases’).

Thirteen Provider Cases were presided over by the Florida Federal Court, and a similar action is pending in
Louisiana state court, on behalf of purported classes of physicians. These Provider Cases alleged generally
that the Company and each of the other defendant managed care organizations employed coercive economic
power to force physicians to enter into economically unfavorable contracts, imposed unnecessary administra-
tive burdens on providers and improperly denied claims in whole or in part, and that the defendants did not
pay claims timely or did not pay claims at proper rates. These Provider Cases further charged that the
Company and the other defendant managed care organizations conspired and aided and abetted one another
in the alleged wrongdoing. These actions alleged violations of RICO, ERISA, state unfair trade statutes, state
consumer fraud statutes, state laws regarding the timely payment of claims, and various common law
doctrines and sought various forms of relief, including unspecified damages, treble damages, -punitive
damages and injunctive relief.

Effective May 21, 2003, the Company and representatives of over 900,000 physicians, state and other
medical societies entered into an agreement (the “‘Physician Settlement Agreement™) settling the lead
physician Provider Case pending in the Florida Federal Court. The Physician Settlement Agreement was
approved by the Florida Federal Court on November 6, 2003. The order of approval has been appealed to
the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit. The Company anticipates that, if the approval
order is not overturned on appeal, the Physician Settlement Agreement will resolve all pending Provider
Cases filed on behalf of physicians that did not opt out of the settlement, including the Louisiana state court
action. During the second quarter of 2003, the Company recorded an after-tax charge of $75 million
($115 million pretax) (included in other operating expenses) in connection with the Physician Settlement
Agreement, net of an estimated insurance recoverable of $72 million pretax.

A Provider Case brought on behalf of the American Dental Association makes similar allegations on behalf of
a purported class of dentists. Effective August 22, 2003 the Company and representatives of approximately
15,000 dentists entered into an agreement (the ““Dentist Settlement Agreement’”) settling the dentist action.
The Dentist Settlement Agreement is subject to approval by the Florida Federal Court.

Three Provider Cases filed in May and June, 2003 on behalf of purported classes of chiropractors and/or all
non-physician health care providers also make factual and legal allegations similar to those contained in the
other Provider Cases. These Provider Cases have been transferred to the Florida Federal Court for
consolidated pretrial proceedings. The Company intends to defend each of these new Provider Cases
vigorously.

In addition, a complaint was filed in the Superior Court of the State of California, County of San Diego (the
““California Superior Court””) on November 5, 1999 by Linda Ross and The Stephen Andrew Olsen
Coalition for Patients Rights, purportedly on behalf of the general public of the State of California (the ““Ross
Complaint”). The Ross Complaint, as amended, sought injunctive relief against Aetna’s predecessor (former
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Aetna), Aetna, Aetna Health of éalifornia Inc. and a&ditiona} unnamed ‘““‘John Doe”” defendants for alleged
violations of California Business and Professions Code Sections 17200 and 17500. The Ross Complaint
alleged that defendants were liable for alleged misrepresentations and omissions relating to advertising,
marketing and member materials directed to the Company’s HMO members and the general public and for
alleged unfair practices relating to contracting of doctors. The Company settled this-action on October 30,
2003, and the case has been dismissed. Payments made in connection with the Ross settlement were not
material, and the Ross settlement did not result in material changes to the Company’s business practices.

Securities Class Action Litigation

Laborers Tri-County Pension Fund, Goldplate Investment Partners Lid. and Sheila Shafran filed a
consolidated and amended purported class action complaint {““Securities Complaint’) on June 7, 2002 in
the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York (the “New York Federal Court’ ). The
Securities Complaint supplanted several complaints, filed beginning November 6, 2001, which have been
voluntarily dismissed or consolidated. Plaintiffs contend that the Company and two of its current or former
officers and directors, William H. Donaldson and John W. Rowe, M.D., violated federal securities laws.
Plaintiffs allege misrepresentations and omissions regarding, among other things, the Company’s ability to
manage and control medical costs and the appropriate reserve for medical costs as of December 31, 2000,
for which they seek unspecified damages, among other remedies. On October 15, 2002, the New York
Federal Court heard argument on defendants’ motion to dismiss the Securities Complaint. Defendants intend
to continue vigorously defending this action, which is in’its preliminary stages.

The Company is unable to predict at this time the ultimate outcome of the Managed Care Class Action
Litigation or Securities Class Action Litigation. It is reasonably possible that their outcome, including any
negotiated resolution, could be material to the Company. However, as noted above, if the Florida Federal
Court’s approval of the Physician Setilement is ultimately affirmed, the Company anticipates that the
Physician Settlement Agreement would result in the conclusion of substantially all pending Provider Cases
filed on behalf of physicians.

Other Litigation and Regulatory Proceedings

The Company is involved in numerous other lawsuits arising, for the most part, in the ordinary course of its
business operations, including employment litigation and claims of bad faith, medical malpractice, non-
compliance with state regulatory regimes, marketing misconduct, failure to timely pay medical claims,
investing activities, intellectual property and other litigation in its health care and group businesses. Some of
these other lawsuits are purported to be class actions.

In addition, the Company’s current and past business practices are subject to review by various state
insurance and health care regulatory authorities and other state and federal authorities. There continues to be
heightened review by these authorities of the managed health care indusiry’s business practices, including
utilization management, delegated arrangements and claim payment practices. As a leading national managed
care organization, the Company regularly is the subject of such reviews. These reviews may result in changes
to or clarifications of the Company’s business practices, and may result in fines, penalties or other sanctions.

While the ultimate outcome of this other litigation and these regulatory proceedings cannot be determined at
this time, after consideration of the defenses available to the Company, applicable insurance coverage and
any related reserves established, they are not expected to result in liability for amounts material to the
financial condition of the Company, although they may adversely affect results of operations in future periods.

21. Discontinued Operations

As discussed in Note 13, in 2002 the Company released $50 million of federal income tax reserves resulting
from the resolution of the Service audit issues that related to the property and casualty insurance business,
which was sold in 1996, of former Aetna.
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On December 13, 2000, former Aetna sold its ﬁnanc.ial services and inter;ational businesses. In December
2000, the Company established a reserve for costs directly associated with that sale and included such costs
in the results of discontinued operations for 2000. During the fou_fth quarter of 2001, the Company reduced
the reserve for such costs by approximately $11 million after tax, which management determined were no
longer necessary.
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MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management is responsible for the financial statements of Aetna Inc., which have been prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The financial
statements are the product of a number of processes that include the gathering of financial data developed
from the records of the Company’s day-to-day business transactions. Informed judgments and estimates are
used for those transactions not yet complete or for which the ultimate effects cannot be measured precisely.
The Company emphasizes the selection and training of personnel who are qualified to perform these
functions. In addition, Company personnel are subject to rigorous standards of ethical conduct that are widely
communicated throughout the organization.

The Company’s internal controls are designed to reasonably assure that Company assets are safeguarded
from unauthorized use or disposition and that Company transactions are authorized, executed and recorded
properly. Company personnel maintain and monitor these internal controls on an ongoing basis. In addition,
the Company’s internal auditors review and report upon the functioning of these controls with the right of full
access to all Company personnel.

The Company engages KPMG LLP as independent auditors to audit its financial statements and express their
opinion thereon. Their audits include reviews and tests of the Company’s internal controls to the extent they
believe necessary to determine and conduct the audit procedures that support their opinion. Members of that
firm also have the right of full access to each member of management in conducting their audits. The report
of KPMG LLP appears below.

The Company’s Board of Directors has an Audit Committee composed solely of independent directors. The
Committee meets regularly with management, the internal auditors and KPMG LLP to oversee and monitor
the work of each and to inquire of each as to their assessment of the performance of the others in their work
relating to the Company’s financial statements. Both the independent and internal auditors have, at all times,
the right of full access to the Audit Committee, without management present, to discuss any matter they
believe should be brought to the attention of the Committee.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The Shareholders and Board of Directors
Aetna Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Aetna Inc. and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ equity and
cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2003. These consolidated
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Aetna Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the results of
their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31,
2003, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

KPMe LLP

Hartford, Connecticut
February 11, 2004
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QUARTERLY DATA (UNAUDITED)

A

2003 (Millions, except per common share data) First Second (1) Third Fourth
Total revenue $ 4,466.5  $4,466.0  $4,469.1  $4,574.8
Income from continuing operations before income taxes $ 5120 % 2234 8 3348 § 3714
Income taxes : . 182.0 85.0 118.9 121.9
Net income . : ' - 7§ .330.0 % 1384 § 2159 § 2495
Per common share results: (2) . L
Net income - : ' ' ’
Basic ‘ " 8 219-. ¢ 9 - % 141 & 163
Diluted 2.12 .87 1.35 1.56
Common stock data: _ o ‘
Dividends declared ‘ $ — & — % 04 8 —
Common stock prices, high o ‘ 49.64 64.42 68.49 67.94
Common stock prices, low ' : ' 40.82 47.03 » 52,70 55.99

(1) Second quarter in‘c.ludes a $75 million after-tax charge related to the Physician Class Action
Settlement (refer to Note 20).

(2) Calculation of the earnings per share is based on weighted average shares outstanding during each
" quarter and, accordingly, the sum may not equal the total for the year. - '

2062_ {Millions, except per common share data) First(i) Second (2) ‘ Third(3)  Fourth(4)
Total revenue . ‘ 8 5,264.7 §5,064.2 84,832.1 $4,717.7
Income from continuing operations before income taxes % 97.7 $ 1596 % 1435 § 144.0
Income taxes 9.7 51.4 44.7 45.8
Income from continuing operations 88.0 108.2 98.8 98.2
Income from discontinued operations 50.0 — — —
Cumulative effect adjustment, net of tax (2,965.7) — — —
Net income (loss) - $(2,827.7) % 1082 $ 988 & 982

Per common share resulis: (5)
Net income (loss)

Basic $ (19.50) § 73 $ 66 $ .65

Diluted (19.00) .70 .64 .63
Common stock data:

Dividends declared 8 — $ — g 04 8 —

Common stock prices, high 38.82 51.76 47.04 43.97

Common stock prices, low 30.76 38.66 35.81 31.69

(1) First quarter includes a release of $19.8 million of state income taxes related reserves.

(2) Second quarter includes an after-tax severance and facilities charge of $17.5 million {$27.0 million
pretax) and a $5.4 million after tax benefit ($8.3 million pretax) from a reduction of the reserve for
loss on discontinued products.

(3) Third quarter includes an after-tax severance and facilities charge of $57.9 million ($89.0 million
pretax) (refer to Note 11).

(4) Fourth quarter includes an afier-tax severance and facilities charge of $29.2 million ($45.0 million
pretax) (refer to Note 11).

(5) Calculation of the earnings per share is based on weighted average shares outstanding during each
quarter and, accordingly, the sum may not equal the total for the year.
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION | o
CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS

151 Farmington Avenue
Hartford, CT 06156
860-273-0123

ANNUAL MEETING
The annual meeting of shareholders of Aetna Inc. will be held on Friday, April 30, 2004 at 9:30.a.m. at the
company’s headquarters in Hartford, Conn. <

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING
~ Aetna’s common shares are listed on the New York Stock Exchange. The NYSE symbol for the common
shares is AET. As of January 31, 2004, there were 13, 577 record holders of Aetna’s common shares.

WEB SITE ACCESS.TO AETNA’ S PERIODIC AND CURRENT REPORTS AND CORPORATE GOVERN-
ANCE MATERIALS

Aetna makes available free of charge through its Web site at http: / /www.aetna.com its Annual Repdrt on
Form 10-K, Formg 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and all amendments to those reports as soon as
reasonably practicable after Aetna electronically files or furnishes such material with the Securities and
Exchange Commission. Aetna also makes available free of charge through its Web site the company’s Annual

Report, Financial Report and Proxy Statement. Shareholders may request printed copies of these reports free
of charge by calling 1-800-237-4273.

Aetna’s report to the Securities and Exchange Commission on Form 10-K provides additional details about
the company’s business, as well as other financial information not included in this Annual Report. To
receive a copy of the Annual Report on Form 10-K w1thout charge, please fol]ow the above
instructions. '

Also available on Aetna’s Web site at http: / /www.aetna.com are the following Aetna corporate gévemanée
materials: Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws; Code of Conduct for Directors, officers and employees
(and information regarding any amendments or waivers relating to Aétna’s Directors, executive officers and
principal financial and accounting officers or‘persons performing similar functions ) ; Independence Standards
for Directors; Corporate Governance Guidelines; and Charters for the Committees of the Board of Directors
(Audit Committee, Committee on Compensation and Organization, Executive Committee, Investment and
Finance Committee, Medical Affairs Committee, and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee ).
These materials also are available in print to shareholders free of charge by calling 1-800-237-4273.

Section 16 reports are filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission by Aetna’s Directors and those
officers subject to Section 16 to reflect a change in their beneficial ownership of Aetna’s securitiés and are
available through Aetna’s Web site at http: / /www.aetna.com.

The Audit Committee can be confidentially contacted by those wishing to raise concérns or complaints about
the company’s accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing- matters by calling® AlertLiné®, an
independent toll-free service, at 1-888-891-8910 (available seven days a week, 24 hours a day), or by
writing to: Corporate Comphance, P 0. Box 370205, West “Hartford, CT 06137-0205,

Anyone w1shmg to make their concerns known to Aetna $ nonmanagement Dlrectors or to send a
communication to the entire Board may contact the Aetna Director who presides over both the nonmanage-
ment Directors’ and the independent Directors’ sessions (currently Michael H. Jordan) by writing to
Mr. Jordan at P.O. Box 370205, West Hartford, CT 06137-0205. All communications will be kept
confidential and forwarded directly to the Presiding Director or Board, as applicable. To contact Aetna’s
management Directors, you may write to Dr. Rowe at Aetna Inc., 151 Farmington Avenue,  Hartford,

CT 06156.
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Aetna mails quarterly financial results only to those shareholders who request copies. Shareholders may call
1-800-237-4273 to listen to the company’s quarterly earnings release and dividend information, and to
request faxed or mailed copies of the quarterly results. '

INVESTOR RELATIONS
Securities analysts and institutional investors should contact:

David W. Entrekin, Vice President
Phone: 860-273-7830

Fax: 860-273-3971

E-mail address: EntrekinD(@aetna.com

SHAREHOLDER SERVICES ‘

EquiServe Trust Company, N.A. maintains a telephone response center to service reg15tered shareholder
accounts. Registered owners may contact the center to inquire about replacement dividend checks, address
changes, stock transfers and other account matters.

EquiServe Trust Company, N A,
P.G. Box 43069

Providence, R1.02940-3069
1-800-446-2617"

For direct deposit of dividends, registered shareholders may call EquiServe at 1-800-870-2340.

Registered shareholders with e-mail addresses can send account inquiries electronically to EquiServe at
http: / /www.equiserve. com. '

Additionally, registered shareholders now have available online access to their accounts through the Internet
at, EquiServe’s Web site at http / /www equlserve com.

DLrectSERVILE Investment Program :

Current shareholders and new investors can purchase common shares of Aetna and reinvest cash dmdends
through EquiServe Trust Company, N.A. All inquiries for materials or information about this program should
be directed to EquiServe at 1-800-446-2617.

Other Shareholder Inquiries
Office of the Corporate Secretary
Aetna Inc.

151 Farmington Avenue, RC4A
Hartford, CT 06156-3215
860-273-3945

AETNA STOCK OPTION PARTICIPANTS

AETNA EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN PARTICIPANTS

Employees with outstanding stock options should address all questions to UBS Financial Services, Inc.
(UBS) regarding their accounts, outstanding options or shares received through option exercises. Employees
participating in the Employee Stock Purchase Plan also should contact UBS with questions on their accounts.

UBS Financial Services, Inc. :
Corporate- Employee Financial Services
300 Lighting Way, 6th Floor
Secaucus, NJ 07094-3672
1-888-793-7631 or 1-800-238-6247

Online Access
http: / /www.ubs.com /cefs /aet




